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Donner Summit, 1929

Nathan Clark remembered his first “winter snow wilderness”1 adventure 
vividly. In 1929, he and his older brother Lewis, both members and future 
presidents of the Sierra Club, got on board the overnight train from Oakland 
and arrived at Donner Summit in the middle of a blizzard the next morning. 
They loaded their gear onto a toboggan and set out in search of the telephone 
company cabin they had made arrangements to stay at. They had never been 
on skis before. Nathan recalled:

“We didn’t know where we were; we didn’t know where anything was; 
it was terribly cold; and the wind was blowing, and the snow was fly-
ing. We bravely took the toboggan off the train and lowered it down 
onto the tracks, and the train went away. Then we pulled it along the 
ties inside the snow shed for quite a long way. We struggled thru deep 
snow and reached a well-made little lodge and knocked on the door. 
A rather stern and grumpy man opened it and said we couldn’t stay 
there—it was private. He let us in for a while, and we thawed out and 

Constructing Back Country Wilderness 
The Sierra Club and the Clair Tappaan  

Lodge at Donner Summit

Kimberly J. Roberts 
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behaved very respectfully… After a while we left this lodge, put on 
our skis, and started out eastward in search of the telephone cabin. We 
returned to the toboggan, which I think we’d left near the snow sheds, 
and went along the tracks. We found a cabin—roofed but too open—it 
was no good. It had a stove and wood, but one side was missing, and 
we left. We found another building, which was not the telephone cabin, 
but it was at least complete. We were too cold and lost to go farther, so 
we dug down thru the snow, went in, removed the tin can from the top 
of the chimney, struggled with the toboggan, fixed our meals, spent a 
couple of nights there, and did so-called skiing during the day. This was 
Washington’s Birthday weekend, 1929—Friday, Saturday and Sunday. 
There were no developments at Norden at all. Just the railroad station.”2

Clearly, despite Nathan’s insistence that the area was undeveloped wilder-
ness, they were surrounded by infrastructure. His account mentions multiple 
buildings, including train stations, snow sheds, and three cabins not including 
the one they were actually looking for. They were not far from Highway 40, by 
then a well-traveled road even in winter. This is not to downplay the danger 
they faced; they were clearly isolated and at the mercy of the elements. Realizing 
just how exposed and vulnerable they were as they took those first tentative 
steps into the storm must have triggered an awareness of the vastness of their 
surroundings and their lack of control over the environment. This sensation 
is the core of the word “wilderness” itself. Derived from the Teutonic/ Norse 
root word “will,” wilderness literally means willful and uncontrollable. No-
tions of wilderness have always referred more to this idea than to a specific 
material object or place.3 The unfamiliar and dangerous terrain, the hazardous 
conditions, and the difficulties finding shelter certainly comprise a wilderness 
experience. Safe, mediated access to our public lands is something we take 
for granted today, not realizing it isn’t natural and that a lack of specialized 
infrastructure and amenities create actual barriers to experiencing the back-
country. Even a simple trail makes all the difference in the world to traversing 
the landscape, offering a sense of freedom within a carefully bounded security 
and turning abstract “space” into a more intimate and understandable “place,” 
to use the words of Yi-Fu Tuan in Space and Place: the Perspective of Experience. 
Open space, he explains, “has no trodden paths and signposts. It has no fixed 
pattern of established human meaning; it is like a blank sheet on which mean-
ing may be imposed.”4 To create accessible wilderness areas is to impose a set 
of values on land, creating a specific context and meaning through which the 
land is experienced. Backcountry recreational areas are carefully designed to 
create an experience of wildness and the Sierra Club was one of many groups 
actively engaged in constructing such places. Ultimately, the perceived com-
mercialization of this landscape was one of the factors that led the Sierra Club 
down the path towards political activism. 
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The Clair Tappaan Lodge, built by the club up at Donner Summit in the 
1930s and still owned and operated by them, was one of their major projects. 
The construction and operation of this lodge parallels larger developments 
within the club over the course of the twentieth century as demand for access 
to recreational backcountry shifted to concern for wilderness preservation. This 
shift occurred between the 1920s and the 1960s, roughly the time between John 
Muir’s leadership and the emergence of the club as a major voice in the envi-
ronmental movement. During roughly the first half of the twentieth century, 
the Sierra Club functioned more as a social club using landscape as a hub for 
recreational activity than a political club using notions of landscape to campaign 
for environmental causes. Conservation at this time was a comparatively har-
monious national movement and public lands were not yet a contested political 
landscape. Conservation groups across the country were working in tandem 
with Federal agencies to set public land aside from commercial use and develop 
it instead as recreational space. 

This recreational landscape has been ignored or glossed over by most en-
vironmental historians, who have focused more on Muir’s preservation efforts 
such as the Sierra Club’s attempt to thwart the construction of the Hetch Hetchy 
dam. In True Gardens of the Gods, Ian Tyrrell argues that this has resulted in an 
exaggerated understanding of Muir’s environmental legacy, pointing out that 
the Sierra Club functioned mainly as a hiking club and that most Sierra Club 
members were not radical preservationists but urbanites who “valued the high 
country of the Sierra as a recreational zone that complemented their economic 
activity.”5 Educated and progressive, they were more comfortable with what 
Tyrrell describes as the garden ideal, a less ardent form of the wilderness ethic 
than what Muir preached. As such, they saw nothing inherently contradictory 
in the ideal of a seemingly pristine wilderness, safe from destruction and yet 
easily available via roads and trails. Tyrrell believes that the protest of Hetch 
Hetchy was the exception for the Sierra Club, not the rule. Susan R. Schrepfer 
seconds this when she examines the relationship between the Forest Service 
and the Sierra Club, writing that through the first half of the twentieth century 
“citizen activism was complementary, rather than an antagonistic, development 
in the evolution of the administrative state”6 Activism at this time referred to 
involvement, not protest; wilderness destruction was not yet a major issue and 
citizens were active participants in the creation of recreational areas. This is why 
the Sierra Club wanted to build a ski lodge. 

By 1930, the area around Donner Summit was largely logged out and aban-
doned by the timber companies who had operated there for decades. Realizing 
that “scenic beauty was a commodity like other natural resources,”7 the Forest 
Service was actively seeking out new ways to utilize large tracts of land with 
little remaining commercial value. By the 1920s, a new outdoor culture was on 
the rise, spurred by the growing popularity of automobiles and the easy mobil-
ity they promised. The impact of the automobile cannot be overstated: for the 



7Constructing Back Country Wilderness

first time in history people could get out and explore, no longer hampered by 
the limits of railroad tracks and the slow plod of horses. According to Gerald 
W. Williams, this was a time of increasing recreational use of public lands as 
people began to explore the roads and trails left by the lumber industry. Resorts 
and motels sprang up across the countryside and recreational facilities began to 
operate in the national forests with the construction of trails and campgrounds 
and summer homes available for lease. The New Deal provided the crucial link 
between the growing interest in outdoor recreation and the efforts of the For-
est Service to reinvent the landscape. Implemented in 1933, it coincided with a 
report issued by the Forest Service titled A National Plan for American Forestry, 
which listed hundreds of projects in need of money and people to “improve 
the recreational potential and management of the national forests”8 by build-
ing trails, trail facilities, shelters, campgrounds, scenic vistas, roads, guard and 
ranger stations, lookouts, and telephone lines. Government aid provided both 
the financial backing and the labor necessary to implement this construction 
work. The Forest Service then, by constructing trails and campgrounds, was 
seeking new ways to access the landscape but also to transform it and make it 
something modern. 

The rise of automobile culture changed not only the physical layout of the 
land, but generated novel ways of engaging it. New art forms emerged out 
of new visual perceptions. Gone were the compositionally balanced pastoral 
panoramas of the nineteenth century made famous by train travel that Douglas 
R. Nickel referred to as “railroad vision,” a passive view of the distant horizon 
as seen from inside the passenger car.9 According to John Ott, California led the 
way in marketing a culture specific to the traveler through the publication of 
magazines such as the Auto Club of Southern California’s Touring Topics, which 
commissioned art from a wide variety of California artists. The result was a 
sleeker, more minimalistic image frequently showcasing an off-center stretch 
of highway which drew the viewer into a landscape offering the promise of 
renewal and easy access along with a sense of anticipation, resulting in a kind 
of selling of California landscapes to a new kind of consumer, one interested 
in buying things that promised self-transformation.

This notion of self-transformation was the impetus that propelled outdoor 
recreation into prominence. When the Forest Service began to explore recre-
ational development in the 1920s, they turned to the Sierra Club, arranging 
meetings between the two groups and using the Sierra Club as a means to 
advocate Forest Service conservation issues to the public. The club was among 
the leading public voices in preservation efforts, the legacy of John Muir who 
had spoken so eloquently about the spiritual and moral benefits of experiencing 
nature first hand. The desire for these kinds of experiences lies at the heart of 
the emergence of outdoor recreation; people equated recreation with spiritual 
growth, character formation, and patriotism. As Edward Taylor points out in 
Pilgrims of the Vertical: Yosemite Rock Climbers and Nature at Risk, they sought out 
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physical hardship in an effort to build leadership skills and instill a sense of civic 
responsibility, convinced that strenuous outdoor activities such as rock climbing 
were tantamount to this kind of character development. Clifford Putney shows 
how the muscular Christianity of the Victorian age laid the foundation for the 
more secular athletic morality of the 1920s. Roderick Nash fleshes out the rela-
tionship of the outdoors to patriotism and civic pride when he points out that 
the program for President Coolidge’s 1924 Conference on Outdoor Recreation 
included a photograph of people camping with the caption “It is the American 
Heritage.”10 Bernard Mergen analyses how the Forest Service was, by 1930, ad-
dressing not only the recreational but the “inspirational and educational” uses 
of the forest.”11 This reveals the many layers of cultural significance embedded 
in the notion of outdoor activities and helps understand the significance of the 
recreational landscapes of the 1930s.

Through their partnership with the Forest Service, the Sierra Club gained 
unparalleled access to the backcountry, helping to design and construct a land-
scape that resonated with these values. This was a time of tremendous growth for 
the club; they were, as Nathan Clark remembered, a “large reputable organiza-
tion that the U.S. Forest Service would be willing to authorize to build ski huts 
which the young people sought.”12 This new winter landscape owed much of 
its existence to the invention of the snowplow, which made year round mobility 
and access possible. Like the automobile, the impact of the snow plow cannot be 
overstated. According to Bernard Mergen, the very idea of winter underwent a 
drastic transformation as “technology restructured human ecological relations 
and society’s dialogue with the natural world.”13 As snow removal became a 
mechanized process, creating what he calls a de-seasoned city, the growing 
popularity of the automobile created a desire for a year round mobility that had 
been previously inconceivable. At this time, the Forest Service began leasing 
lands for private development and became involved with efforts to create and 
develop ski areas. Using the Civilian Conservation Corps to build and clear 
trails, snow, once “refuse to be disposed of in the industrial landscape”14 was 
transformed into a resource.

In 1931, the newly formed Auburn Ski Club convinced the California legis-
lature to appropriate funds to plow Highway 40. According to Margie Powell in 
Donner Summit: a Brief History, the 1932 Winter Olympics at Lake Placid ignited 
a public passion for skiing and Donner Summit became a winter recreation 
destination. Organized ski tours to the area commenced with the “Snowball 
Special,” a train from San Francisco to Truckee with a stop at Soda Springs. The 
railroad built a ski hut that included lockers, changing rooms, and a snack bar. 
Club president Joel Hildebrand wrote that “the Sierra Club is in the process 
of making a number of notable discoveries: that its beloved Sierra is the Sierra 
Nevada, or snowy range, and must be sought by devoted pilgrims not only in 
July, but also in January, to be known in the fullness of its glory.”15 
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Donner Summit, 1934 

Unfazed by the hardships they encountered on their first trip, Sierra Club 
members continued to make the trip from the Bay Area to ski at Donner Sum-
mit. Now well prepared, they carried the latest cold weather gear, skiing and 
packing equipment, and knew what lodging accommodations to make. They 
were no longer wandering lost along the railroad tracks; however, they were 
still unmoored in a seeming wilderness. According to one Sierra Club member, 
they were “homeless wanderers, sponging on the hospitable Auburn Ski Club, 
renting Boy Scout camps, or sleeping like tramps in the abandoned railroad-
station at Soda Springs.”16 The expense and difficulties of these arrangements 
influenced their decision to pursue the building of their own ski lodge. 

On January 26, 1934, 26 people rented a bus for three days of skiing at Don-
ner Summit. They left the Bay Area on Friday at 5:45 pm and arrived at Soda 
Springs at 12:10 am.17 According to Joel Hildebrand and Lewis Clark, who jotted 
down their departure and arrival times and listed the names of the people on 
the bus, the idea of a ski hut was born on the return trip. Among these people 
was an architect named Walter Ratcliff who offered his services in the design 
and building of the lodge, making the notion a realistic possibility.18 The very 
next month, the Snow Sports Committee of the Sierra Club met and “officially 
launched the hut idea.”19 Shortly thereafter, the club obtained a property lease 
through the Forest Service and began collecting funds for the building of a 
ski lodge on that property to be named in memorial of former club president, 
Judge Clair S. Tappaan. 

Lewis Clark kept a pocket diary full of notes on the construction of the 
Clair Tappaan Lodge. What emerges from his scribbles is the scope of alterna-
tions the Sierra Club made to the landscape and the amount of physical labor 
and infrastructure necessary to create a natural appearing back-country skiing 
environment. This was a massive construction project involving miles of trails 
and ski runs in addition the lodge itself. According to this diary, the preliminary 
site survey was the weekend of April 21-22, 1934, when club members met 
with a Forest Service Ranger and surveyed the plot. They cut trees. It rained. 
Construction began the weekend of May 19-20 when five men arrived with a 
tool box consisting of 6 shovels, 3 axes, 2 picks, 2 mauls, a two-man tree saw 
and a hammer. Lewis’s first summary of work began with the word “build.” 
Realizing perhaps that he was already ahead of himself, he crossed that out and 
wrote this plan instead: “Layout, clear, excavate road…. Build log bridge over 
stream, Corduroy across swamp, Drain Swamps, Fell a number of trees dead 
& dying around Site, Burn cuttings, Discuss site layout, Fight Mosquitoes.”20

Not only did they have to build their own shelter; they needed to build 
their own ski runs. Far from simple paths meandering through the trees along 
the mountains, constructing the ski trails became a serious logging operation 
as well. One particularly interesting sequence of events occurs in fall of 1935:
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Sept 14-15: …selected trees to be cut to open up present ski trail and 
develop new one from top of knoll to Diddle Slope including new cross-
ing of creek…felled over 3 dozen trees… hauled down logs from ski 
trail—lower end cleaned up. Much brush burned (i.e. tree leaves) Sun 
pm, 3 men busy drowning fires.

Sept 21-22: Visited by Cunningham and Hodgson, forest rangers at Big 
Bend who had forest fire report. Satisfied with our handling. Advised 
us to get burning permit. 

Sept 28-29: Got burning permit from Ranger Hodgson.21

What these cryptic, understated remarks mean is that after downing over 
three dozen trees, the Sierra Club decided to burn the refuse without a permit 
and started a forest fire in the process. It clearly shows the Sierra Club was en-
gaged as developers of wilderness rather than preservationists. Understanding 
the reason behind this—namely the need for access—breaks down the dichot-
omy between the concepts of development and preservation, inferring instead 
that the wilderness ideal is dependent on a specific kind of development. It also 
shows very clearly to what lengths this was a manufactured landscape, albeit 
one that functions scenically and symbolically as wild, its very construction 
hidden by its natural appearance.  In October of 1936, they felled over 300 trees 
to open a schuss run from the beacon on top of Signal Hill. They then dragged 
the trees into the creek to mat the snow. “Fine run,” wrote Lewis.22 

The final work entries in Lewis Clark’s diary return to the beginning: in 1937 
they began requisitioning supplies, tools, and lumber to start more construction 
in the form of the Peter Grub ski hut, a small back country shelter along the ski 
trail near Castle Peak for longer, overnight ski trips. Ultimately four more huts 
for overnight use were built, stretching south and east towards Squaw Valley. 
To accomplish this, work parties arrived at the lodge every weekend during 
the summer months, volunteering their labor, socializing, and rock climbing. 
For several decades, the club continued to acquire more properties at Donner 
Summit, including the Norden store and part of the town of Norden itself. 
Buildings and lands under jurisdiction of the Lodge Committee included the 
Clair Tappaan Lodge, the Hutchinson Lodge, all the ski huts and the Sierra Club 
Ski Lands, as well as properties at Flora and Azalea Lakes, the tow and spring 
property, the water development system, and the Signal Hill Warming Hut and 
Tow House. Born of an original need for overnight shelter, the bunkhouse they 
built expanded into a development with all the amenities of a resort. 
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Donner Summit, Post World War II

This landscape began to shift with the booming post World War II economy. 
During the Great Depression when they began their treks to Donner Summit, 
Sierra Club members had pooled their resources, sharing not only lodging but 
equipment and rides. The post war landscape was increasingly commercial, 
much more crowded, and fostered an environment of individual skill and ac-
complishment.23 At first the club embraced a new role in this new landscape. In 
an article he wrote for the Sierra Club Bulletin titled “Winter Sports Committee: A 
Progress Report,” Lewis Clark outlined club responsibilities, creating a code that 
went beyond the physical nature of the activities themselves. Still envisioning a 
cooperative and harmonious environment, he advocated for active participation 
with the various agencies and outfits operating in the ski areas, calling on club 
skiers to take a leadership role in area planning as advisors and educators.24  
Involvement in rescue and safety was prominent among his priorities. Sierra 
Club skiers had developed a set of standards and graded one another through a 
series of increasingly difficult skill tests, awarding ski badges that corresponded 
to the competence of the skier. They worked and trained with other agencies, 
such as the National Ski Patrol, together inventing the techniques that remain 
standard procedure in search and rescue operations. This indicates that Sierra 
Club members, in keeping with the sense of civic responsibility they had honed 
in the 1920s, were still participating in what they deemed the broader better-
ment of both landscape and society through physical activities. 

However, expansion of commercial runs and overcrowding gradually 
undermined both the sense of camaraderie and the very landscape itself. New 
developments at Donner Ski Ranch, now covering most of Signal Hill, included 
new ski lifts running parallel to the Sierra Club rope tow. This impeded not only 
physically on the landscape they had created, but also psychically intruded on 
their symbolic landscape. New highway construction created right-of-way issues 
and the network of back country trails was broken up, crisscrossed by the new 
freeway and numerous side roads in addition to private housing. Ultimately one 
of the overnight huts had to be relocated due to development. Crowding also 
forced the breakdown of the communal culture that had existed between the 
ski clubs. In 1946 the Sierra Club announced that they owned the water rights 
to the spring on the Clair Tappaan property. Previously they had shared this 
water with two other ski clubs but were now planning further development 
of the existing springs exclusively for the use of the Clair Tappaan Lodge. The 
spring property was to be fenced with barbed wires and signs. A once small, 
private bunkhouse had been transformed into an increasingly commercial resort 
with very little sense of wilderness attached. 

In 1949, the Clair Tappaan Lodge was condemned by the state of California 
due to fire code violations, including unsafe stairways which could hamper 
evacuations. Major reconstruction at the lodge was needed to get it up to code. 



12 Kimberly J. Roberts

This was coupled with an alarming financial report: the lodge was now officially 
operating at a loss due to competition from other commercial ventures with 
better ski lifts. The lodge committee met to review their options, discussing 
the possibility of raising their rates or closing down in the summer. They pro-
posed the sale of 72 silver-tip fir trees to raise the necessary funds to refurbish 
the building and make it possible to move the ski tow and have a larger skiing 
area as well, indicating a continued focus on recreational and structural issues; 
however, a much larger question emerged as club members began to reevaluate 
their presence at Donner Summit and to question whether the lodge and ski 
operation even fit into the values the Sierra Club represented. 

In 1951, the lodge committee issued a report reviewing the history of their 
work at the summit, stating “the success of subsequent skiing enterprises in the 
area, affording a complete variety of accommodations, attests to the original 
wisdom and success of the original undertaking. However, the emphasis on 
skiing in the area has undergone an almost complete change from the original 
predominance of ski-touring to skiing on packed slopes.”25 Cross country and 
downhill skiing were now, for the first time, two distinctly different styles of 
skiing and two very divergent interactions with the landscape. Ski touring had 
dominated in the early days; however, by the 1950s, downhill skiing had taken 
over the slopes. The reliance on chair lifts and groomed, hard packed runs had 
benefited the commercial outfits at the expense of the Sierra Club and its vi-
sion of an accessible, safely traversed backcountry wilderness. Realizing that 
the ground had literally shifted beneath their feet and aware of the growing 
contradiction between access and development, club members no longer felt 
comfortable with their role as developers and began to resist the commercializa-
tion that came with downhill skiing. They complained that no touring program 
existed anymore and that evenings at the Clair Tappaan Lodge no longer had a 
“congenial club-like atmosphere.”26  They pointed out that the lodge was now 
used mainly by people using lifts and was simply an overnight accommoda-
tion, a “sizable business venture with little expression of Sierra Club values,” 
and accused club leadership of being more concerned with “insuring adequate 
patronage rather than sponsoring activities in keeping with the purposes of the 
Sierra Club.”27 One member wrote a letter to the club stating that “I believe it 
would be more akin to the Sierra Club’s policy of protecting wilderness areas 
to induce touring in winter, and thereby help stem the growing commercialism 
in the ski areas.”28 

Written in 1952, this reveals a profound shift in how club members were 
interacting both with their landscape and the sport of skiing itself. Once simply 
a means of having fun and engaging nature, skiing was now bifurcated into 
two diametrical opposites: downhill skiing, a commercialized activity devoid 
of spiritual value, whose growth was suddenly destructive; and cross country, 
an activity which taught the values fundamental to protecting wilderness. In 
choosing cross country skiing and turning their backs on downhill, the mean-
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ing behind Sierra Club activities also began to shift, transforming from a focus 
on recreation to preservation, from engaging in activity to a quietly emerg-
ing activism. The lodge committee issued an explicit statement arguing that 
the purpose of the Clair Tappaan Lodge and the Sierra Club lands at Donner 
Summit were different from the other resorts in the area: “It is not operated as 
a cheap place to go skiing; rather to introduce new members to the purposes 
of the club as a whole.”29 This shows the Sierra Club taking a more political, 
less commercial stand and beginning to speak out against development rather 
than participating in it. 

This extent of this shift can be traced through the articles written by club 
members in their many newsletters and magazines. In 1958, the Norden Newslet-
ter bluntly denounced the current state of skiing, writing that “it seems like all 
you read about these days is speed…the race against time…competition,” 30 a 
far cry from the group treks and cooperation the club championed. A year later, 
it triumphantly reported that the “lack of good skiing surface on the downhill 
runs forces people to look to other oft-forgotten ways of enjoying one’s self in 
the snow country, and we think this is a good thing. Some tried touring for 
the first time and found that breaking new trail in untouched powder is an 
exhilarating experience.”31 This issue also contained a conversation with Lewis 
Clark, then nearing 60 years old, bringing the readers up to date on the Club’s 
“hard fought battles against ‘progress’…i.e. the destruction of our vanishing 
wilderness.” 32 This is an increasing theme among the Sierra Club skiers at this 
time. Once the vanguard of recreational development, they were dedicating 
more and more time to stopping it.

They were, however, still acquiring property and expanding. Architect 
and club member George Homsey was brought in to renovate the Clair Tap-
paan Lodge, working from 1952 to 1960 on a number of projects ranging from 
remodeling the living room to replacing the old rope-tow with a warming hut. 
In 1956, the Hutchinson Lodge, which stood next door to the Clair Tappaan, 
was deeded over to the Sierra Club. Ironically, this was the very place Lewis 
and Nathan Clark had met the “stern and grumpy man” who had allowed them 
to thaw out on their ski venture nearly thirty years prior, himself a prominent 
Sierra Club member. Rather than simply adding to the available room count, 
the lodge committee recommended operating the new facility “as a quiet retreat 
for any of those in the Sierra Club who will appreciate and utilize the relative 
solitude, both indoors and outdoors, in the pursuit of enjoyment of our natural 
scene, under the management of the Clair Tappaan Lodge” and to “refrain from 
any drastic changes in the physical set-up, attempting to maintain the lodge 
and grounds as the perfect retreat that it has been for the last thirty years.”33 
This included banning phonographs and radios as unnatural. This acquisition 
marks a complete shift in direction for the club. Up through World War II, the 
club had always prided itself as being the unquestioned leader in outdoor and 
recreational lifestyles, creating skiing techniques and gear, helping found search 
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and rescue, as well as leading in community outreach and educational efforts. 
Now the club seemed ready to retire from the former and focus on the latter, 
seeking a quiet retreat in an ever-growing landscape.

While wilderness destruction was a growing theme among the Sierra Club 
skiers at this time, land issues were not the only changes they were grappling 
with. The very culture and community the original group of skiers had pains-
takingly built, not only into the grounds but into the design of the lodge itself, 
was disappearing. By then a large, sprawling compound, the original 1934 
wing of the building consisted of a central fireplace and main room, along with 
two bunk area balconies containing an equal number of men’s and women’s 
bunks. The gendered bunk rooms remained as the building grew, and the 
breakdown of the communal culture of the Great Depression can be seen in 
the complaints by users regarding this. One letter from the 1950s stated that 
members of Sierra Club wanted family friendly lodging and “did not find the 
present club facilities ideal” because the gender-based communal bunk rooms 
made it “hard to put kids to bed early due to comings and goings.”34 The letter 
requested separate family facilities, indicating a rearrangement of social space 
among club members, shifting from the communal, group-oriented layout of 
the 1930s to that of the nuclear family gaining prominence in the post war cul-
ture. Club members were increasingly demanding privacy and isolation from 
the group at large. In 1957, responding to this trend, George Homsey raised 
the roof of the lodge in the women’s sleeping quarters, an area known as the 
“coffins,” creating family rooms.35

As the 1960s set in, more cultural gaps became apparent. The Sierra Club 
owned a store in Norden and the people in charge of running it wanted a li-
quor license. Many members objected to this, stating that this was not in line 
with the values of the Sierra Club. However, there were increasing reports of 
drinking at the lodge, resulting in four boys being asked to leave as liquor was 
not allowed. The Annual Report for 1966 noted that a shift in use to younger 
members was causing friction between age groups. This was resolved by add-
ing a youth representative to the lodge committee and the adoption of their 
recommendations via a special subcommittee headed by Lewis Clark. The 
growth of a more diverse membership with more individual needs as well as 
the formation of more committees and subcommittees to handle these needs 
attests to both the growing bureaucratic nature of the Sierra Club and to the 
increasing individuality of its membership. This weakened the participatory 
nature of club activities but provided the necessary structure for its incremental 
move from social activity to political activism.

This early version of activism remained rooted in social activities but in-
cluded a greater focus on education and outreach. In a conscious attempt at 
teaching the values of the club through social engagements, Sierra Clubbers 
increasingly used activities such as ski trips to attract new members and then 
attempted to raise their awareness of preservation issues. For example, Lewis 
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Clark made the decision to change the focus of the Saturday evening programs 
at the Clair Tappaan Lodge from commercial travel movies to conservation 
education, stating that “pictures shown at CTL should be club-related and have 
educational as well as entertainment value.”36 Other club educational activities, 
such as public lectures and slide shows, also grew at this time as club members 
consciously devoted more time and energy to outreach. Nathan Clark later re-
membered that “all these real conservationists, who fought hard on the cause 
of conservation, it’s almost unanimous that they originally joined the club for 
the social side—the trips and the outings and the ski trips—and didn’t really 
think much about conservation at first. So therefore we can get good conser-
vationists if we give them a proper exposure to the things that we’re trying to 
conserve.”37  Access to wilderness areas remained a priority but no longer as 
an end unto itself; it now functioned as a means to an end, raising awareness 
of preservation issues through the enjoyment of the landscape. 

This occurred as development, the first and crucial step to accessing the 
landscape, now overran and transformed it. And as skiing itself became more 
individualistic and commercial outfits more corporate, the landscape at Donner 
Summit was both physically and symbolically rearranged, losing many of the 
very qualities inherent in the notion of wilderness that had made it attractive 
to the early Sierra Club skiers. Now moving up the Sierra Club boardroom 
hierarchy, club members such as Lewis and Nathan Clark fought to preserve 
both their landscape and their ideals, realizing the latter were imbedded in the 
former. According to Nathan Clark, “The developments, of course, were all for 
the benefit of the commercial people that wanted to make a killing off of what 
the skiers would spend—that’s what it really amounted to. It was not to help 
the skiers, it was to get an income, which is what all these commercial things 
are, in the final analysis.”38 Advocating for educational experiences over com-
mercialized ones, they turned increasingly to the ideal of wilderness to express 
their values and used their manufactured landscape to propel notions of con-
servation. Ultimately, these were stepping stones to the lobbying efforts the club 
would engage in as environmental concerns began to percolate in mainstream 
discourse. However, while steering the club into a more activist stance during 
the 1960s, this generation of leaders remained convinced that outdoor recreation 
was the foundation for advocacy, functioning both as a means to raise aware-
ness and a conduit through which to engage in the political process. Although 
it is now known more for its political engagement, the Sierra Club still leads 
backcountry expeditions and advocates passionately for outdoor activities. Firm 
in their conviction that skiing is a means to both adventure and enlightenment, 
they still operate the Clair Tappaan Lodge, the Hutchinson Lodge, and the trail 
system and overnight huts up at Donner Summit. Vestiges of old trail markers 
are still to be found, cultural artifacts invested with a symbolic meaning that 
eludes most of the passersby. 
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Bright sunshine was reflecting off the Mississippi River at Hannibal, Mis-
souri, on June 4, 1846. It was Thursday, usually a work day, but many shops 
were closed as townspeople gathered along the main street to watch men in 
uniform from two Missouri militia units forming up on horseback for muster. 
Among the observing throng were two boys, watching in awe. One of the boys 
was nearly seven years older than the other, and they were probably not stand-
ing near each other that day, but they were schoolmates together. Years later 
their paths would cross in far off Nevada Territory.1

Both would become nationally known—one perhaps fleetingly; the other 
remaining famous to this day. As this story unfolds below, it will take two 
directions. The first boy’s story opens with the previously untold background 
of Ruel Colt Gridley and develops into the oft-told tale of Gridley’s “Sanitary 
Sack of Flour.”2 It attempts to suggest what it was events in his early life that 
drove him to spending his personal wealth while destroying his own health 
raising funds to support an organization aiding Union soldiers.

Mark Twain, Ruel Gridley, and 
The U.S. Sanitary Commission

Raising Funds to Aid Civil War Soldiers

Robert E. Stewart
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The second boy’s story, equally important, provides a glimpse at the ma-
turing of fledgling reporter Samuel Langhorne Clemens into Mark Twain, a 
writer of international merit. During 1864, the bloody fourth year of the Civil 
War, Clemens’s schoolmate Gridley—how close they were in the one-room 
school is unknown—would become a central figure in a critical period in the 
early development of Clemens’s “Mark Twain” persona. This was the time 
when Twain passed from a naive scribbler, his writing largely ignored by the 
California press which was always hungry for news from the Territory and its 
mines, to a writer more aware of the consequences of his printed words.

The boy watching the parade who remains famous today is, of course, 
Sam Clemens, born in Florida, Missouri, 30-some miles west of Hannibal, on 
November 30, 1835. Years after that 1846 Hannibal military muster, Sam would 
spend a few years in Nevada Territory, where he became known as Mark Twain. 
It was also in the Territory that Ruel Gridley, the other boy watching the 1846 
cavalrymen, would embark on a mission through which he personally raised 
over one per cent of the $25 million donated to the U.S. Sanitary Fund, the “Red 
Cross” of the Civil War.3 

Although as noted above, the tale of Gridley and the “Sanitary Sack of Flour” 
has been told many times, and in various ways, little has ever been written of 
Gridley’s life. Accounts of Sam Clemens’s small role in the saga of the sack and 
fund-raising for the Commission, are usually limited to recounting the faulty 
tale told in Mark Twain’s 1872 book Roughing It, a volume throughout which 
he often favored entertaining his readers over recording facts.

In Hannibal, Gridley’s father Amos was a liquor merchant, selling whiskey 
at five cents a dram, twenty-five cents a gallon. Amos died in 1833, when Ruel 
was four. His mother, Sarah Ann (Sally), remarried in 1838; her new husband, 
Ruel’s step-father Robert Blakely, was a carpenter.4

Ruel Gridley, two months shy of being seven years older than Sam Clemens, 
had not bothered going to school. In the 1840s, after an early childhood of casting 
around, perhaps now influenced by his step-father, he became a willing student 
in the same one-room school where Sam Clemens was an unwilling pupil.

Ten-year-old Sam Clemens was in school at the time of the muster because 
his mother insisted that he attend. His Tom Sawyeresque youth in Hannibal is 
not important to this tale, nor is his early employment and travel; so we leave 
him at the curbside, wide-eyed and carefree, to rejoin him when he has become a 
reporter on the staff of the Territorial Enterprise in Virginia City, Nevada Territory.

The purpose of the 1846 militia muster both boys were watching was to 
organize a thousand-man regiment in response to a call for cavalrymen made 
by President James K. Polk to the governor of Missouri. In July, the regiment left 
for service in the Mexican-American war. The two units that provided the men 
for the “Second Regiment of Missouri Mounted Volunteers” were the Hannibal 
Rangers, from the Mississippi River town of Hannibal, Marion County, Missouri; 
and the Marion Guard, from the Marion County seat at Palmyra.5
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Contributions to the Sanitary Fund.  Illustration by Truman (True) W. Williams  for 
Roughing It, by Mark Twain, 1872. (Courtesy of the author). 
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The following year, with the war in Mexico escalating, Congress authorized 
further expansion of the Army. Col. John Ralls recruited men in eastern Missouri 
to serve one year as the Third Regiment of Missouri Mounted Volunteers. Ruel, 
having turned 18, was among those answering the call. The group crossed the state 
on horseback. In Independence, Missouri, on June 12, 1847, Ruel Colt Gridley was 
mustered in as a private in Company E, commanded by Capt. William S. Lofland.

A few days later, the mounted company departed Independence for El Paso, 
on the Rio Grande. In March 1848, the Third played a key role in the assault on 
Santa Rosa de Rosales. An account of the attack written by Thomas Butler, a 
fellow member of Company E with Gridley, gives today’s reader a feeling for 
the motivation that would later bring Ruel Gridley to the support of wounded 
Civil War soldiers:6

... on the 16th of March 1848, our company and six other companies of Col. 
Ralls’ regiment and two companies of United States Dragoons [cavalrymen], 
under the command of Major Beal; also Major Watkins’ Santa Fe Battalion, 
making about 600 in all had a “brush” with the Mexicans, under General 
Freas. The Mexicans were in town and were entrenched behind their breast-
works. We fought them all day driving them about sundown from their 
position with a loss of three or four hundred killed and wounded and a large 
quantity of their stores and ammunition: also a number of prisoners. Our loss 
was considerably less than theirs. In this battle Thomas Ely and Al Robinson 
of my company were killed and Liss Norton had his leg shot off. They were 
by my side [at] the time and I will never forget the fatal incident. I had been 
on picket duty all night before the fight and in the morning without any rest, 
anything to eat or drink and not a bit of tobacco, I was ordered into line. We 
were about 600 yards from the enemy looking for the position of their bat-
teries, which were belching grape and canister shot all around us. Tom Ely 
was next to me on my right and Liss Norton on my left and Al Robinson to 
the right of Ely. I asked Liss if he had any tobacco…. [Suddenly] a shower of 
balls dashed against us. I looked around saw that my three comrades were 
stuck, their horses were down and in the charge left behind.

A war correspondent, P. G. Fergurson, in a report reprinted in the Santa Fe Repub-
lican of April 22, 1848, adds to understanding Private Gridley’s combat experience:7

The charge of Col. Ralls’ column was a splendid affair. It moved like a 
thunder-bolt, precisely in the direction it was sent spreading dismay, death 
and destruction, and it was over this column that Col. Sanchez extended 
the flag of surrender. It was a proud day for all, but for those leading and 
directing this column, it was particularly so, and Col. Ralls in his report has 
but rendered justice to his officers and men, and that report does that 
commander distinguished honor for the virtue of his head and heart.
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An entire park of artillery was captured with about 2,000 stand of arms 
and munitions, with other public property to the value of seven to eight 
hundred thousand dollars. We captured the whole force, including thirty 
commissioned officers, Gov. Maj. General Trias at their head.

After the day had nearly expired we learned that the place could only be 
carried by storming. The order to charge was given, and in one hour's 
time the city surrendered, our arms as ever, victorious, adding another 
trophy to the Fame of the great Republic we serve.

After the battle, Col. Ralls’s men remained stationed at Santa Cruz de 
Rosales, occupying that post until the end of the war. Along with the other 
members of his unit, Ruel Gridley had now heard, seen, and smelled the ugly 
side of war: men with terrible wounds dying in great agony; wounded men 
screaming in pain, carried on stretchers; the bloody walking wounded; the 
unmistakable stench from the gruesome piles of legs and arms outside the field 
surgeons’ tents. Perhaps this was the stimulus, as suggested above, that years 
later would lead him to his quest in support of the U.S. Sanitary Commission, a 
private relief agency created by federal legislation on June 18, 1861, to support 
sick and wounded soldiers of the U.S. Army during the American Civil War.8

In July 1848, Ralls’s men were ordered to Independence, Missouri, where 
they were mustered out on October 21. Ruel, now 19, returned to Hannibal 
where he worked as a carpenter, a trade learned under his step-father. It was 
also then that Ruel joined the Hannibal Methodist Episcopal Church.

In September 1850, Ruel married Susan Snyder, 19. A son, Amos, was born 
in 1851, and a daughter, Clara, joined the family the following year.

In the manner of many young men in active military service, Ruel’s travel 
during the war had opened his eyes to opportunities far beyond Marion County. 
In 1852, he set off for California on horseback. There was work aplenty for a 
carpenter in California, and he was soon able to send for Susan. She and the 
children came by sea, crossing the Isthmus of Panama. 

When they arrived, Ruel was working as a carpenter in San Francisco. Soon 
after Susan arrived, the family moved inland to Oroville, in California’s Butte 
County, where Ruel opened a carpentry business.

On September 21, 1857, an arsonist set fire to a residence near Ruel’s shop. 
Spreading rapidly, the fire quickly leveled the Gridley building, a loss estimated 
at $1,000. With no further explanation, the Oroville Butte Record noted “Mr. 
Gridley is for the third time in California reduced to penury by fire.”9

Three months later Ruel, financially destitute, his carpenter’s tools destroyed by 
fire, was sworn in as a Deputy Sheriff in Oroville.10 Deputies held patronage posi-
tions, and that employment terminated in December 1859, when Sheriff Nathaniel 
Plum’s term ended. In the June 1860 federal census, Ruel is listed as a merchant 
in Kimshew Township, Butte County, in the foothills 30 miles northeast of Chico.
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Across the West, the decade of the 1860s opened with news of the Com-
stock’s promise of wealth. Prospectors spread out across the Great Basin 
in hopes of making their own rich strike. In 1861, after completion of the 
through telegraph line to the east, the famed Pony Express was abandoned, 
and its experienced riders were left to find new occupations. The Overland 
Mail stage line, following the general route of the Pony Express, continued 
serving the central Great Basin until completion of the transcontinental rail-
road, located a long day’s ride and more to the north along the Humboldt 
River route.11

One Pony Express employee, William Talcott, remained in the Reese River 
valley, at the foot of the Toiyabe Mountain range in the middle of the Great 
Basin. While in nearby Pony Canyon in May 1862, he discovered an outcrop of 
greenish ore. Talcott staked the “Pony Mine” and sent a sample of the ore to a 
Virginia City assayer. The ore contained free silver. Word quickly spread, and 
early in 1863 men began arriving in the area.

A substantial mining camp, christened Austin, quickly blossomed on the 
steep hillsides of Pony Canyon. A separate camp, named Clifton, was created 
at the mouth of the canyon, on the more level land of the Reese River Valley. 
Quickly outgrowing temporary camp status, by September, Austin had become 
a full-fledged town, with, by one count, “279 structures: stone, 24; adobe brick, 
57; frame 31; log or pole, 49; canvas, 38, tent, 38; brushwood, 42. Diminutive 
Clifton added 87 structures: stone, 24; adobe brick, 57; frame 31; log or pole, 
49; canvas, 38; tent, 38; brushwood, 42-279.” The population was estimated at 
1,100 for Austin and 350 for Clifton. “Hardly six months since but one solitary 
tent could be seen in this vicinity, inhabited by a few enterprising pioneers,” 
observed the editor of the Reese River Reveille, which began publication four 
months earlier, in May.12 The influx of new arrivals continued; during the first 
six months of 1864, one hundred and eighty substantial houses were erected 
in Austin, with another twenty-nine under way.13

It was in this burgeoning mining district that Ruel Gridley and William W. 
Hobart, with Henry Jacobs, opened a general merchandise and grocery store. 
Gridley and Hobart had been deputy sheriffs together in Butte County, patron-
age appointees during the 1858 through 1859 tenure of Sheriff Plum. The men 
had two stores in Austin: Hobart, who soon became a town alderman, ran the 
shop in “lower Austin,” while Ruel ran the store in a stone building at the uphill 
end of town. In the upper store, Jacobs was a Nevada Territory notary public 
and a commissioner of deeds for California.14

At this point in the story, many years later, Mark Twain attempted to insert 
himself back into the tale, albeit briefly. In his 1906 autobiographical dictation, 
Twain speaks of Gridley leaving school for the Mexican War and his own frus-
tration at his inability to go because of his young age. In a paragraph (dictated 
in 1906) making the transition from the Mexican war to the Civil War and Ruel 
Gridley’s sack of flour, Twain said:
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...Gridley went away to the wars and we heard of him no more for fif-
teen or sixteen years. Then one day in Carson City while I was having a 
difficulty with an editor on the sidewalk—an editor better built for war 
than I was—I heard a voice say “Give him the best you’ve got, Sam, I’m 
at your back.” It was Reuel [sic] Gridley. He said he had not recognized 
me by my face but by my drawling style of speech.15

But is it possible such a meeting occurred in Carson City? First, the time 
frame: “…we heard no more of him for fifteen or sixteen years” after the 1847 
mustering-in would bring the “hearer” to 1862-63. As the Enterprise reporter 
covering the second session of the Territorial Legislature, Sam Clemens arrived 
in Carson City shortly before November 11, 1862. Reporter Clemens (he first 
uses the name Mark Twain in a February 1863 Enterprise column), was a resident 
in Virginia City. James L. Laird, with whom Twain would feud in 1864, had 
been one of the publishers of the Silver Age newspaper in Carson City, but, on 
November 2, that paper and staff moved to Virginia City, publishing the first 
edition of the new Virginia City Union on November 4, 1862. From November 
2, 1862, until the summer of 1863, there were no editors resident in Carson City 
for Twain to have a “difficulty” with.

As for Gridley, his store in “upper Austin” opened in mid-July 1863, as 
noticed by a “New Store” advertisement in the Reese River Reveille. That Grid-
ley had been in Austin for some time is suggested by an editorial comment in 
the Reveille on July 28, 1863, announcing a Sunday School movement in upper 
Austin led by R. C. Gridley, a “well-known character for morality and probity.”16

The wording of a letter Sam Clemens wrote to his mother and sister about the 
Sanitary Fund in May 1864, in which he wrote: “along came Gridley, (you remember 
him) whom I hadn’t seen for 15 years, and he brought help,” tends to suggest no 
such meeting took place in Carson City in 1862 or ‘63. The text of Clemens’s letter is 
printed below, telling of the adventures with Gridley and the Sanitary Sack of Flour.

The contemporaneous letter home carries the ring of truth. And possibly the 
answer—not fifteen or sixteen, but seventeen years. In May 1864, Mark Twain 
was having issues with the publishers of the Virginia Daily Union. It is possible 
they were having words when Gridley arrived unannounced in Virginia City 
with the Sanitary Sack of Flour. We cannot dismiss that as possibly being the 
point and manner in which Gridley did make “got your back” contact with 
Twain—in Virginia City, not Carson City. The tale of Gridley in Virginia City 
will unfold below. The nature of Gridley and Twain getting back together is 
a minor point, probably over-explored here only because several secondary 
sources, perhaps following the lead of Dr. Effie Mona Mack’s volume Mark 
Twain in Nevada, refer to the incident being in Carson City as fact.17

Back up a few weeks now, to municipal election time in Austin. For residents 
and visitors alike, throughout Nevada Territory in 1864, almost everything 
came from California, assisted by a limited amount of Austin-bound freight 
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dispatched by merchants in Salt Lake City. From needles and thread to sew on 
buttons or tailor clothing, to heavy iron castings for crushing and milling gold 
and silver ore, most freight came across the Sierra Nevada. Smaller items were 
loaded on trains of pack mules, forty pounds per mule; medium freight on 
wagons drawn by horses or mules, and the heavy equipment by the long-haul 
semi-trucks of the day, ox-drawn freight wagons. Most of the wagons, which 
continued in a seemingly endless stream, were off-loaded in Carson City or 
Virginia City. After the Austin mines were discovered, a few loads of freight 
continued east to the Reese River region, where the populace of the new min-
ing district was always in need of all kinds of mining equipment, supplies, and 
food—including flour.

In Gridley’s store, Chico-brand wheat flour was sold to householders in 
50-pound sacks. The sacks themselves soon became shirts, dresses, even wall 
covering in place of lath and plaster.

The Chico flouring mill was owned by Gen. John Bidwell, who came west 
as the leader of the pre-Gold Rush overland Bartleson-Bidwell party. He was 
just 22 years old when he arrived in California in 1841. Ten years later he com-
pleted purchase of the 22,214-acre Mexican land grant called Rancho Arroyo 
Chico in Butte County.

The Gridley Store in Austin, NV, 2011.
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In 1860, the General Land Office recognized the validity of the grant, and on 
part of it Bidwell quickly founded the town of Chico, two dozen miles southwest 
of Ruel’s business in Butte County’s Kimshew Township. “General Bidwell,” 
as he was known, created a highly productive farm and ranch on the south 
side of Chico creek. His Chico Mill quickly became known for its high-quality 
wheat flour.18 Early in 1864, an order of Bidwell’s Chico flour was delivered to 
the Gridley Store in Austin, Nevada Territory.

Also in early 1864, and also related to the Chico flour in Gridley’s store—the 
importance of which will become obvious—the third Nevada Territorial Leg-
islature created the incorporated City of Austin. It included the land area from 
upper Austin down Pony Canyon to include Clifton. The election for a mayor 
and other officers for the new city was set for Wednesday, April 20, 1864. All 
men who had lived in the city for 90 days were eligible to vote.

There were two candidates for Mayor. Charles Holbrook, 33, and David 
E. Buell, 38.

When he was 19, candidate Holbrook sailed from Boston for California dur-
ing the 1849 Gold Rush. Born in New Hampshire, he was trained as a machinist 
in Massachusetts. In Sacramento, he became a partner in a hardware business, 
and, in 1863, he opened the Austin, Nevada Territory, branch of the Sacramento 
hardware store, “Lord, Holbrook & Co.” There, the following spring, he ran on 
the Republican ticket for the new office of mayor, strongly supporting President 
Lincoln and the Union cause.19

On the Democratic ticket, David E. Buell was an unabashed Copperhead. 
Another man drawn to Nevada’s mines from California, he had been in Placer-
ville as the elected sheriff of El Dorado County and was an Assemblyman from 
that county in 1858. In 1862, he was in Nevada Territory as a prime promoter of 
the new camp at Austin, having assisted in creating a wagon road up narrow 
Pony Canyon.

Mr. Holbrook, as the representative of the loyal people, won the election. 
The editor of the Sacramento Daily Union, reporting the election at Austin, wrote 
that it:

…must have been a rich affair, something like the doings that we were 
wont to witness in the pioneer days of California, when horseracing, card 
playing and fights abounded, and liquor did much more abound—es-
pecially in the mining region. The election at Austin, however, notwith-
standing some extravagances in language and action, was distinguished 
by undoubted loyalty on the part of the majority, which made itself 
manifest in the selection of loyal municipal officers.

The editor then went on to quote a correspondent from Austin: “…big 
speeches, bigger bonfires and biggest processions were the order of business 
day and night. Whisky was as free as water… merchants closed their stores and 
went to gambling on the general result—‘put up or shut up’ was the war cry….”20
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Among those making a bet on the Mayoral race was one which would create 
the legend under discussion. It was between Ruel Gridley, a Democrat and a 
Copperhead—“or” Twain wrote his mother, “as he calls himself, ‘Union to the 
backbone, but a Copperhead in sympathies’ ”—and his friend, Dr. Hamas S. 
Herrick, MD, 44, a Republican and the elected Lander County Assessor. Born in 
Holland in 1820, Dr. Herrick had been superintendent of schools in Placerville, 
where he doubtless knew sheriff and Assemblyman Buell.21

It was a lopsided bet—if the Copperhead candidate Buell had won, Dr. 
Herrick would have had to carry a fifty-pound sack of flour about two miles, 
from The Bank Exchange at the lower end of Clifton up to the store of Gridley, 
Hobart & Jacobs, in Upper Austin. It was (and is) a steep grade, rising about 
200 feet in elevation. For Gridley, it was to be a downhill hike.

The morning after the election, which was a Union landslide, the town was 
ready for a gala event. It began at 10 a.m. in upper Austin, where Ruel Gridley 
hefted one of his store’s 50-pound bags of Chico flour, trimmed with flags and 
red-white and blue ribbons, onto his shoulder. 

It was a parade and a celebration, variously described later, suggesting 
people and groups joined it along the way. The story was telegraphed to Cali-
fornia newspapers, as follows:

A number of sympathizing friends of the Copperhead school, and a large 
number of Union men, the officials-elect of the city included, gave Gridley the 
honor of their company. The process led by the Austin Brass Band, proceeded 
to Upper Austin, where Gridley …took his place in the procession. Having 
arrived at the point of delivery, …Thomas B. Wade made the presentation 
speech for Gridley, which was felicitously responded to by H. G. Worthington 
on the part of Dr. Herrick. The suggestion having been made by someone 
that the sack …be sold at auction for the benefit of the Sanitary Fund, it was 
accordingly put up at auction in front of Grimes’ saloon, the most public part 
of the newly incorporated city. It was bought successively by [a number of 
persons, each in turn] immediately empowering the volunteer auctioneer, 
Thomas B. Wade, to sell it over again for the benefit of the Sanitary Fund.22

Auctioneer Wade, like Gridley, was a veteran of the Mexican War. He was 
wounded in the battle of Chapultepec, recovering sufficiently to take part in 
the capture of the city of Mexico, where he was one of the heroes at the storm-
ing of the Belén Gate.

In the Austin municipal election, Gridley’s partner William Hobart, a Union 
man, had been elected as an Alderman. It was about this time that they divided 
the business, Hobart keeping the “south Austin” store while Gridley and Jacobs 
kept the stone store, still standing today, at the top of Austin. As Gridley became 
more deeply involved with Sanitary Fund travel, Jacobs left the partnership to 
become an independent notary public. 



28 Robert E. Stewart

Ruel Gridley carrying the sack of flour.  Illustrated by  J. Ross Brown for 
Harper’s New Monthly Magazine, Vol. 33, June 1886. (Courtesy of the author)
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In the Territorial Enterprise of May 18, 1864, Mark Twain wrote of the “Travels 
and Fortunes of the Great Austin Sack of Flour” which had occurred on the 16. 
He stated that between auctions at Austin and in western Nevada Territory, 
the sack had paid the Sanitary Fund not far from $30,000. In the article, Twain 
listed all the donors and the amount each “paid” for the sack of flour. Then he 
wrote that on Monday Evening, May 16, following the final Nevada Territory 
auction of Gridley’s sack of flour at a mass meeting in Virginia City, thirteen 
committees were named to call on various persons for additional contributions. 
Most of the names are unimportant here.23 

Perhaps as a testament to Clemens’s friendship with Gridley, he is the only 
man named on two committees. But he was not on the two committees where 
we might expect to find him. Twain’s fellow reporter at the Enterprise, Dan De 
Quille, was on the committee to call on “the Ladies,” and five lesser known 
townsmen were named to call on saloon keepers. On one of his two, “Sam Clem-
ens” joined John Doble to call on brewers of beer.24 Clemens’s other assignment 
was for “A. W. Baldwin, Mark Twain, and the Old Piute” to solicit donations 
from Comstock lawyers. Note use by reporter Twain, the name Clemens for 
the one and Twain for the second.

There were a lot of lawyers, and this committee was a powerful trio of 
Comstock men, so it is disappointing to have to report that their success at fun-
draising remains unrecorded. Twain’s committee partner Alexander W. (Sandy) 
Baldwin, an extremely talented and popular public speaker, was also a young 
man at the time, just five months older than Twain. Earlier, in July 1861, speaking 
in California, he said “I regard secession as revolution against the highest law 
of the land.”25 He was highly respected as a lawyer, and a year later, in 1865, 
Baldwin would become a U.S. District Court judge, one of President Lincoln’s 
last appointments. The other member of the trio, “the Old Piute” was John 
K. Lovejoy, a decade older than Baldwin and Twain. He had recently become 
publisher of the Daily Old Piute, a small Virginia City newspaper. Lovejoy’s 
coarse humor and over fondness for puns with an acid twist, would soon lead 
to demise of that paper.26

Twain’s further personal involvement in the fund-raising on the Comstock is 
detailed in a long letter to his mother and sister, written at midnight on Tuesday 
the seventeenth, after writing the long article for the next morning’s Enterprise. 
Clearly, Twain was ebullient following the carnival-like atmosphere of the events. 
The letter reflects his joyous excitement at the success of the fund-raising events:

Virginia is only a small town, about three times as large as Hannibal, 
and Gold Hill is about the same size as Hannibal. Silver City and Day-
ton are mere villages—but you ought to see them roll out the twenty 
dollar pieces when their blood is up…. I think they like that Sanitary 
Fund because it affords them such a bully opportunity of giving away 
their money. They are slow until you move them, though. When Pamela 
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wrote us to try and do something for the [Sanitary Fund fair in St. Louis] 
I went after the President of the [Storey] County Sanitary Commission, 
[Almarin B. Paul], who is an old St. Louisian—I had never taken much 
interest in sanitary matters before. He went to work sending calls to the 
several counties to contribute, and I, being chief of our editorial corps, 
then, went to scribbling editorials. But we couldn’t make the riffle.

Paul got the ladies of Gold Hill to give a ball, and a silver brick worth 
$3,000 was the result, but that wouldn’t go far, you know. Then we got 
up a meeting in Virginia, and only got $1,500 or $1,800, and that made 
us sick. We tried it again, and almost concluded to disband the audi-
ence without trying to do anything—but we went on, kept it up all the 
afternoon and raised $3,500, and had about concluded it was no use to 
try to get up a sanitary excitement. We began to think we were going 
to make a mighty poor show at the St. Louis Fair, when along came 
Gridley, (you remember him) whom I hadn’t seen for 15 years, and he 
brought help. He is a Copperhead, or as [he ]calls [himself], “Union to 

Gridley sack of flour at auction. Illustrated by  J. Ross Brown for Harper’s New 
Monthly Magazine, Vol. 33, June 1886. (Courtesy of the author)
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the backbone, but a Copperhead in sympathies.” … When Ruel got here 
yesterday, with his sack, …We put it up at auction and it only brought 
five or six hundred dollars. Paul lives in Gold Hill, and he said he was 
so disgusted with Virginia that he would try his own town, and if she 
failed he would leave the country. This morning at eleven o’clock he 
had two open carriages—one for reporters and the other for the speak-
ers—got a brass band and we started for Gold Hill. When we got there 
Ruel gave the history of the flour sack, and said that from what he could 
see people outside of Austin didn’t care much for flour. But they soon 
made him sing small. Gold Hill raised Austin out of her boots, and paid 
nearly seven thousand dollars in gold for the sack of flour….

Then we went down to little Silver City and sold it for $1,500 or $1,700. 
From there we went to the village of Dayton and sold it for somewhere 
in the neighborhood of $2,000….

We got [back up] to Gold Hill at four in the afternoon, and found the 
streets crowded, and they hailed us from all sides with “Virginia’s boo-
min’!” “Virginia’s mad!” “Virginia’s got her back up!” “You better go 
’long to Virginia; they say they’ll be d—d if the whole Territory combined 
shall beat them!” and a hundred other such exclamations. Wherefore 
we journeyed into Virginia with a long procession at our heels, coming 
up to see the fun. We got to the meeting place after dark, and found the 
neighboring buildings illuminated and the adjacent streets completely 
blocked up with people. Then the fun commenced, and I wished Pamela 
could have been there to see her own private project bringing forth its 
fruit and culminating in such a sweeping excitement away out here 
among barren mountains….  She has certainly secured $30,000 or $40,000 
worth of greenbacks from us….

Well, the fun commenced, and the very first dash made Austin take a 
back seat, and strode half way up the Gold Hill. It was a bid for the sack 
of flour by the men employed in the Gould & Curry mine and mill, of 
three thousand five hundred dollars! They went ahead of Austin two 
hundred dollars. Then followed half a dozen bids of five hundred dol-
lars each, and the thing was fairly under way. In two hours and a half 
Virginia cleaned out the Territory and paid nearly $13,000 for the sack 
of flour! How’s that? Nearly a dollar a head for every man, woman and 
child in the camp, in two hours and a half; and on four hours’ notice. 
New York couldn’t come up to that ratio in the same length of time. And 
then the offices of all our big mines are located in San Francisco, and 
when that city makes a big dash for the Sanitary fund, the heaviest end 
of it comes always from those very offices.
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The other day the Daily Union gave $200, and I gave $300, under in-
structions from the proprietors always to “go them a hundred better.” 
Tonight the Union bid $100, and I bid $150 for the Enterprise. I had to 
go to the office to make up my report, and the Union fellows came back 
and bid another $100. It was provoking, because I had orders to run 
our bid up to $1,000, if necessary, and I only struck the Union lightly to 
draw them on. But I guess we’ll make them hunt their holes yet, before 
we are done with them. 

Gridley and the sack of flour, which was protected in a buckskin carrier 
during travel, departed the Territory on the Pioneer Stage to Sacramento. The 
flour sack was stenciled “Austin Sanitary Flour” in large letters, denoting it as 
“the official” sack. In Sacramento, the Sanitary Fund picnic drew three thousand 
participants. After numerous other auctions in California, Gridley traveled by 
ship to New York to continue his quest to help fund the U.S. Sanitary Commis-
sion. Gridley and the Sack of Flour having departed Nevada, we will suspend 
their story for the moment to consider related matters in Nevada Territory.

Well before the Austin election, the Ladies of Carson City had planned a 
“Fancy Dress Ball” to raise funds for the Sanitary Commission. It was held on 
May 5th. When it raised only $1,815, well short of their goal, Gov. James W. 
Nye offered his popularity as a public speaker to raise an added two hundred 
dollars. Perhaps it is not coincidental that he gave that talk in Carson City 
on May 19, two days after the Comstock Sack of Flour success, and two days 
after Twain made a serious error in judgment in publication of derogatory 
comments about the “Fancy Dress Ball.”

The evening of the 16, Twain was still full of excitement from the day’s 
success, and while writing up the emotion-charged events on the Comstock 
for publication the next morning, stuck his foot deep in mud. He wrote: “the 
reason the Flour Sack was not taken from Dayton to Carson, was because it 
was stated that the money raised at the Sanitary Fancy Dress Ball, recently 
held in Carson “…had been diverted from its legitimate course, and was to be 
sent to aid a Miscegenation Society somewhere in the East; and it was feared 
the proceeds of the sack might be similarly disposed of.” He did then mollify 
the statement by saying that “it was a hoax, but not all a hoax, for an effort is 
being made to divert those funds from their proper course.”27 Miscegenation 
was a newly-coined word, and in the flush of success, at a late-night hour after 
a wonderfully full day, and probably a few drinks, Mark Twain apparently 
made an impetuous, naïve mistake by playing with the word.

The diversion from the “proper course” line was clearly a shot by Twain 
relative to routing of the proceeds. Pamela had asked her brother for support 
of an ongoing fundraising “Sanitary Fair” event in her hometown, St. Louis, 
and honoring her request the Comstock adventure was funneling the money 
through that event. But the Carson Ladies had decided to send their donation 
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directly to the Sanitary Commission. There is also, perhaps, a bit of sibling 
teasing at play. Sam’s older brother Orion was president of the Ormsby County 
Sanitary Commission.28 Orion’s wife Molly was a member of the Ball committee.

In far-away New York, shortly before the preceding Christmas, a 72-page 
pamphlet had appeared for sale in New York City, titled Miscegenation: The 
Theory of the Blending of the Races, Applied to the American White Man and Negro. 
“Miscegenation” was created by the pamphlet authors from the Latin miscere, 
“to mix,” and genus, “race,” with the English suffix “tion.”  The authors were 
David G. Croly, managing editor of the staunchly Democratic New York World, 
and staff reporter George Wakeman. In an attempt to destroy President Lin-
coln’s re-election, the pamphlet offered a social philosophy that in 1863 was 
highly inflammatory, encouraging white and black people to have children 
with each other.

Now Mark Twain was over his head in trouble. He was already carrying 
on a vituperous public exchange with James Laird, of the Virginia Daily Union, 
on another matter. When Twain belatedly responded to a letter of complaint 
from Ellen G. Cutler, president of the Ladies of Carson, he wrote that her letter:

…came at a moment when I was in the midst of what ought to have been 
a deadly quarrel with the publishers of the Union, and I could not come 
out and make public apologies to any one at such a time. It is bad policy 
to do it even now (as challenges have already passed between myself 
and a proprietor of the Union, and the matter is still in abeyance,) but I 
suppose I had better say a word or two to show the ladies that I did not 
wilfully and maliciously do them a wrong.

Twain also acknowledged the pain he had caused Orion’s wife, thanking 
Mrs. Cutler: “for your continued friendship for Mollie while others are disposed 
to withdraw theirs on account of a fault for which I alone am responsible.”

That was written on May 24, the same day that the Enterprise also published 
a strong apology.29 Newspaperman Twain found his pen had now brought him 
trouble in his family, possible mortal duels with Mrs. Cutler’s husband and 
another with publisher James Laird of the Union, and threats of thrashings or 
worse from other of the Ladies’ husbands. Shortly after this, Twain decamped to 
San Francisco. It was a lesson he did not forget, later recalling “When I laid down 
my editorial pen I had four horse-whippings and two duels owing to me.”30

Returning to the travels of Ruel Gridley: at one point during his travel in the 
East, the fact of his being a Copperhead was raised. The Reese River Reveille promptly 
responded: “Gridley is an old Douglas Democrat, and, although acting with the 
Copperhead party, his honor and devotion to the humane effort of relieving the 
sick and wounded soldier are undoubted by those who know him best.”31

Over the next 18 months the sack was auctioned and re-auctioned innu-
merable times. In St. Louis, a few miles south of Gridley’s home in Hannibal, 
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a 21-transaction auction raised $3,755 in March 1865, at what may have been 
one of the final auctions. The Civil War was drawing to a close.  

The estimated total derived from sack sales was $275,000. Gridley spent his 
entire savings financing his 15,000-mile charitable campaign, never touching 
the income from the auctions. Gridley paid his own expenses; all the money 
raised went to the fund. He came home broke and in poor health.

Shortly after he returned to Austin, making matters worse for Gridley and 
his family, the Reese River silver boom hit a pause, and with that his general 
store fell on hard times and soon failed. Suffering from a rheumatic condition 
in 1868, he moved to Stockton, California, where his sister lived. He died there 
two years later on Thursday, November 24, 1870—it was Thanksgiving Day. 
Twain was living in Buffalo, New York. For him, 1870 was memorable: He 
married Livy on February 2nd, and she bore him a son on November 9; he was 
enjoying the success of his first major book, Innocents Abroad, published in 1869, 
and was preparing to write Roughing It.

In the years following Ruel Gridley’s death, friends helped the destitute 
Gridley family ask Congress to reimburse the Gridley family for the time, 
and especially the money, spent raising the donations. Members of Congress 
were sympathetic, but the response had to be that Congress only chartered the 
Sanitary Commission and could not set a precedent for such organizations by 
funding it or reimbursing expenses of any of its members.32

Twain did not learn of Gridley’s death until he arrived in New York City in 
December. On Saturday, the 10 of December, he hand-wrote and hand-delivered 
an obituary to Horace Greeley at the New York Tribune, to inform New York-
ers of Gridley’s death and remind them of Ruel’s quest, concluding the letter: 
“This long and tedious expedition, undertaken and carried through to the end 
with whole-hearted zeal, albeit there was no dollar of remuneration in it for 
Mr. Gridley, is the best exemplar of the generous nature of the man, & also of 
his great energy.”33
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Following its victory in World War II, America entered a new age as its 
empire now spread from colonial markets based chiefly in Central and South 
America and the mid-Pacific to new bastions of economic power in the oil-
rich Middle East and East Asia. As the economist, John Kenneth Galbraith, 
noted in his 1958 classic, The Affluent Society, the typical American family went 
from a meager average income of $2,000 per year in the 1920s (with barely a 
few thousand dollars in the bank, if that) to $8,000 to $10,000 per year by the 
late 1950s as more families moved above the poverty line and also into the 
middle class.1 This awarded many white American families and single adults 
much more disposable income than their parents ever had. More disposable 
income meant more money to travel and to play in new vacation getaways 
like Miami, Honolulu, Reno, and Las Vegas. Along with a dramatic postwar 
increase in leisure time for workers, this benefited places like Las Vegas and 
Reno, but it also required the construction of new hotels, highways, airports, 
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and convention centers. Just as Las Vegas began experiencing these issues  
C. D. Baker became the city’s mayor, and he quickly proved himself to be up 
to the challenge of getting this infrastructure built to attract millions of tourists 
and residents over the next half century. By the end of his mayoral tenure, Las 
Vegas had become America’s newest metropolitan area. 

Baker’s arrival in town almost 30 years earlier was barely noticed. Trained 
as a civil engineer at Rose Polytechnic Institute but lacking a secure position 
in life, Charles Duncan Baker (he preferred to be called C. D. Baker) came to 
Las Vegas in 1922 as a 21-year-old mathematics teacher at Clark County High 
School and doubled as the school’s basketball coach. Once he had more mon-
ey and connections, the restless Baker started his own engineering and realty 
firms to supplement a few early land investments in the area. During the New 
Deal the ambitious Baker served as county surveyor, Civilian Conservation 
Corps (CCC) director, and city engineer. In this latter position, he not only 
came to grasp the workings of Las Vegas city government, but also played a 
key role in designing the street network from which young Las Vegas would 
expand in the decades after World War II. 

Baker soon began to dabble in politics. In 1939, he tried to parlay his grow-
ing popularity for engineering his city’s street system into the Las Vegas may-
oral position, but he lost to fiscal conservative John Russell. However, in 1940, 
Baker successfully ran for the State Assembly and served in the 1941 session. 
Following the attack on Pearl Harbor, he served in the Pacific in the U. S. Army 
Corps of Engineers helping to build airports, hospitals, and other facilities in 
the Philippines and other island nations liberated from Japanese rule. In this 
capacity he rose to the rank of colonel. Once back from the war, Baker married 
and resumed his engineering and real estate businesses and revived his political 
career. Baker served as Clark County’s representative in the State Senate dur-
ing the 1947 and 1949 sessions and played a key role in convincing northern 
lawmakers to approve the state’s purchase of Basic Magnesium from the fed-
eral government—the key prerequisite for saving the giant war plant that later 
spawned the city of Henderson. Saving the giant factory also gave the Las Vegas 
area a permanent chemical industry to supplement tourism and Cold War de-
fense. Senator Baker also sponsored a bill permitting Basic Townsite residents 
to buy the company home they were renting, thereby contributing to the infant 
community’s permanence after the war. In 1947, Baker also supported the cre-
ation of what soon became Nellis Air Force Base by endorsing the effort to move 
the current city airport from the base’s site just north of North Las Vegas to a 
location one mile south of the Flamingo Hotel.  In 1951, he tried again for mayor 
of Las Vegas and won, defeating longtime incumbent, Ernie Cragin, who, for 
many voters, had grown too close to the city’s casino owners.2

Clearly, Baker’s early tenure as city engineer in the 1930s taught him to be 
vigilant as mayor regarding the city’s needs as it underwent a wave of growth 
related to Hoover Dam’s construction, which flooded his city with new resi-
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dents and tourists. By 1950 casino gambling had clearly begun to transform the 
town, more than tripling its 1940 population of 8,400.3 Baker actively worked 
to prepare the city for its rapid growth and expansion outward. 

Water was the greatest obstacle blocking the Las Vegas area’s develop-
ment. Inadequate supply became a major issue for Las Vegas during World 
War II when population, increased by tourists, California defense workers, 
and soldiers on weekend passes caused some taps in the city to run dry. Union 
Pacific Railroad executives, whose company wells had been the main supplier 
since the city’s inception, told Las Vegas leaders they could no longer guaran-
tee enough water if the onetime division town grew much larger and certainly 
if it became the tourist center that many businessmen hoped for. After much 
discussion with community leaders, Baker introduced a bill in the 1947 legisla-
tive session to create the Las Vegas Valley Water District, a valley-wide public 
entity designed to issue bonds to purchase the Union Pacific’s water sources 
and infrastructure and take over the responsibility for extending that system. 
Voters approved creation of this special service district in 1948. Beginning in 
1951, Baker helped lead the struggle to pass a Water District bond issue to 
build the needed infrastructure to give the city more water. 

Water was a particularly controversial issue in the mid-1950s, since the 
water district was still in its infancy and lacked enough money to deliver 
water to everyone immediately. The mayor battled with both the water dis-
trict and its contractors to get the pipes laid, and was forced to authorize re-
strictions on lawn watering in 1954 to conserve water.4 The city was plagued 
with shortages until 1955 when the district finally completed a line to Basic 
Magnesium in Henderson, which delivered the first Lake Mead water to the 
Strip area and to the city. Until then, everyone relied on artesian wells and 
other small sources, which Las Vegas’ rising number of tourists and residents 
helped drain. In some areas in 1954, neighborhood cisterns actually ran dry.5

Las Vegas boomed during and after the Korean War, thanks to Nellis 
Air Force Base, the nuclear test site, the Cold War, and tourism, which cre-
ated thousands of new jobs in the area and stimulated much new construc-
tion. New suburbs not only required more water mains, but also street pav-
ing above them. Paving was especially necessary in a town where summer 
downpours created excess runoff that overwhelmed the many dirt roads in 
the city’s outer suburbs, creating puddles that lasted for days. Of course, not 
every homeowner supported Mayor Baker’s ambitious paving program. As 
the Republican Las Vegas Sun noted, on the east side many residents opposed 
paying assessments for paving streets, and in some cases the city fathers had 
to back off and re-pave thoroughfares farther down the block. In his first year 
as mayor, the Democratic mayor created a firestorm in conservative circles by 
raising municipal fees to spend more on public works. But as the Democratic 
Las Vegas Review-Journal noted in a 1959 story defending Baker, “streets have 
been built where none existed before. Curbs, gutters and sidewalks have been 
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established in areas where before were just dirt and mud.”6 Despite this sup-
port, the mayor faced intense criticism whenever the progress of street im-
provements moved slowly.

 In response, Baker directed his anger not just at his critics but at contrac-
tors as well. Throughout the 1950s, he fumed at the slow progress of public 
works in the city. In 1955 Baker was particularly miffed at the lack of effort by 
the contractor paving parts of East Charleston Boulevard that served many of 
the town’s newer suburbs. Police Commissioner A. H. Kennedy threatened to 
have officers cite the contractor for blocking the road and even levy additional 
fines and perhaps initiate court action against him for contract violations. The 
same was true for the failure of the water district’s contractors to lay mains fast 
enough to stave off a water crisis in many of the city’s outer suburbs.7

The pace of sewer construction also went slowly in some places, as the 
former city engineer and realtor worked with frequent allies such as progres-
sive city commissioners Reed Whipple and Phil Mirabelli to convince more 
conservative city commissioners and some homeowners that liberating whole 
neighborhoods from their reliance on septic tanks was worth the investment 
in public funds and assessments. Las Vegas’ booming population in the 1950s 
threatened to overwhelm the city’s system, and in 1954 the engineer mayor 
aggressively pushed for construction of a second sewage treatment plant to 
“relieve the odor” in the Charleston Boulevard and Nellis Avenue sections 
in the city’s far eastern suburbs. Mayor Baker also supported construction of 
the second facility, because Clark County’s plant was too far away to be cost 
effective for the city to share. He argued that Las Vegas needed to build a 
second plant closer to town to take pressure off the current facility that was 
being overworked and to give the town enough additional capacity to allow 
Las Vegas to serve a future population of 100,000 people or more. This, he 
insisted, would someday be an indispensable asset for a resort city hosting 
thousands of tourists who drove the city’s weekend population far beyond 
weekday numbers.8

Given the city’s rapid growth and the number of public works projects 
required, Mayor Baker and city commissioners also recognized the need to 
better coordinate the administration of these activities as other, fast-growing 
American cities had. By fall 1953, Baker, city commissioners, and city manager 
George Rounthwaite had merged Engineering, Buildings, and five other city 
departments into one large Department of Public Works to save money and 
promote efficiency.9 This was a move that New York City had undertaken in 
1870 and other large cities had imitated once their exponential growth made 
it obvious they were destined to become the central city of a sprawling met-
ropolitan area. As of the 1960 U. S. Census, Las Vegas was the only Standard 
Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA) in the United States whose central city 
began in the 20th Century, so its feverish postwar development required ac-
tions like these at the municipal level. 
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In 1954, with the arrival of more water mains to increase the street hy-
drants’ ability to fight fires and with more buildings in the city than ever be-
fore, at Mayor Baker’s urging the fire department announced that it would 
finally install a fire alarm call-box system. This act clearly symbolized Las 
Vegas’ move upward to more of a modern city and the center of a budding 
metropolitan area.10 

Traffic was still another issue the mayor had to grapple with. By December 
1953 it was obvious that as the city’s business district expanded, more parking 
meters would need to be installed downtown where they never existed before. 
Some business people and customers applauded this action, but others were 
enraged, not yet willing to concede that Las Vegas’ small-town atmosphere 
was yielding to the hustle and bustle of a big city.11 In response, Baker, reflect-
ing the blueprinting style of civil engineers, established a citizen’s panel that 
would study the problems and adopt a planning approach to guide its rec-
ommendations. Their panel’s findings could then be used to help legitimize 
future parking policies that could be embedded in Las Vegas’ first, full-fledged 
master plan, whose creation he strongly supported. In 1954 Baker worked to 
establish a city parking commission of up to nine citizens to analyze down-
town’s snarled traffic.  This group spent months studying traffic and parking 
problems and ultimately proposed a course of action that was hardly popular 
with everyone. The installation of more parking meters in the central city and 
the imposition of a higher charge to pay for it was not well received by all 
merchants nor was the proposal for more on-site parking for stores and offices 
to eliminate street parking and allow more lanes for traffic to use. The com-
mission also urged city leaders to rent more vacant land downtown for park-
ing lots and to begin building a multi-decked, public parking garage. Baker 
in particular defended the group from critics, and in 1955 pushed city com-
missioners to build a five-deck parking garage off Fremont Street and change 
building ordinances to require all new commercial buildings to have on-site 
parking following a strict formula that tied the number of parking spaces to 
the amount of acreage owned. In 1954 Baker courageously pushed for an off-
street parking ordinance that the city desperately needed to maximize space 
in an effort to hold off competing Strip resorts and their spacious parking lots, 
which were siphoning a growing number of customers away from the city’s 
sidewalk-fronting hotels and clubs on and near Fremont Street.12

In addition to parking and traffic improvements, the city also needed to 
clear space for new downtown buildings and facilities to serve a modern, 
growing business district. Having a civil engineer as mayor hardly hurt Las 
Vegas in this regard. In 1953, Baker pushed for a city slum clearance program 
in areas north and south of Fremont Street from Main to Fifth Streets to clear 
the land of old shacks and other dilapidated buildings whose conditions fell 
well below building code standards. Baker faced only token opposition from 
a few owners and business tenants who promised, in desperation and in vain, 
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to bring their structures eventually up to code. Baker’s goal was to create room 
for low-rise apartments that could accommodate hotel-casino workers who 
could not easily commute to their jobs from distant housing. Baker also insist-
ed that “downtown business… get behind the slum clearance movement and 
come up… [with] some plans for development.”13  In the 1950s, Sunbelt cities 
across America were actively bulldozing old neighborhoods to make room for 
convention centers, sports arenas, interstate highways and their downtown 
interchanges, as well as other projects designed to enhance central city land 
values (which incidentally helped increased property tax revenues) and at-
tract more business downtown. 

Of course, the goals of the still small city of Las Vegas were more limited. 
Mayor Baker and city commissioners pushed slum clearance to create space for 
new structures that would reinforce the downtown district’s customer clientele 
with more working families in multi-occupancy dwellings and save the hotels 
and clubs the cost of paying their workers more to commute by car or bus. The 
future routes of Interstate 15 and U.S. 95 were still officially undetermined, 
so room had to be left for the highways but no longer for a convention center 
whose site was already set by 1958, east of the Strip behind the Riviera Hotel. 
Still, Baker’s anticipation of future city needs was not always accurate. For ex-
ample, he steadfastly opposed raising the city’s building height limit in 1953 for 
Al Rose’s Patio Hotel. The mayor justified his position by appealing to aesthet-
ics, contending that a downtown hotel such as Reno’s 12-story Mapes “would 
stand out like a lily in a cabbage patch.”14 He was wrong, of course, and it would 
be later mayors who would change Las Vegas’ ordinances to allow the Union 
Plaza, the Mint, the 34-story Sundance (later Fitzgeralds and now The D), and 
other buildings that gave downtown more of a modern city look.

Throughout Baker’s time as mayor the pains of growth and development 
often sparked tensions between the city and other entities. In 1953, for instance, 
Chamber of Commerce director Ken Frogley charged that in past years Las Ve-
gas officials “did not have enough funds to support the all-important Live Wire 
Fund when it was asked to give the chamber $10,000 a year… to help advertise 
Las Vegas.” Frogley complained that the city had just spent $79,500 for a public 
golf course and wondered aloud in the Las Vegas Sun if the city “with its grow-
ing pains, could use that $79,500 to much better advantage”—especially since 
the private sector had already built “all the golfing facilities we will need for 
many years.” A day later Baker angrily responded that the course would more 
than pay for itself in 15 years. He insisted that a resort and recreational city, un-
like its industrial and commercial counterparts, really needed less expensive 
public golf courses not only to satisfy tourists but to serve residents as well. He 
also noted that giving public funds to the chamber was illegal and suggested 
that chamber officials might better spend their time convincing state legislators 
to amend Las Vegas charter to permit the city to give money to agencies, such as 
the chamber of commerce, that it did not control.15
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Other issues during Baker’s time as mayor were also more metropolitan 
in scope and involved whether the city would expand its borders and annex 
some of the suburbs it had spawned. Unlike Phoenix, San Antonio, and other 
imperialistic cities in the West, 1950s Las Vegas was not looking to annex every 
nearby tract of suburban land that it could. Certainly, it took in new housing 
tracts along its periphery, usually to help residents eliminate cesspools and 
send their kids to a good city school before the 1955 legislature eliminated that 
inducement by creating the Clark County School District. Still, Las Vegas was 
not as land-hungry as Phoenix, San Antonio, and other Sunbelt cities. In July 
1954, for instance, Baker discounted rumors that Las Vegas was looking to an-
nex North Las Vegas. At the time, he could see no reason for doing it, because 
land values in “North Town” were so low, and the cost of supplying it with 
modern infrastructure services was so high. Baker, the engineer and politician, 
could never justify the expense. In later years, however, it became obvious this 
was a major mistake. From the 1960s onward, North Las Vegas grew rapidly 
outward in all directions from its border with Las Vegas. In 2012 North Las 
Vegas became the third largest city in Nevada, after it briefly passed Reno. 
Over the years North Las Vegas snared many new subdivisions and captured 
a larger portion of the metropolitan area north and east of Las Vegas, keeping 
sizable housing tracts away from the central city and Clark County.16 

The county did much the same thing on Las Vegas’ southern border, but dur-
ing Baker’s first term as mayor there was still a possibility of annexing what is 
today considered “the North Strip.” Even after Strip resort owners and residents 
rejected annexation in 1946 and 1951, during Baker’s regime the city continued its 
effort to grab some major resorts and the suburban lands around them. In April 
1953 Las Vegas-based businessmen and city commissioners again pushed the an-
nexation issue when a housing boom around the Thunderbird Hotel (the site of 
today’s Fontainebleau) on Paradise Road raised the question of how to establish 
sewer service for the expected 350 multi-occupancy dwellings and up to 600 sin-
gle-family homes planned by developers to house Strip workers near their jobs. 
Pressure on county officials came from the FHA, which required sewer service 
either from the city or county before it would approve mortgage insurance in the 
area. Former Lieutenant Governor Cliff Jones, a part owner of the Thunderbird 
and a major supporter of 1949 legislation forcing Nevada’s cities to get county 
approval for the annexation of any nearby incorporated townships, was actually 
willing to consider allowing Las Vegas to annex the lands east of his hotel. The 
problem in 1953 was that Clark County barely had enough taxable land to fund its 
own sewer system to serve the Strip resorts and the new suburban subdivisions 
it spawned. But Clark County managed to hold off the city on the sewer service 
front, as the resorts and most other property owners opted to retain their septic 
tanks rather than join the city with its zoning restrictions and higher taxes.17

The sewer issue rose again in the mid-1950s, as resort construction south 
of the Thunderbird put even more pressure on Clark County commissioners. 
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Then, as they prepared to approve construction of the new Casablanca (later re-
named the Riviera) hotel, the question of building sewers to remove wastes once 
again emerged. The county’s first approach was to see if the city would provide 
sewer service to the Strip area—even though it was still in the county. During the 
early 1950s the city agreed to do this using trucks. But the FHA and many resi-
dents wanted the Strip area to connect directly with Las Vegas’ sewer network to 
remove wastes underground. After all, using a modern engineered infrastructure 
was preferable to cleaning septic tanks and cesspools and periodically transporting 
their wastes in trucks to the city’s sewage treatment plant east of town, especially in 
the 100-degree-plus summer weather.18

County commissioners realized the Riviera would not only bring more tourists 
but also more workers, who would need additional FHA-approved housing in the 
area for themselves and their families. Still, many observers felt that Clark County, 
even in 1955, lacked enough taxable wealth to finance these improvements. Coun-
ty commissioners seriously considered urging Mayor Baker and the city commis-
sioners, who in the 1940s and early ‘50s provided fire service for the Strip, to now 
extend it sewer service—even though county commissioners and most Strip area 
residents staunchly opposed joining the city. For their part, however, city leaders 
began to balk at the expense of building sewer lines southward, even if county 
residents paid for most of it. Mayor Baker and his predecessor Ernie Cragin firmly 
believed the Strip and its suburbs should join the city that helped create them; then 
the city would provide sewer connections. For a while Las Vegas transported sew-
age from the Strip area in trucks and processed those wastes at the city’s treatment 
plant, but this was only intended to be temporary. Las Vegas also owned land in 
the county near the Flamingo Hotel, which it had purchased a few years earlier, 
so the city already had a presence on the Strip. In addition, after construction of its 
second sewage plant, Baker knew the city would have more than enough reserve 
capacity to treat the Strip area’s wastes—even with all the new subdivisions on the 
drawing board for that section as well as new sections of the city.

The only long-term solution for keeping the Strip and its suburbs out of the 
city was for Clark County’s commissioners to start forming Sanitary Districts on 
lands beyond the valley’s municipal limits to host a sewer system of its own. None 
of this thinking was lost on Las Vegas’ former city engineer who understood the 
high costs associated with building waste networks. In November 1953 the city 
commission adopted a firm position that Las Vegas would construct no sewer lines 
into the county except for commercial projects or residential subdivisions along its 
municipality’s border, including Strip areas that were willing to be annexed. This 
effectively ended the discussion, forcing county commissioners and residents of the 
various townships along the Strip and the Boulder Highway to begin reaching deep 
into their pockets for the millions of dollars needed to dig trenches into the caliche-
filled desert for the installation of sewer and water lines.  In that same year county 
commissioners also had to establish the Clark County Fire Department after 
the city cut off service to the Strip and its nascent suburbs.19



46 Eugene Moehring

Conflict between city and county flared again in the mid 1950s when Joe 
W. Brown first offered his newly purchased land on Joe Smoot’s old Las Vegas 
Downs racetrack to Las Vegas as a site for a convention center. Even though 
this land was not downtown but south of the city limits on county lands, May-
or Baker, to his credit, immediately supported the idea of building the facility. 
Despite the site’s location, there was still a chance the city might annex it, 
because, as just noted, two years earlier city and county business leaders con-
ducted serious discussions about Las Vegas annexing some of the Strip area 
near the Thunderbird Hotel in return for sewer lines to the municipality’s sew-
age treatment plant. In the end, county commissioners decided to establish 
their own Sanitation District in Paradise and Winchester townships (the Strip 
area) and build their own sewer system, anticipating that Strip resorts and the 
surrounding suburbs they encouraged would only grow over time as would 
their taxable value—an assumption that proved to be correct. The Las Vegas 
Convention Center was another expensive project that the gaming industry, 
the chamber of commerce, and city and county commissioners all wanted. 
The problem was how to pay for it. The obvious option was to float bonds, 
but the chamber of commerce favored private funding, which proved hard to 
come by. At the time, the City of Las Vegas, being well populated, possessed 
the most bonding capacity of any local government.20 

Because of this, Mayor Baker and the city commissioners were determined 
that they should not pay for most of the convention center’s cost, insisting 
instead that Clark County pay its fair share of the bill. They also felt that val-
ley residents should not be burdened with the cost of building the facility; 
visitors should pay for most of it. In a spirit of consensus, city and county 
leaders eventually agreed that only those businesses directly benefited by 
conventions—hotels, casinos, restaurants, and stores—should help defray the 
project’s cost through their license fees. But as the mayor pointed out, county 
license fees were much lower than comparable city fees, and county commis-
sioners had little enthusiasm for raising theirs. Baker therefore reasoned that 
if the city were to contribute more money than the county for the convention 
center, then the city should be allowed to annex it as well as the property around 
it. The land’s increased value, he argued, would soon generate enough reve-
nue to justify the city’s expense. So, he asserted that the city’s southern border 
should be extended outward roughly as far as today’s Wynn resort on Para-
dise Road in return for the city bearing most of the convention center’s cost.  
Presumably, the city would also extend its sewer lines out to the convention 
center and surrounding lands (and maybe even westward to the Riviera and 
Thunderbird hotels) to relieve the county of that responsibility.21

But concerned Clark County commissioners blocked this option by offer-
ing a novel idea of their own to finance the convention center. County Com-
missioner George Albright proposed creating a building fund financed by 
money collected from a 5% hotel and 3% motel room tax levied on Las Ve-
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gas area tourists. In the end, all local governments and the chamber backed 
this proposal. In 1955 the state legislative session had passed a law permitting 
counties with a population in excess of 100,000 people to establish Fair and 
Recreation boards with the power to administer and issue bonds to build con-
vention centers. While city officials were allowed to serve on these convention 
authority boards and influence policymaking, Clark County officials had once 
again met the challenge and fended off Las Vegas’ efforts to annex some of the 
county’s most valuable property in and around the emerging Strip.22 

Conventioneers, like tourists, need to fly if they travel a long way, so air-
port expansion was another major priority for the resort city at midcentury. 
Following the maiden flight of the Boeing 707 in December 1957, city and 
county officials along with prominent hotel operators and other business lead-
ers began discussing the transformation of McCarran Airport into a modern 
jetport by extending its runways and taxiways and building a new terminal 
on Paradise Road. Enlarging the 1948 facility became even more important 
after the arrival of commercial jets made their debut at McCarran in Septem-
ber 1960. From the start Mayor Baker took part in these discussions and en-
thusiastically sought voter approval for the March 8, 1960 bond issue that did 
it—even though his tenure as mayor ended a year earlier.23

Of course, not all of Mayor Baker’s activities revolved around construc-
tion projects. By 1950 gambling was the major force driving Las Vegas tour-
ism, and the city still played a role in gaming’s regulation. While 1945 state 
legislation took most of this responsibility away from municipalities that were 
clearly overtaxed by the burden and gave it to the Nevada Tax Commission, 
the cities still exerted some power over gaming properties. Baker, a pious man 
who was no advocate of spreading the pastime beyond the state’s borders, 
nevertheless recognized that gaming was crucial to Las Vegas’ growth as a 
resort city and was determined there be no improprieties. It should be noted 
that the former state Senate Democrat strongly supported Republican Gover-
nor Charles Russell’s creation of the State Gaming Control Board in 1955 and 
Grant Sawyer’s Gaming Control Commission in 1959. Baker, like other lead-
ers, recognized that the Nevada Tax Commission had enough important work 
to do with property taxes and related issues without being saddled with the 
regulation of what was fast becoming a larger industry.

A year before the state legislative session that created the Gaming Control 
Board, Baker supported legal efforts to protect the investigatory and regula-
tory powers of the Nevada Tax Commission in the Thunderbird Case and 
similar litigation.  Unlike some, the mayor wanted no part of returning the 
power to grant gaming licenses to the cities—even though many of Las Vegas’ 
major casino owners, including mob figures, wanted to deny state authorities 
this authority. Baker resented the presence of mob figures in the city and on 
the Strip. Though he generally got along with them, he realized that the key to 
Las Vegas’ future popularity and protection from Bible Belt demagogues such 
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as Tennessee Senator Estes Kefauver was to keep Nevada gaming as clean as 
possible.24 At this time, the reform-minded Las Vegas Sun, shared this view 
much more than the Review-Journal. The Democrat Baker and Las Vegas Sun 
publisher and Republican Hank Greenspun were not only drawn to each oth-
er by their mutual dislike of Senator Pat McCarran, but also by their concern 
over the mob’s presence in so many resorts and clubs in the Las Vegas area.

Determined that gaming industry people follow the law and do nothing 
to tarnish Las Vegas’ already maverick image, Baker adopted a strict approach 
to hotel-casinos, clubs, and sports books. Any deviation from municipal or 
state regulations usually resulted in immediate action by the mayor. In 1954, 
for instance, Baker moved quickly to close the California Club when he was 
alerted that Golden Nugget part-owner Guy McAfee had acquired an interest 
in the California Club, but his name was not on the property’s gaming license.  
A short time later he even ordered the Saratoga Sports Book closed after the 
owner tried to install a coffee machine for patrons despite the city’s strict ban 
on “concessions” in any sports book.25

Given Baker’s strong leadership and long list of accomplishments, one 
might expect his easy re-election. But conservative critics, like many residents, 
while applauding the city’s economic growth and hotel-casino development, 
resented the municipality’s increased taxes, fees, and assessments for which 
they held Baker chiefly responsible. As the mayor approached his spring 1955 
re-election bid, former Clark County Commission chair and perennial political 
gadfly George Franklin entered the race and appealed to conservative busi-
nessmen and residents who objected to the city’s perennially torn-up street 
system, overspending, and “high taxes.” The campaign somewhat resembled 
the 1939 mayoral contest where Baker pushed to carry on the city’s ambitious 
New Deal agenda of public works but lost to fiscal conservative John Russell, 
who reflected the anti-Roosevelt sentiment of the late 1930s. Now, in the more 
current spirit of President Dwight Eisenhower and Senator Robert Taft (R-
Ohio), Franklin declared: “There has not been a time in Mayor Baker’s tenure 
that someone or other main arterial road or street in the city has not been torn 
up and traffic disrupted to the extent that some small businessmen have been 
forced to the wall and larger business materially injured.” Franklin went so 
far as to accuse the mayor of a “lack of coordination on public improvements” 
and then promised to institute “a long range, integrated program of public 
improvements so that there is not a constant, continuous tearing up of streets 
and of digging and re-digging.” To be sure, this was one of the many pipe 
dreams that Franklin had during his long public career. Even today, Las Vegas 
area streets in all directions are covered with miles of “red cones” blocking 
off dug-up surfaces and narrowing traffic to one or two lanes—always in the 
interest of progress.26 

Even more politically threatening, however, was Franklin’s charge that 
Baker’s administration had pushed taxes up. Franklin insisted that it was 
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“mandatory” that local governments practice “economy” in the wake of the 
1955 legislature raising property taxes, imposing a sales tax, and expanding 
bonding power to pay for reforms and more schools in the newly created Clark 
County School District. In response to this, Baker directed a furious attack not 
only against Franklin but also against contractors whose street improvement 
projects were slowing traffic unnecessarily. This was particularly true of the wa-
ter district and its main contractor, Fisher Construction. But as the mayor and 
angry residents soon learned, not all of the old Union Pacific mains were easily 
found underground, which delayed efforts to replace them with modern equip-
ment. For the most part, however, Baker took a largely positive approach dur-
ing the campaign and dwelt heavily on his accomplishments, especially in the 
area of public works. In a 1955 paid advertisement for his re-election, the mayor 
boasted that in his first term as mayor he increased: paved streets from 104 to 
180 miles; street lights from 750 to 2,200; sidewalks from 38-100 miles; sewers 
from 60-122 miles, and parks and playgrounds from 132 to 292 acres. Some of 
these public works projects were in the new and rapidly expanding suburbs as 
well as in the older, more neglected parts of town. As a civil engineer, realtor, 
and mayor he realized the city’s growing population had to be serviced corre-
spondingly by public works if land values were to appreciate for homeowners. 
This also meant more property tax revenue for the city to maintain an aggressive 
public works program that kept pace with urbanization.27

As it turned out, Baker’s concerns mattered little on Election Day when 
voters awarded him a second term. Part of his campaign rhetoric voiced sup-
port for the city’s first master plan to guide zoning measures and other policy 
decisions aimed at promoting growth and preparing for its consequences. 
Even before the election it was clear that the emerging metropolitan area’s 
central city needed a master plan. With the appearance of so many new hotels 
on the Strip and downtown, by 1954 the pace of urban growth had accelerated 
to the point where Baker and city commissioners had to halt building permits 
for new stores and houses until the planning and street coordination process 
caught up. At this time, there were already $1 million in “public improve-
ments” underway, including the extension of Maryland Parkway from Circle 
Park at Charleston Boulevard to Oakey Boulevard, site of the new Bishop Gor-
man Catholic high school. This area was part of the 1950s march of progress 
southward to lands that would form the city’s eastern suburbs, crossing the 
city line at Sahara Avenue. Eventually, Maryland Parkway would be paved all 
the way to the metropolitan area’s new 1957 college campus (today’s UNLV) 
and beyond to McCarran Airport’s fence. Everywhere in the eastern sections 
of the county and city development was underway. As city public works di-
rector George Wade told a Soroptimist Club luncheon in 1955, 28 new hous-
ing tracts covering 588 acres were currently in the planning stages. Wade pre-
dicted that Las Vegas’ population, which barely totaled 25,000 in 1950, would 
surpass 80,000 by the next census.28
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Baker, who as city engineer during the New Deal public works helped blue-
print the system of streets and sewers downtown, worked as mayor to draw up 
the city’s first master plan to guide development in the late 1950s and 1960s. The 
preliminary 1955 plan that he and city commissioners expanded during his sec-
ond term into a more comprehensive plan (published in 1959) imitated efforts in 
Dallas, Phoenix, and other sunbelt cities during the postwar years to identify and 
clear blighted slum areas to create more space downtown for freeways, convention 
centers, and commerce. Though Las Vegas never got the valley’s main convention 
center and while much of the big office buildings and business centers it expected 
ultimately sprouted in the county’s Strip suburbs, the master plan was a useful 
guide for development until more dramatic population growth and resort expan-
sion forced coordinated valley-wide master planning in the 1970s and ‘80s. Still, the 
1959 document quite properly anticipated congressional approval of the Interstate 
Highway Act of 1956 and planned for at least three and maybe four interchanges 
on the interstate highway within the city as well as a metropolitan expressway that 
later became U.S. 95.29

Las Vegas’ master plan listed not Los Angeles, but Pasadena, Whittier, Fresno, 
Sacramento, and even Beverly Hills as cities whose population densities and other 
traits Las Vegas compared to itself. The master plan prioritized the need to reserve 
more space for schools, as valley-wide student enrollment in the newly-created 
Clark County School District passed 15,000 and continued to soar in response to 
the metropolitan area’s growing number of jobs and people. But while there was 
consideration of other needs such as parks, recreation, and housing, it was streets, 
roads, and traffic flow were the major concerns the plan addressed.30

Noting that “both sides of the mainline railroad tracks were planned and in-
stalled at a time when the full potential and the expansion of the community could 
not be fully realized” and that train traffic was impeding motor vehicle movement 
on Charleston Boulevard and other big east-west thoroughfares, the master plan 
called for “grade separation” for all of these current and future arteries. This was in 
response to widespread public sentiment on the issue, perhaps best expressed by 
Las Vegas Sun publisher Hank Greenspun, who highlighted the need to build more 
underpasses below the railroad tracks to ”knit the town more firmly together as it 
began to develop a west end that would soon match the size of Senator [William] 
Clark’s east end.” Las Vegans did not want to duplicate the situation Reno expe-
rienced downtown with trains daily slowing traffic along its north-south arteries. 
Moreover, the master plan, while certainly welcoming the impending construction 
of the new ”Interstate freeway” on today’s I-15 route along the city’s western pe-
riphery, reiterated that this highway could also block cross-town traffic if under-
passes and overpasses were not built for all main drags in the city. 31 However, the 
plan also indicated that the path for the as-yet un-built “San Francisco freeway” 
(today’s U. S. 95) would not run along its present-day route north of downtown and 
through the city but rather along Sahara Avenue on the edge of the city—where Las 
Vegas met the emerging Strip. Only in later years was this route changed.
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Baker and city commissioners also made sure the plan mentioned the city’s 
need to annex developed lands beyond its borders “to alleviate the problems of 
conflicting and overlapping jurisdictions… [and] where the city can furnish urban 
services more economically than other jurisdictions.” Citing this concern, city offi-
cials later pushed for a 1968 consultant’s report that recommended annexation of 
the Strip hotels and various townships lying east and west of the resorts on county 
land. Las Vegas officials did not give up their effort to annex these valuable lands 
until 1978 when county voters overwhelmingly rejected annexation by a wide 
margin. Finally in the 1980s, as the Strip suburbs surged past the city’s population 
by many thousands of people, the danger of annexation ended forever.32

Another problem mentioned in the master plan was flood control, an is-
sue that the engineer mayor regarded as a threat that had to be addressed, 
especially after disastrous floods inundated city streets and some homes and 
businesses in 1955 and 1959. In that latter year Baker joined with other city 
and county officials to convince the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to study the 
problem. Efforts by U. S. Senator (and former Nevada State Engineer) George 
“Molly” Malone and later Howard Cannon finally brought army engineers to 
town in the late 1950s to study the problem, and they drafted plans to chan-
nel flood waters. In addition, now-former Mayor Baker supported creation 
of the Clark County Flood Control District in 1961. However, Las Vegas area 
voters rejected a bond issue to build a flood control system. At that time, too 
many other bond issues were more important to them, including those for 
schools, streets, sewers, and airport expansion. In the 1960s the metropolitan 
population had not yet sprawled far enough outward to cross major washes 
and put buildings not yet built and residents not yet present in widespread 
danger. They would not be there until the mid-1980s when a valley-wide effort 
to build miles of flood control channels became an absolute necessity. In 1986, 
voters approved creation of the Clark County Regional Flood Control District 
to fund a 30-year effort to network the metropolitan area with an elaborate 
flood control system far beyond anything the Army Corps had proposed.33 

The emphasis on better planning came just in time, because the arrival of            
more hotel-casinos downtown and casino resorts on the Strip filled the city of 
Las Vegas with more residents who preferred living in a place with municipal 
services, stores, and churches rather than the snake-filled, tumbleweed sub-
urbs sprouting hither and yon on county lands east and west of the Strip. The 
City of Las Vegas’ budget for 1955 was the highest ever at $2,880,000.  With a 
growing population to serve but also with a correspondingly higher tax base, 
Mayor Baker supported dozens of public works projects to serve new resi-
dents and divert them from living in the county.  By the mid-1950s road proj-
ects employed over 500 men, much to the dismay of conservatives and those 
residents frustrated by torn-up streets.34

The pressure constantly mounted on Baker and liberal city commissioners 
to cut back on spending. Aggressive city managers were a favorite target of fis-
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cal reformers, and few lasted very long if their agendas were overly expensive 
or wasteful. Witness the case of George Rounthwaite, a person who the mayor 
highly respected. Rounthwaite’s planned renovation of an aging City Hall that 
really needed to be replaced with a modern building only antagonized con-
servative city commissioners, who also criticized his installation of modern 
air conditioning refrigeration units in the old building rather than cheaper 
evaporative coolers. In the end, Rounthwaite was replaced by longtime police 
commissioner A.H. Kennedy, who hardly qualified for the city manager job 
in a fast-growing place like Las Vegas, but was a longtime subordinate that 
everyone, including fiscal conservatives, liked.35

Another target was the relatively new post of assistant mayor, a position 
that Baker needed and strongly defended. By March 1958 it was obvious to 
Assistant Mayor Robert Notti that the city commission would soon abolish 
his job, since tourism and the national economy were both suffering a down-
turn at the time. The former Assistant Manager of Titanium Metals, Notti, had 
held his city position since spring 1954. Pressuring Baker to abolish Notti’s of-
fice was conservative city commissioner Wendell Bunker, who would run for 
mayor in 1959 but lose to Oran Gragson. In 1958 Bunker denounced what he 
considered excessive city spending, which he intended to reign in by forming 
a “county taxpayers’ association” similar to the Las Vegas Taxpayers’ Associa-
tion that brought John Russell to power in 1939 and helped oust 3-term mayor 
Ernie Cragin. Russell had taken aim at supposed overspending by Mayors 
Ernie Cragin (1931-35; 1943-51) and Leonard Arnett (1935-38) Now, in the late 
1950s Bunker set his sights on Baker. Like his predecessors, Baker criticized the 
effort by conservatives to cut spending despite rapid population growth and 
Las Vegas’ need to provide services to new neighborhoods and modernize the 
city to attract more businesses and residents.36

Baker understood how much conservative businessmen and utility execu-
tives benefited from growth and resented their failure to promote the process. 

Street contractors, the water district, the gas company, and others all in-
curred the mayor’s wrath on occasion. This also included the Southern Nevada 
Telephone Company, which came under intense scrutiny by Baker and the city 
for its endless delay in getting rid of 4-party lines, installing dial phones, and 
stringing lines into new neighborhoods. Fearing the possible loss of its status 
as the region’s lone telephone utility, company executives promised to equip 
City Hall with its long awaited, new switchboard within four months and to 
establish private one-party lines in all new suburbs by early 1956. The utility 
had already begun putting in dial phones, which particularly pleased city and 
Strip hotel executives, who were fed up with tourists and other visitors trying 
to make room, dinner, and show reservations on 4-party lines. So, with execu-
tive assurances and the progress already underway, Baker backed off for a 
while and gave the phone company time to fulfill its promises. Despite some 
more delays and resident complaints, service slowly improved.37
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Mayor Baker had many strengths as a leader, especially in the area of pub-
lic works and planning, but he also had weaknesses. Indeed, while Baker was 
a positive force for modernizing Las Vegas with public works improvements 
for commercial and residential streets, as well as building a modern water sys-
tem, a convention center, and a jetport to accommodate growth, he was hostile 
toward extending full civil rights to racial minorities and women. In 1958, 
for example, the mayor and city commissioners passed an ordinance banning 
women dealers from working in any casino in the city. As a result, women 
remained in the so-called “girls’ ghetto” of keno-running and cocktail wait-
ressing for the next decade. This policy was mostly pushed by male dealers, 
many of whom were regular voters and fearful that attractive female dealers 
would earn more tips, draw more players to their tables, and ultimately cost a 
lot of men their jobs.  The law was not changed until 1971 when influential ca-
sino magnate Sam Boyd insisted on the right to hire female dealers at his new 
Union Plaza Hotel at the head of Fremont Street, and Mayor Oran Gragson 
(1959-75) got the law changed.38

Regarding the emerging civil rights movement and Las Vegas’ African 
American Westside community, Baker’s record was mixed. In March 1954 
he approved construction of the Moulin Rouge Hotel, despite its location on 
Highland Avenue, far from the Westside’s red-line district for casino gam-
bling. Local white residents were furious. Bonanza Village residents opposed 
a big, 250-room hotel so close to their homes. But their protests were to no 
avail. The resort opened with much hoopla, and while not technically in the 
Westside, the short-lived Moulin Rouge provided many low-paying jobs for 
African American workers.39

Baker also championed a general improvement of Westside streets to 
match a similar effort of his in the white areas of town. This had been de-
layed for years, because low land values in this poor section could not gener-
ate enough revenue in local assessments to pay for the work. Baker, however, 
pushed the project anyway. In February 1956 the city began spending $2 mil-
lion in bonds for sewers, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and streetlights in several 
new and existing neighborhoods. This was all part of his effort to modernize 
the city’s infrastructure and raise land values as well as property revenues. 
This February project antedated the construction of Interstate 15 and came even 
before congressional passage of the Interstate Highway Act later that year in 
June. The Westside’s improvement had been discussed as early as 1954 and 
was a Baker priority.40 But the master plan adopted by the city commission 
in 1955 contained Baker’s vision of the freeway passing west of the railroad 
tracks through the eastern part of the African American neighborhood. How-
ever, there is no evidence of an official deal being made to improve the West-
side as suggested by some historians, or to construct a D Street interchange 
in return for the loss of many Westside homes to the freeway project. That all 
came later when the interstate program was organized and engineers began 
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considering route options in the late 1950s and early ‘60s. Interstate 15 finally 
arrived at Sahara Avenue in 1966, but did not reach the Westside and down-
town until 1970-71.41 

Dozens of black homes were ultimately destroyed to make room for In-
terstate 15, but the blame does not solely fall on Baker. His successor, Oran 
Gragson, also championed the freeway’s Westside route—as did most white 
businessmen and residents. Even more damaging, however, was the city’s 
Jim Crow approach to public accommodations, jobs, and residency. Not sur-
prisingly, in the 1950s Las Vegas and its leaders supported segregation in an 
effort to please the city’s predominantly white tourists.42 For his part, Baker 
actively opposed efforts to ease racial discrimination in Las Vegas by enacting 
civil rights ordinances. Baker, a native of Indiana—a state populated heavily 
by southerners and long a bastion of Jim Crow, typified the views of many 
mid-century, white middle class Americans as did then-Las Vegas City At-
torney and later U.S. Senator Howard Cannon—who, as a Lyndon Johnson 
supporter, would later embrace civil rights reform in the 1960s and ‘70s. In 
the 1950s, however, Cannon, like most Democrats, had not yet undergone his 
political epiphany on civil rights. After researching the issue, the city attorney 
advised Baker and other officials that the courts would most likely void a mu-
nicipal civil rights ordinance banning racial discrimination in public places.43 
This was hardly a disappointment for Baker and his associates, because Las 
Vegas businesses and especially Fremont Street clubs, restaurants, and casino 
resorts largely mirrored the Jim Crow practices of white America in the mid-
1950s. In those days Democrats such as Baker and Cannon differed little from 
Republicans on the race issue. 

So, when the Las Vegas chapter of the NAACP petitioned for a local civil 
rights law opening public accommodations to all races—in the absence of any 
state or federal action—Baker flatly refused to support it, citing Cannon’s opin-
ion and his own view that “Social equality cannot be legislated.” Then, refer-
ring specifically to the NAACP’s denunciation of Jim Crow practices at Strip 
and downtown resorts, clubs, restaurants, and stores, Baker asserted that “the 
right to refuse service is an inherent right.” Beginning in 1954, the steadfast 
position of Baker and other local leaders certainly played a role in convincing 
national NAACP’s leaders to urge all groups and associations to boycott Las 
Vegas as a convention destination and hold their meetings elsewhere until city 
officials formally outlawed all Jim Crow practices. This would not occur until 
the mid-1960s when support of civil rights became more popular nationally, 
and resort cities like Las Vegas and Reno felt it was now safe to embrace an 
end to racial discrimination.44

At the end of the 1950s Baker was looking to become Nevada’s next gover-
nor and considered his mayoral accomplishments a clear manifestation of his 
leadership and other qualifications for higher office. In 1955 he had rejected 
suggestions that he run against fellow Democrat Alan Bible for his U.S. Senate 
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seat, and also declined invitations to oppose Republican Governor Charles 
Russell’s bid for a second term. But in 1958 he was ready to run for governor. 
Besides noting his leadership positions in such community clubs as the Elks, 
Eagles, Kiwanis, and Veterans of Foreign Wars, as well as his accomplishments 
in the state legislature and as mayor, Baker touted his time as city engineer 
building streets, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, sewers, and water lines across the 
city. His campaign literature reminded voters that he had served as “The de-
signing engineer in charge of the many subdivisions constructed in Las Vegas 
in the 1930s” during the New Deal and in the immediate postwar years. As 
Clark County’s state senator he not only introduced the bill that created the 
Las Vegas Valley Water District, but also the one to classify city fire and po-
lice positions as civil service, in addition to other initiatives that benefited the 
three cities as well as the county.45 

In the end, Baker’s campaign efforts were in vain. Grant Sawyer, the young 
Elko County district attorney, was a more attractive candidate in 1958 to Ne-
vada Democrats. His more enthusiastic support for and record on civil rights, 
his push for a state gaming commission, and other popular initiatives won 
him his party’s nomination. In the 1960s Baker was still a prominent figure 
in the state’s Democratic Party, campaigning for the Kennedy-Johnson ticket, 
and endorsing the re-election efforts of Senators Alan Bible and Howard Can-
non, as well as several public works bond issues sponsored by the city and 
water district. But his days as an elected public servant were over.

Baker retired from his business in the late 1960s and died in 1972. Lo-
cal newspapers were quick to praise his contributions. The Las Vegas Review-
Journal observed how as mayor he “doubled the miles of paving and sewer 
lines in the city,” and while “sometimes citizens grumbled because the streets 
were torn up, …Baker pushed through one project after another for the benefit 
of all Las Vegans.” Another columnist portrayed him as “the right man at the 
right place at the right time.” Finally, Hank Greenspun, a major Nevada Re-
publican, lauded Baker for guiding “the city through a crucial boom period, 
insuring through his leadership that development was orderly.”46

Obviously, C. D. Baker was no visionary liberal when it came to civil rights. 
But he was an excellent mayor when it came to spending the money necessary 
to modernize the city’s infrastructure to accommodate the rapid growth that 
Las Vegas feverishly sought. Baker worked to get the Las Vegas Valley Wa-
ter District created in the 1947 state legislative session, and, as mayor, cham-
pioned the McCarran jetport, the construction of a large convention center, 
and the routing of Interstate 15 through, rather than around, the metropolitan 
area. Baker clearly possessed a metropolitan vision and approach, supporting 
efforts to transform the old army gunnery school into Nellis Air Force Base 
and the old magnesium factory into a chemical complex. He engaged in fund-
raising to help the nascent city of Henderson and willingly shared some ca-
pacity from his city’ sewage treatment plants with the nearby and poorer city 
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of North Las Vegas, as well as with some Strip resorts in the county. Baker’s 
public works agenda and his willingness to fight fiscal conservatives to spend 
the millions necessary to fund urban projects were crucial to Las Vegas’ mid-
century growth. These and other actions helped establish a solid foundation 
for the kind of aggressive and innovative thinking that would promote even 
faster growth into the next century.

C. D. Baker’s career offers an insightful plumb line into the political vortex 
of issues Las Vegas-area leaders had to address at mid-century if they were 
to transform their valley into a sprawling metropolitan area by the 1980s and 
‘90s. As mayor, Baker played a dynamic role in this process. Perhaps one writ-
er summarized it best, characterizing him as a man who “came to Las Vegas as 
a teacher and remained for half a century to help make a metropolis of what 
in 1922 was only a railroad division point with 2,000 population” seemingly 
destined for oblivion.47
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Nevada's women had been enfranchised for less than three years when 
America went to war in the spring of 1917 and were only beginning to assume 
a role in civic affairs. When war came, they took up the cause on the home 
front, seeing their men off, sewing bandages and surgical dressings, making 
clothing for French and Belgian refugees, conserving food, dealing with fuel 
shortages, and, in the case of Tonopah's women, funding an ambulance for 
the warfront in France and Belgium, all the while caring for house, home, 
husbands, and children.

In Tonopah, women had been involved with their community since 
1900, the year of Jim Butler’s fabled discovery of the silver lode which led 
to the development of the mining economy, a tradition which continued as 
the women faced one crisis after another during the war. Among those who 
took a leading part on the home front was Marjorie Moore Brown, the wife 
of the attorney Hugh Henry Brown; she had been a pioneer since she and 
her husband of six days stepped off the Sodaville stage on the evening of 
February 24, 1904. She was instrumental in the founding of the Tonopah Free 

Sisters All
Tonopah’s Women Go to War, 1914-1918

Phillip I. Earl

Phillip I. Earl, M.A. is an author and Curator of History, Emeritus from the Nevada 
Historical Society. He received his M.A. degree in history from the University of 
Nevada, Reno. His thesis was focused in Nevada history, “Sagebrush Volunteers: 
Nevadans in the Spanish-American War and the Philippine Insurrection, 1898-
1900,”and was the first of more than 400 publications to his credit in the forms of 
books, articles, and book reviews over the course of his impressive career.  He has 
also taught in the fields of American history and government at many institutions 
including Reno High School, Truckee Meadows Community College and the 
University of Nevada, Reno.



60 Phillip I. Earl

Public Library and took a leading part in the Woman Suffrage Crusade in her 
section of the state during 1912-14. Her years in the high desert camp were the 
later focus of her memoir, Lady in Boomtown: Miners and Manners on the Nevada 
Frontier, a lively chronicle of life as it was at that time.1

President Woodrow Wilson issued a formal Proclamation of Neutrality 
on August 18, 1914, as Europe went to war, urging the American people 
to be "impartial in thought as well as action," and America maintained a 
precarious neutrality for the next three years, but the citizens of Tonopah 
were involved from the first days. In October 1912, a contingent of young 
Serbians and Montenegrans left for the Balkan Wars, while those remaining 
behind organized a local chapter of the Serbian Red Cross to raise funds for 
civilian relief and hospital services at the front. Officials of Tonopah's Young 
Men's Serbian Society had organized the recruiting drive and put on a parade 
and public sendoff at the Tonopah & Goldfield depot. Wives and sweethearts 
grieved, but history makes no mention of them.2

In January 1916, the citizens of Tonopah contributed to a relief fund for 
the Jews of Poland organized by the American Jewish Committee of New 
York City. Three months later, Mrs. Sydney Moore, Marjorie Brown's sister-in-
law, headed a drive to raise funds for the American Fund to Assist the French 
Wounded. She and other Tonopah women also collected sheets, pillowcases, 
and pajamas to be forwarded to the organization's San Francisco headquarters. 
She also interested several housewives in making bandages and absorbent 
dressings for the American Red Cross. On July 12, the women put on a dance 
at the Airdome for the families of Irish separatists jailed by British authorities 
for their part in the recent Easter Rebellion in Dublin.3

Hugh Brown had meanwhile joined the League to Enforce Peace, a national 
organization founded by Americans who sought a role in world affairs for their 
country. He and Marjorie attended the first annual convention in Washington, 
D.C. in May 1916, and he delivered an address on world peace to the members 
of the Nevada State Legislature in Carson City on February 13, 1917.4

Marjorie Brown had become the president of the Nevada chapter of 
the Fatherless Children of France, an organization devoted to the welfare of 
French orphans; they raised money in Tonopah to "adopt" Madeline Didat, a 
two-year-old Paris girl whose father had been killed at Verdun. On February 
14, the day after Hugh's speech at the Legislature, Majorie spoke to the women 
of Carson's Leisure Hour Club about French widows and their children. Hugh 
had legal business in Lovelock and Marjorie spoke to the Women's Civic 
Improvement Club on February 17, raising $75, the cost of two years care for 
"The Lovelock Baby," as the child they had decided to support was referred to 
in the local press. John T. Reid, a Lovelock citizen, learned of her efforts, and 
wrote a check to purchase sixty pairs of shoes to be sent to her orphans.5

Marjorie continued her work in other communities, speaking to Reno's 
Twentieth Century Club during a trip through town on March 11, informing the 
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women that $2.00 a month would support one widow, and $73 would support 
a child for two years. Within three months, women in other communities came 
forward, and some eighteen children were being supported by early summer. 
Individuals were also sending money under the auspices of the Red Cross, 
and the Reno Evening Gazette of June 15 noted that a Tonopah matron had 
received a postal card from the mother of a French baby informing her that the 
child was in good health and expressing her gratitude.6

On April 11, 1917, five days after America signed the Declaration of 
War, Tonopah civic leaders staged a Loyalty Day parade. The members of 
the Tonopah Women's Relief Corps marched that day, as did children who 
carried patriotic streamers hastily sewed up by their mothers. The Pythian 
Sisters, the Rebeccas, and the members of the Tonopah Women's Club were 
also represented, as were members of the German community, a handful of 
citizens from the African-American populace, and a few Indians who stepped 
off the curb as the parade passed.7

Food conservation was an issue from the outset, ·and Secretary of the 
Interior Franklin Lane urged womens' club leaders to organize "Lend-a-
Hand-to-Wilson-Leagues" to raise garden crops, can foods for off seasons, and 
teach their children to raise chickens and rabbits. There were other matters as 
well. Editor William Booth of the Tonopah Bonanza took note of the women in 
England, France, and Italy working in hospitals near the front, suggesting that 
the women of Tonopah become involved in the Red Cross campaign to provide 
hospital supplies, bandages, and surgical garments to be sent to Europe.8

On April 19, several young men who would soon be subject to military 
conscription organized "Patriotic Night" at the Airdome. Father Jerome Diss of 
St. Patrick's Church opened with “The Star Spangled Banner,” Lenore Hanby 
offered up her own piece, “Wake Up America,” and J. J. Degan ended the 
evening with “Columbia, the Gem of the Ocean.” Miss Gertrude Rippingham 
appeared in a theatrical production,"Spirit of Preparadness," featuring a Mrs. 
Swasey as an American mother who responded to an appeal for her support of 
her son's desire to enlist. Reverend Harlan Bailey portrayed Uncle Sam, and Jack 
Smith, Tonopah's U.S. Army recruiter, appeared in uniform. Professor William 
Young's orchestra backed up the musical presentations and played for dancing 
later in the evening.9 The women were soon involved more directly. On April 
27, Dr. Anne DeChene, an ear, nose, and throat specialist practicing in Tonopah, 
offered a lesson in bandage rolling at a whist party held in her home. Next day, 
Alice Dumont and Portia Hatfield entertained the Tonopah Women's Club, 
playing "military whist," a new variant on the traditional card game.10

The continuing rise in food prices and charges that speculators were 
distorting the market continued to be featured in the press. Food waste was 
also an issue, and U.S. Department of Agriculture officials began sending out 
weekly editions of the Food Waste Bulletin to local editors. The Tonopah Bonanza 
and the Daily Times carried excerpts almost daily and the Daily Times of May 
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8 featured an editorial cartoon depicting Uncle Sam crushing speculators and 
those who wasted food under the heel of his boot.11

On August 1, President Wilson signed the Lever Food and Fuel Act, 
appointing Herbert Clark Hoover as director of the U.S. Food Administration 
and Harry A. Garfield as head of the U.S. Fuel Administration. Hoover's staff 
was to become involved in price fixing, consumer education, production 
controls, conservation, and export quotas, but the Fuel Administration was 
less successful and fuel shortages plagued the country for the duration of 
the war.12

Mrs. Helen Richardson Grigsby, wife of Dr. Edward S. Grigsby, became 
the chair of the executive committee of the Ladies' Liberty Loan Committee on 
June 2. Assisted by Mrs. Odessa Davenport, publicity, and Mrs. Letson Balliet, 
secretary, the women were an integral part of the First Liberty Loan Campaign 
which raised $525,800, a figure exceeding that of any other Nevada county.13

The Tonopah chapter of the American Red Cross had been organized 
on May 19, with Hugh Brown presiding at a fundraising rally on May 21. 
Mrs. Lenore Hanby again offered up "Wake Up America" that evening as well 
as "Boom Boom," written by her for that occasion. Marjorie Brown and Dr. 
DeChene were elected to the Executive Committee and some 700 Tonopah 
citizens had filled out membership applications by May 23. A bandage and 
surgical dressing project was decided upon as the initial endeavor, and 
quarters were taken downtown at Kind's Furniture Store with Mrs. J. W. 
Sherwin in charge.14

Tonopah's younger set were also becoming involved on the homefront: 
twenty-four small girls dressed in white lead the flag drill at the Airdome 
on Flag Day, June 14, and the Girls High School Quartet sang "America the 
Beautiful!'15

Helen Grigsby convened the initial meeting of the Women's Auxiliary to 
the Red Cross on June 25, and the women joined their sisters of the Women's 
Relief Corps at the Airdome in sponsoring a blackface minstrel and music 
show on June 25 and 26 to raise funds for military families in the community. 
Mrs. Hanby again appeared, and two shows, "The Cabaret Minstrels," and 
"The Cannibal Isle," were staged the first night and "The Gamblers," a comedy, 
was performed the second evening.16

Thirty-four Tonopah women completed a first-aid class taught by Dr. 
Grigsby and personnel of the U.S. Bureau of Mines Rescue Car team on June 
2. The Liberty Loan and other war-related activities took up the remainder 
of the month, but Helen Grigsby found time to pursue the purchase of an 
ambulance to be sent to the front in France. She contacted officials of the 
American Field Ambulance Service in New York City and broached the 
idea at a gathering of the Red Cross Auxiliary on July 2, suggesting that the 
women needed some “concrete object” or “centralized interest” if they were 
to remain involved in the war effort. She then proposed that the auxiliary be 
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reconstituted, suggesting that the name Tonopah Ambulance Regiment be 
adopted. Explaining the need for transportation on the battlefield, she offered 
some thoughts on raising funds, the organization of childrens’ groups, drills, 
ceremonies, regimental colors, a flag and a mascot. The matter of continuing 
the work of the Red Cross came up, and the women went on record as being 
willing to do whatever they could. Mrs. Sherwin, the matron of the Red Cross 
sewing room, did not accept this pledge, but Mrs. Grigsby prevailed. As the 
meeting broke up, the women stood and filed by the speaker’s table, each in 
turn gently touching the folded American flag and reverently laying a hand on 
the Bible as a sign of allegiance to God and country.17

Mrs. Grigsby rented office space at the Richards Mercantile Building and 
appointed other members to plan an opening reception. At a second meeting 
at the Butler Theatre on July 5, Sergeant Frank Kayle spoke on the need for 
ambulances at the front, and Mrs. Grigsby addressed those youngsters who 
turned out as to what they could do to assist the ambulance campaign. Several 
women involved in Red Cross work turned in their money and checks and 
other Red Cross projects were discussed.18 At a meeting at the headquarters 
on July 9, Mrs. Harry Atkinson, the wife of Nye county’s district attorney, 
agreed to chair the reception committee, Mrs. Jesse Simmons became the head 
of the entertainment committee, and Mrs. Odessa Davenport volunteered to 
take care of the refreshments.  Mrs. Paul Revert assumed the publicity post 
and Mrs. Ann Kirchen, the wife of John G. Kirchen of the Tonopah Mining 
Company, offered to provide green silk, and gold edging for a regimental 
flag. Miss Dorothy Tregloan then spoke up about the ambulance banks she 
had designed which were being fabricated out of cyanide canisters; these 
would be available for sale at the reception and were being distributed to 
downtown merchants. Mrs. Grigsby also showed the design of a Tonopah 
Ambulance Regiment button which was being ordered from a San Francisco 
novelty company.19

Tonopah High School students who had become members of the Tonopah 
Ambulance Regiment had already selected their officers when they held an 
organizational meeting on July 18. Mrs. Grigsby informed the women in 
attendance that a special “T.A.R. punch” would be served at the reception, 
and that she had designed a monogram which was being handpainted on 
napkins by Mrs. Arthur Neth. Miss Alice Dumont, Mrs. S. M. B. Wheeler, 
Mrs. Gadora Horton, Mrs. M. C. Corson and Mrs. B. M. Carter were to 
preside over the tea table, and the entertainment features were carried in the 
newspapers of July 20. Julius Goldsmith was slated to play a violin solo, his 
wife was to offer a piano piece, and vocal selections were to be performed by 
Mrs. Arthur Neth, Mrs. S. S. Errett and Mrs. George Dase. Mrs. Zeb Kendall, 
a vocalist, Mrs. Letson Balliet, pianist, and singer James J. Degan appeared 
on the day of the reception, July 21, which was considered the highlight of 
the summer social season.20
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Mrs. Grigsby had meanwhile learned that there were no ambulances 
available and no space aboard ships for the vehicles, but she let the women 
know that any monies raised would be used in some manner to further the war 
effort. She was also writing a history of the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment, as 
a well as a prayer, and a song which was later set to music by Dorothy Marette 
and arranged by Herman Albert:

The Call of the Ambulance

From the hills of old Nevada
Where the silver bullion grows,
Comes this ambulance to succor
Those sore wounded by our foes.
On our banner waves our motto,
“Tis to Know, To Will, To Dare,”
Therefore thru the thickest fighting
We shall give our soldiers care.
CHORUS
Hurry up, hurry up to the poor wounded man,
Yes, we are corning, yes, we are coming
Just as fast as we can;
When you hear the toot of that big auto car,
You’ll know ‘tis our ambulance, from Tonopah afar.
Don’t you hear our engines chugging?
Don’t you see our colors wave?
Bringing comfort to the wounded,
To the soldier grand and brave.
And above us waves Old Glory,
Bidding us to keep it there,
And we bow our heads in silence
For our Father’s loving care.
And when the war is over
And the awful debt is paid,
We shall love our boys so dearly
For the sacrifice they made.
And we know our land shall blossom
Like a garden after rain,
Because of that closer brotherhood
Which humanity shall gain.21

Marjorie Brown was also trying her hand at verse, and Mrs. Grigsby 
included the following piece in her history:



65Sisters All

Song of the Ambulance

In my body see the sacrifice that brought me into life;
In the lamps you see the searching eyes of every loving wife;
My springs are arms of mothers seeking still to shield their sons;
My bandages are fingers snatching life-stuff from the guns!
Hurry, hurry, hurry to the poor wounded soldier!
Hear my engine throbbing with impatience from afar!
Oh, I sing a glorious song as I boldly roll along.
I'm the symbol of compassion from the T.A.R.

Tell me not that men are slackers—women eager to pull down,
For I'm the living symbol that has unified a town.
Let me spread my peaceful presence o'r this place of noise and pain ;
For I come with “living water” from the land of little rain.
Mercy shall not be forgotten in the blood and hate of strife;
I will go where death is thickest, bringing men the hope of life;
“For my country” is my motto—and my mission is to heal.
Hurry, hurry, hurry to the poor wounded soldier!
Hear my engine throbbing with impatience from afar!
Oh, I sing a glorious song as I boldly roll along,
I'm the symbol of compassion from the T.A.R.22

Draft Day, June 5, passed without protest or controversy, 592 men from 
Tonopah signing on and another 249 registering at smaller Nye County 
camps, and preparations were soon underway for the departure of the first 
draft contingent. The women of the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment had their 
sewing room set up at the Richards Building by mid July and arrangements 
were being made for local merchants to donate items for "comfort kits," small 
pouches containing pads of paper, pencils, envelopes, stamps, needles, thread, 
scissors, thimbles, buttons, tooth brushes, and cigarettes, which the men would 
carry off to the training camps. The older girls reported on June 23, and others 
took up the work in the domestic science rooms at the high school, each kit 
had the emblem of the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment sewn inside the front 
flap. A reporter from the Daily Times came out to visit a school workroom on 
August 1, reflecting in his column the next morning that “It was very touching 
to see the little girls working so earnestly and gladly, so happy in the chance 
to do all they could for their country. Some very real sentiment and patriotism 
went into the cases our boys from Tonopah are taking with them.”23

The first four men, all volunteers, departed on August 2, each carrying 
his kit as he boarded the Tonopah & Goldfield bound north for Fort Lewis, 
American Lake, Washington. Austin L. Warde and Charles J. Stitt left the next 
morning, and four others took their leave on August 5.24
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The ambulance savings banks were being painted by the children and 
placed in local stores, and the surgical dressing project got underway at the 
Richards Building on August 15; under the supervision of Miss Elizabeth 
McGregor, a trained nurse, who had thirty-five women and girls working on 
tampons, bandages and linen compresses. Their work was put on exhibit at a 
reception at which Mrs. Arthur Neth sang Helen Grigsby's regimental anthem 
for the first time. The women of the Red Cross opened their sewing room in 
the Sollender Building, 130 Main Street, on August 13. Forty women were on 
hand that day, taking up the fabrication of surgical shirts. They had completed 
165 by the end of the month, by which time they had refocused their efforts on 
sweaters for soldiers, mufflers, wristlets, and hospital socks.25

Miss Frances James, twelve-year-old daughter of Henry James of the 
Tonopah Extension, had meanwhile been writing a play, "Sweethearts," 
depicting the homefront in Tonopah and a Red Cross hospital in France. She 
recruited her classmates to fill out the cast, and Helen Grigsby assisted with 
rehearsals. The production premiered at the Richards Building on August 31, 
drawing many parents and raising $38 for the surgical dressing fund.26

Helen Grigsby was also persevering on the matter of an ambulance and 
informed the other women on September 4 that she had heard from William R. 
Herford of the American Field Ambulance Service and was told that a vehicle 
would be available later in the fall at a cost of $2,000. She also told them that 
plans for an October fete were going forward and that booth space had already 
been allocated. The Tonopah Ambulance Regiment headquarters was to be 
moved to the club rooms and ladies' parlor of the Mizpah Hotel, she said, and 
she spent a few minutes discussing the specifications of the regimental flag 
which was to carry the motto "To Know-To-Will-To Dare." Odessa Davenport 
then passed out postal cards to be filled out and mailed to Washington, D.C. to 
enable the senders to receive information on food conservation.27

September 7 was celebrated as Draft Day as the community's first six 
conscripts left for American Lake. The women of the Tonopah Ambulance 
Regiment joined their Red Cross sisters and members of other women's 
groups in the parade from the courthouse to the depot that morning, putting 
lunches and jugs of lemonade aboard the train and standing back as several 
prominent men delivered patriotic addresses. This civic event was the first 
of many over the next year as the draft took the young men of Tonopah and 
other central Nevada towns. Without exception, local editors covered them in 
detail, but there was another take which was entirely unreported, beyond the 
ken of history. As Marjorie Brown, who marched on several occasions, would 
write a half century later: "When in April 1917, the United States entered the 
war, Tonopah's men and women, like people in every town and city, revealed 
unimagined capabilities. As our Tonopah boys left to enlist, marching to the 
railroad station behind the Miners' Union Band, the men on the sidelines 
cheered and the women bit back the tears."28
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The women opened the new quarters at the Mizpah on September 14. 
Mrs. Arthur Neth entertained with "Carrissima" and "Stars Shining Brightly," 
Mrs. R. A. Bushman offered "The Sunshine of Your Smile," and Ryder Ray, 
a Tonopah boy scheduled to leave soon, accompanied himself on the guitar, 
singing "A Long, Long Way From Home," and “Send Me Away With a Smile," 
a song written by Russell Hecox, a friend who was also being inducted.29

Another twenty-seven men departed on September 24, and Jules Smith 
of the Butler Theatre showed footage of the departure of the first Tonopah 
draft contingent the next evening. He turned his facility over to the Tonopah 
Ambulance Regiment on September 28, and Frances James's play, rewritten to 
include several additional characters, was performed twice. A five-reel childrens' 
movie "Two Little Imps," was shown, and Mrs. Neth sang a musical version of 
Marjorie Brown's poem, backed up on the chorus by Mrs. Hugh Burk, Ryder 
Ray, and Russell Hecox. She also sang "The Stars and Stripes Forever," Ryder 
Ray holding up the flag behind her. He also offered up a popular war song, 
"Goodbye Broadway, Hello France." Manager Smith gave Mrs. Grigsby half of 
the day's receipts, $120, instead of the 35 percent previously agreed upon.30

Planning for the fundraiser on October 19 was well along by this time, 
with housewives providing candy and baked goods, merchants donating raffle 
prizes and husbands stringing electrical wire and installing extra lighting. Mrs. 
Bert Whitney was training 125 children to perform the flag drill, and the girls 
of the commercial department of Tonopah High School were preparing tickets 
and publicity circulars. The members of the Elks Lodge took charge of the 
punchboards, and a selection of items to be sold or raffled was put on exhibit 
at Klinger's Variety Store on October 13. Editor Booth of the Tonopah Bonanza 
gave the ladies a boost on October 18: “What would not every one of us give 
up of personal pleasure or comfort to bring back to Tonopah from the jaws of 
death even one of those boys of ours that went so bravely away from us in 
the last few weeks? We would count such a sacrifice our proudest privilege. 
And that is exactly what you will be doing when you come to the Airdome 
tomorrow evening and participate in the fete that will take place there.” 31

The fundraising was a stunning success. The children gathered at 
Odd Fellows Hall at 6:00 p.m., marching behind two boys, one carrying 
the American flag and the other sporting the new Tonopah Ambulance 
Regiment banner. They were greeted by cheers and thunderous applause 
as they entered the hall and began their drill, all the while singing "The Call 
of the Ambulance." Mrs. Bush then sang two songs written by Mrs. Thomas 
Lindsay, "The Poor Wounded Soldier" and "T.A.R.'s Appeal," and the crowd 
moved to the booths and the dance floor. High school girls in patriotic 
dress manned the booths, and the boys sold raffle tickets. As the strains of 
Professor Young's orchestra wafted across the auditorium, the auctioneers 
worked those men gathered near the entrance. Dancing continued until the 
crowd thinned out just after midnight.32
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Next morning, Mrs. Grigsby and Mrs. J. Wesley Stewart totaled up the receipts, 
some $1,900. At a meeting on October 23, Mrs. Stewart reported that she had $2,380.50 
in the treasury. Mrs. Grigsby then read a letter from William Herford informing her 
that five Model T Ford ambulances had recently been shipped to France, one of 
which the women of Tonopah could claim at a cost of $1,425. The women discussed 
the matter and authorized Mrs. Stewart to wire that amount to New York City. 
Herford had indicated that a small bronze plaque reading "A Gift from the People 
of Tonopah" would be attached to the vehicle, but Mrs. Grigsby said that John G. 
Kirchen, president of the First National Bank and general manager of the Tonopah 
Extension Mining Company, had offered to donate silver for a permanent plate and 
would have it engraved in San Francisco and sent on to France.33

Officials of the American Ambulance Field Service were informed that the 
Tonopah ambulance had been assigned to the American Military Hospital No.1 
at Nuilly-sur-Seine, a Paris suburb. Mrs. Grigsby was notified and passed on 
the intelligence at a meeting on November 8. She also brought up the matter 
of thanking the people of Tonopah for their support, and the women decided 
to sponsor a dance at the Mizpah on November 15. A musical program was 
arranged and examples of the surgical dressings were exhibited that evening. 
The dance was so successful that Mrs. Grigsby was asked to put on another 
later in the winter.34

Dr. DeChene took over the Red Cross sewing room on October 18. The 
Singer Agency in Reno had donated nine sewing machines, and the McNamara 
Mining Company installed a new stove. Fifty women were at work on knit 
goods, and Mrs. Katherine Smith, domestic science teacher at the high school, 
had a dozen of her students sewing hospital garments. The women were also 
reaching out to surrounding camps; the Daily Times of October 28 related that 
Mrs. C. T. Lawrence of Manhattan had recently brought in sixty hospital shirts 
and fifty-two pairs of flannel bed socks and had taken back a supply of heavy 
khaki twill for the making of comfort kits.35

The Second Liberty Loan campaign was launched on October 5; Helen 
Grigsby appointed captains in each of Tonopah's sixteen precincts and a Liberty 
Loan function was sponsored at the Airdome on October 24. The schools were 
also involved: thirty-eight members of the eighth grade bought three $50 bonds 
and helped the pupils of the lower grades pay for a bond they had purchased. 
High school school students also bought a bond, and committees were set up 
to solicit work. The boys were reported to be out the next day washing cars, 
doing janitorial work, hauling coal, cutting wood, and running errands, and 
the girls were cleaning homes, washing dishes, and looking after children. 
One girl with artistic talent produced place cards, and the students organized 
a box social at the high school, raising $36.85 for the bond fund. The Tonopah 
Banking Corporation and officials of the First National Bank signed on for the 
bulk of the $284,000 subscribed, but the women of the Ladies' Liberty Loan 
Committee and the schools were responsible for $10,250.36
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Marjorie Brown had kept track of the two French orphan girls supported 
by the citizens of Tonopah, putting their photographs and letters from their 
mothers on display in the front window of a downtown store. Editor Booth 
was touched, writing that "everyone should look at these and be grateful that 
we are thus assured that our money has gone to protect two little innocent 
victims of this war tragedy." He suggested that his readers might consider 
sending them Christmas gifts or a little money.37

Marjorie Brown in a tank in Tonopah, 1918. (Nevada Historical Society)
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In October, Tonopah homeowners were running short of coal, and fuel 
dealers were rationing and limiting deliveries to families with small children 
or homes where there was illness. A very poor grade of coal was being hauled 
in from the mines south of Coalville, and wood was being trucked from the 
Toyaibe forest near Manhattan, but it was green and virtually unburnable. 
Edwin Walker, Nevada's Fuel Administrator, had some success in arranging 
coal shipments from Utah and Colorado, but H. S. Greathouse, Nevada's 
railroad inspector, who investigated in November, found that Tonopah had 
less coal than any other community in the state in proportion to population.38

Tonopah housewives were also trying to observe the food conservation 
directives coming from the U.S. Food Administration. By late November, 
the strictures were becoming increasingly complicated, with wheatless and 
meatless meals, conservation of lard, sugar, and soap containing fats and 
glycerin, the use of honey and sour milk, and utilization of barley, rye, and oats 
in place of wheat. Recommendations also included increased consumption of 
potatoes, and on and on, a situation which was to prevail for the next year. 
Katherine Smith, the domestic science teacher at the high school, helped 
the women interpret the orders and used the war emergency to enable her 
students to learn something of wartime administrative agencies and the way 
of the world, an opportunity which would have been denied them otherwise.39

The women of the Red Cross were making a variety of bandages and 
surgical dressings under the supervision of Dr. DeChene and two professional 
nurses, Mrs. A. T. Galling and Miss Mabel Winthrop.Younger girls were 
working on surgical pillows, and the older girls were busy with a variety of 
hospital items, a scene which impressed a visitor who told a Tonopah Bonanza 
reporter that “a few hours taken from their play now may mean for all time 
these children and their children will have a country in which to play.”40

The Tonopah Ambulance Regiment workroom opened on November 26. 
Some women were also sewing up surgical dressings at home and the members 
of the Tonopah Women's Club were knitting scarves, sweaters, and hospital 
socks at home. The National Surgical Dressing Committee assumed control of 
both the Red Cross and the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment rooms in December, 
and the Tonopah Bonanza of December 21 reported that 2,662 absorbent pads, 
gauze compresses, roll bandages, and tampons were ready for shipment.41

Marjorie Brown organized a Junior Red Cross chapter on November 28 
and the younger girls were soon engaged in cutting material for ambulance 
pillows and those of the fifth and sixth grades were learning to knit. The upper 
grades were sewing surgical gowns and hospital robes and making candy and 
hominy for sale at the Red Cross headquarters. Roy Cross, manual training 
instructor, had his boys making knitting needles, canes, crutches and shipping 
boxes, and one of them, Emil Stuggy, made a flag stand for the office downtown.42

As the first year of the war came to an end, the thoughts of many 
Tonopahites turned to the men at American Lake who would soon be going 
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WWI cartoon, June 1918. (Nevada Historical Society)
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across the big water to fight. In October, Edna Booth initiated a project of 
making up gift boxes of small items donated by local merchants—pencils, 
pads, candy, chewing gum, corncob pipes, bags of tobacco, cigarettes, and 
playing cards. A personal message in a plain envelope sealed with a cocky 
little Santa Claus sticker went in each box, and the Red Cross shipped the first 
one hundred on October 26.43

Food conservation was a principal element in the transition to 1918. Henry 
M. Hoyt, Food Administrator for the State of Nevada, was organizing food 
committees in January and February. Odessa Davenport was placed in charge 
in Tonopah on February 7, assisted by Mrs. E. C. Davis, Mrs. Paul Revert, 
Mrs. C. E. Chapman, Mrs. Thomas Lindsay, Mrs. E. C. Harris, and Mrs. James 
Mayberry, and a card index of family food rules and restrictions on restaurants 
and boarding houses was established at the Red Cross headquarters. Katherine 
Smith arranged for publication of recipes coming from Washington D.C., 
and Millicent Sears, professor of home economics, University of Nevada, 
was in town on March 8 to address an assembly at the high school on food 
conservation, nutritional research and the tractor driving courses for women 
being offered by the university.44

On January 31, the Daily Times reported that there were 4,530 bandages, 
dressings, and items of hospital clothing ready to be sent out. Other Tonopah 
women were working on layettes for French and Belgian babies, as were the 
women of Beatty, who sent twenty-two sets to Tonopah in late March. The women 
also took part in a refugee clothing drive sponsored by the Commission for 
Relief in Belgium. Tonopah’s Boy Scouts and the members of the Campfire Girls 
collected donations door-to-door, and a large number of clothing items came in 
from Red Cross chapters in Round Mountain, Manhattan, and Millers.  When the 
campaign ended on March 22, the women counted up to 1,595 garments.45

In December 1917, Marjorie Brown's mother, Mrs. Grace R. Moore, 
Tonopah's Public Librarian, took it upon herself to ship several boxes of books 
to the Mare Island Navy Yard, Vallejo, California. Three months later, officials 
of the War Library Service of the American Library Association began a drive 
to collect 2,000,000 books for camp libraries and men serving in Europe. 
Joseph D. Layman, University of Nevada Librarian, announced that Nevada's 
quota was 6,000 books, and superintendent of Tonopah's schools, George L. 
Dilworth, informed the citizens that the high school would be the collection 
point, and that they would be expected to contribute 400 books. The students 
were the first to come forward, bringing books on the first day, March 18. The 
boys of the manual training camp made a clock face indicating the progress of 
the campaign; it was hung in the front hall and the number of books totaled 
234 on the second day. A private citizen donated his entire library, and those 
conducting the drive counted over 1,000 books on March 25.46

Mrs. Grigsby was meanwhile investigating the establishment of a local 
chapter of the Blue Cross, a national organization raising funds to provide 



73Sisters All

veterinary services for dogs and horses serving at the front in Europe. At a 
meeting on March 6, she was named to head the relief effort, and was assisted 
by Mrs. Alliene Case, vice president, Miss May D. Corson, secretary, and Miss 
Helen Case, who was to be in charge of entertainment. Marjorie Brown was 
organizing a Junior Blue Cross chapter, and the Boy Scouts and members of 
the Junior Red Cross offered their help. Editor Booth of the Tonopah Bonanza 
also stepped up, writing on March 7 that “The Blue Cross of Tonopah comes 
as champions of the cause of dogs and horses that are helping us win the war. 
The cause is one that must and will appeal to all when it is understood. Try 
to understand it at once.” A second meeting was scheduled for March 8, and 
Booth was again at the fore, writing that afternoon that a horse: 

asks no payment, for a bare living, he performs Herculean work at the front 
carrying his rider straight at the enemy, drags guns into position, brings 
munitions up to the fighting lines, transports the men from points impos-
sible for motor traffic. Side by side with his master, he fights on, torn with 
shot and shell, gassed, squirted with liquid fire and bombed from the skies.47

That evening, a membership drive was planned, dues established, and a 
benefit dance was  scheduled for March 13. Editor Booth pushed the event, writing 
on March 12 that “all the hearts of animal lovers in this country must bleed for our 
faithful dumb friends in the front lines” and observing that…” the horse and the 
dog have no exhortations of patriotic duty, no visions of glory and promotion, no 
nationality, and it is only right that we should strive to help these animals.”48

At 10:00 a.m. on the day of the dance, Mrs. Grigsby met with the members 
of the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment for the last time, speaking to them of their 
contributions to the war effort and making two motions, one to formally disband 
the organization and a second to donate the remaining $625.25 in the treasury to 
the Blue Cross. Both were unanimously approved. Professor Young's orchestra 
played that evening, and booths opened for popcorn, candy, and membership 
sales. The boys and girls sang "The Star Spangled Banner" and marched arm-in-
arm behind Hugh Brown Jr. and their leased mascots, "Nig" Booth and "Flippy" 
Moore. Mrs. Grigsby totaled up $58.10 in receipts the next morning and wired 
$704.10 to Blue Cross headquarters in New York City.49

The Tonopah Ambulance Regiment thus exits the stage of history, but the 
war was to rage on for another eight months. Five more volunteers departed 
on March 31,  and April 10 was celebrated as Liberty Loan Day. Miss Helen 
Mitchell rode the lead float as the Goddess of Liberty, and the women of 
the Women's Relief Corps, the Phthian Sisters, the Rebeccas, the Women's 
Auxiliary of the Moose, and the Women of Woodcraft were out in force, as 
were the members of the Tonopah Rifle Club, the Grand Army of the Republic, 
and the Young Men's Serbian Society, as well as 115 autoists in their vehicles, 
one of whom was Marjorie Brown.50
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The women of Tonopah produced 729 hospital shirts and 1,093 bandages 
in March. They were also knitting, as were their sisters in Manhattan, Round 
Mountain, Belmont, Smokey Valley, Beatty, and Millers. We know only that 
they produced, not how they felt, but Margaret Blue of Rye Patch perhaps 
expressed the sentiments of many in a note she enclosed in a shipment of 
socks in June: "I hope that the boys who wear the socks I am knitting will get 
13 Germans on every pair and enjoy wearing them. Have no boy of my own, 
but somebody's boy will be proud of them."51

And then there were the poets, one of whom produced the following piece 
of doggerel in support of the Liberty Loan campaign; it was published in the 
Walker Lake Bulletin of nearby Hawthorne on May 25:

Liberty Loan Mother Goose Rhymes

Sing a song of pennies, for pennies rank high;
Five and twenty pennies a thrift stamp will buy;
Sixteen stamps of thrift will buy a little bond,
And bonds will give short shrift to Hans and Fritz beyond.
Buy baby Bunting
A baby bond for hunting
Submarine and Zeppelin
Before they hunt the Babykin.
See, saw, Marjorie Daw.
Prussia shall have a new master;
His name will be Democracy,
Which spells a Junker disaster.52

Odessa and Roy Davenport published Nevada’s only Red Cross magazine 
that summer; they produced The Net, getting out three issues. The banner read 
“A Great Net of Mercy, Drawn Through an Ocean of Unspeakable Pain.” The 
publication focused upon Red Cross news, war reports by civic leaders, and 
letters from Nye County boys overseas. It was also an outlet for war-related 
poetry and Odessa’s own literary aspirations, the July issue carried her story 
“Thy Portion of the Wall: A Fable by Odessa Davenport.” Publication ceased 
with the third issue in September, with an insert on the last page informing 
readers that the termination “was due to the shortage of paper and recent 
adverse rulings of the Post Office Department.” Roy resigned from his position 
as purchasing agent for the Tonopah Extension a few days later, and he and 
Odessa left by automobile for Washington, D.C. to engage in war work.53

On June 10, Tonopah Red Cross officials sent out thirteen cases of surgical 
dressings, seven boxes of shirts and pajamas, four boxes of knitted goods, fifty 
pair of socks, twenty-five sweaters, and several packages of knit helmets and 
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wristlets. Four days later, they were notified that all surgical dressing work 
was to be suspended. The supply of certain items was in excess of need, they 
were told, and there was a shortage of gauze and cotton. That same day, 4,000 
yards of gauze, 1,016 yards of outing flannel, and 500 yards of unbleached 
muslin was delivered to the workroom. They contacted Red Cross officials in 
San Francisco and were told that they should query the Home Service Section 
of Civilian Relief. They set up the Nye County Home Service at the Masonic 
Building a few days later, putting Anna G. Lindsay in charge with Marie 
Burdick as secretary.54

Tonopah's Independence Day was subdued, many citizens feeling that 
"this was a time for humility," in the words of editor Frank Garside of the Daily 
Times. Patriotic exercises and a reading of the Declaration of Independence by 
Tom Lindsay at a platform set up at Main and Brougher, took up the morning 
and children’s races and a parade were held in the afternoon. There were no 
fireworks by order of Governor Emmet Boyle.55

Bastille Day, July 14, was also celebrated, with officials of the Nye 
County Council of Defense handling the arrangements. There was a parade 
on the appointed day; and the members of the Presbyterian Church opened 
a room that evening for a patriotic observance. Arthur Burroughs sang "The 
Marseillaise" in French, and Mrs. H. L. Grafious rendered the Italian National 
Hymn. Mrs. R. Smith offered one of her own compositions, “The Flag with 
a Stain" and the Boy Scouts and the Girl Scouts sang “The Star Spangled 
Banner.” A dance at the Airdome was held in honor of several conscripts who 
would be leaving the next morning.56

The Red Cross sewing room reopened on August 12, with absorbent surgical 
pads and clothing for refugees in France and Belgium, day shirts for men, and 
petticoats for young girls having the first priority. Many of the women who had 
previously worked at the sewing room had resumed their family routines when 
the program came to an end, and Red Cross officials had trouble getting them 
to return, not wanting their community to appear a "slacker town." Members 
of the Girl Scouts responded, as did twenty or so women, and 120 pads were 
shipped out on August 18. More women reported the next day, and 124 hospital 
shirts, and 280 petticoats were completed in the next few days.57

Helen Grigsby and her husband had separated earlier in the summer 
and she had moved to Berkeley, California, but she remained in contact 
with officials of the American Field Ambulance Service and Colonel George 
Peed, commander of the hospital to which the Tonopah ambulance had been 
assigned. He informed her that the vehicle had been in the middle of several 
battles and sent along a series of lantern slides showing the ambulance and 
other vehicles;  she forwarded to Tonopah. On August 7, they were screened at 
the Butler Theatre. In a subsequent letter to the Tonopah Bonanza, Mrs. Grigsby 
expressed her gratification for the work she and her sisters had done. She also 
penned a touching reminiscence of the ambulance campaign: “It may be very 
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much like the school boy who wanted to place his class number in evidence 
on the hillside,” she wrote, “but never-the-less, it is satisfactory to know that, 
way over there in the thick of activities and in the heart of Paris, will be dearer 
than ever to the American people, the name of Tonopah can be seen daily, and 
that it stands as a symbol of love and mercy.”58

The war was to continue for another two months. The members of the 
Ladies Liberty Loan Committee got together in September to get ready for 
the next Liberty Loan drive, and others complied with the plea of officials 
of the U.S. Commission for Relief in Belgium to collect clothing for refugees 
facing the winter. The Salvation Army also had a fund drive in September, 
and the Red Cross sewing work continued; four cases of surgical dressings, 
five hundred absorbent pads, twenty sweaters, and fifty pairs of socks were 
shipped out on September 13. The women also joined in a celebration on 
September 14 of recent American victories and turned out for a gathering 
of the Serbian conununity on September 24 to mark the triumphs of their 
countrymen fighting in Macedonia.59

In August, the Tonopah Bonanza and the Daily Times began carrying 
stories of a particularly virulent strain of influenza, the “Spanish Flu” as it 
came to be known. Over the next nine months, Nevada was to suffer a siege 
unprecedented in the state’s history, 3,914 cases and 65 deaths in 1918, and 
772 cases and 36 deaths in 1919. Many of the influenza deaths were recorded 
as pneumonia and other type of deaths resulting from preexisting medical 
conditions, so the figures are inexact. In Nye County, primarily in Tonopah, 
there were 91 cases and 29 deaths in 1918, and 92 cases and 11 deaths in 1919, 
the highest figures for any county in the state.60

Editor Garside had some advice for his readers on August 28: no kissing, 
always covering the nose and mouth when coughing or sneezing, keeping a 
distance of five feet from others, and avoiding public transportation. Rupert 
Blue, Surgeon General of the U.S. Public Health Service passed along similar 
suggestions just a month later, by which time the epidemic had spread to 26 
states and many military installations, including Camp Lewis, Washington, 
where most Nevada men taken in the draft were stationed.61

Nye County's schools were closed on October 28, leaving mothers with 
children underfoot for the next three months. To make matters worse, the 
mines and mills shut down, with the workforce being furloughed. Wives 
were then burdened with grumpy husbands with nothing to do since saloons 
had also shut their doors. The Nye County Commissioners also passed 
laws requiring the wearing of flu masks on the streets, and some merchants 
posted signs informing shoppers that those neglecting to wear them would 
not be served. Patrons of the Butler Theatre were also turned away if they 
showed up without masks, and many men were arrested for draping their 
masks around their necks instead of wearing them properly. There were no 
reports of women being arrested, nor were threats of the arrest of dancers 



77Sisters All

at the Airdome who got on the floor without masks carried out. There were 
also other issues with masks involving smokers, diners in restaurants, and 
musicians at funerals. The Red Cross had meanwhile turned to making 
masks, and many women were making masks at home out of sugar sacks. 
The question of whether they were effective in checking the spread of the 
epidemic was raised at the time, just as it is today in connection with the 
H1N1 outbreak. Women were also trying every home remedy they had ever 
heard of and experimenting with all the patent medicines advertised in the 
newspapers or made available by their druggists. How effective? History 
tells us little.62

The epidemic seemed to be petering out as the year came to an end, and 
the schools opened on Monday, January 6. Students and teachers wore masks 
for the next several weeks and Superintendent Dilworth set up half-day 
Saturday sessions to make up for lost time. Dr. C. J. Richards, Nye County's 
health officer, lifted the ban on public meetings, dances, movies, and church 
services the next day, and the Butler Theatre reopened on January 10. The 
Elks put on a Yama-Yama dance to benefit the Syrian and Armenian Relief on 
January 17, and a crew from the William H. Otts Production Company arrived 
in February to film scenes for the movie "Nevada.” Mining operations resumed 
and town officials sponsored Clean-Up Week in April. There were occasional 
deaths, but the epidemic as over as far as the citizens were concerned and the 
war was a fading memory, although local veterans met on June 4 to establish 
an American Legion post.63 

Word of the armistice in France reached Tonopah just at dawn, November 
11, 1918, and citizens were beginning to come downtown within the hour, some 
wearing flu masks, some not. That day, Monday, was payday at the mines, so 
businesses and banks closed for only a few hours. Members of the Nye County 
Board of Health were opposed to a parade because of the epidemic, but 
Lieutenant Governor Maurice J. Sullivan, acting for Governor Boyle, declared 
a half-holiday beginning at 1:00 p.m., and Harry Grier was delegated to plan 
a parade, which was held that evening. The epidemic kept many citizens at 
home, but others either came out with masks or expressed themselves in other 
ways, among them Nellie Brissell, who submitted the following poem which 
was published in the Daily Times on December 3: 

At Last

At last, dear God, my dreams come true;
This dreadful war is nearly through,
And some of our brave boys will soon be marching home,
While some will sleep on cruel battlefields, alone.
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Their glory, ever great, as to the living will be shown.
For future generations, their names will e’er be known,
And let us show our gratitude to each and every one
Of the boys who never had a chance to even raise a gun.
They offered all they had to give, those men so brave and true
To make a future peaceful happiness for me and you.
No praise too loud and honors none too much
To show our heroes, for were there ever such?

In every year to come we’ll ever know the day
With peace declared and Democracy won her way.
And we’ve shown our strength and daring to this well-beaten Hun,
Their plundered gains must be returned by each and every one.

Their battleships and submarines and boats of every class,
Their Zeps so bold and treacherous to the allies must now pass,
Crushed to the very uppermost these tyrants, one and all.

The mothers, wives and sweethearts who have heroes left behind, 
They surely fought their battles, but this they do not mind. 
You, in your ever goodness, dear Lord, we pray thee send 
Our loved ones home again to us to stay until the end.64

The economic good times came to an end within three years of the armistice, 
the policy of the  U.S. Treasury officials in declining to purchase silver under the 
Pittman Silver Act in July, 1923, being the principal precipitating factor. Tonopah 
lost two-thirds of its population by 1930, including many women who had taken 
up war work; thus we know very little of their subsequent lives.65

Dr. Anne DeChene left Tonopah for Tulane University in October 1918, 
but was back in Nevada within two years. She practiced her profession in 
Reno until her husband died in 1936. She then moved to San Francisco, where 
she died on June 29, 1950, at eighty years of age.66 

Following her separation from her husband, Helen Grigsby moved to 
Berkeley. In the fall of 1919, she went to Reno to visit friends. On December 5, 
she ventured out and disappeared, not being seen again until her body was 
found lodged beneath an ice flow in the Truckee River two months later. An 
obituary writer for the Reno Evening Gazette noted that she was a student of 
theosophy and a collector of Indian baskets, pottery and Navajo blankets. She 
was also a talented musician, the writer claimed and had taken an active part 
in the social life of Tonopah for many years. He also informed readers that she 
was the president of the Tonopah Ambulance Regiment during the late war.67

And then there was Marjorie Brown. After she and Hugh moved to Palo 
Alto, California, in September 1924, she taught poetry at a private girls' school. 
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Following Hugh's suicide in November, 1930, she became an investment 
counselor in San Francisco. We interviewed her in July 1976, and picked up 
many details of women's lives in wartime Tonopah. She died in San Francisco 
on February 4, 1987, at age 103.68

And so it was. This brief sketch of Tonopah's women on the homefront 
does not include other details of their lives because no records were left. How 
did they manage tight budgets when they contributed to the Ladies Liberty 
Loan? What about dues to various organizations and the cost of admissions 
to the dances at the Airdome? How did they balance their responsibilities at 
home with time spent at the Red Cross and Tonopah Ambulance Regiment 
sewing rooms? We would also like to have details of the manner in which 
they cooperated with each other in child care, and how they dealt with sick 
husbands and children when they themselves were under the weather. What 
of their husbands' attitudes? Same problem. How did they feel about their 
wives spending so much time out of the house? Neglected? What did they 
think of food conservation meals? And then there was the grief that everyone 
felt when the casualty lists were published as the war went on. Should this be 
a part of history? Most certainly, but those living through historic times do not 
see those times as history, but perceive them as history only later when the 
details are only vaguely recalled, a problem for those of us who endeavor to 
reconstruct the past.
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Two visions contend with each other and compete for the researcher’s at-
tention when seeking to understand the Paiute experience in the labor market 
and the economic life of early-twentieth century Southern Nevada.  The Pai-
utes offer a story of wandering, making do, and survival.  Labor done for the 
good of the band without thought of monetary compensation became, of ne-
cessity, labor in the small cultivated fields of Moapa or labor for wages on the 
ranches, farms, mines, and homes across the landscape of Southern Nevada.  
Wage labor to replace lost access to resources was an extension of their peripa-
tetic existence.  Movement back and forth from one band of Paiutes to another, 
reconnecting with a broader kinship group, was natural, habitual, and neces-
sary.  Such migrations could mean food provided via hospitality during lean 
years if a relied-on food source failed and strengthened kinship ties through 
marriage of young members across bands.

The second vision offered an administrative interpretation—the official 
position—of the Indian as a wanderer in need of focus as a worker and labor-
er. That official position itself began undergoing a transformation in the late 
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nineteenth century as the American government sought to bring “Indian lands” 
under control.  The Dawes Act of 1887—the allotment of Indian lands—had 
intended to extend to Indians the “benefits of civilization,” by turning common-
ly-held Indian reservations into privately-owned small farms.1  Indians would 
become productive, independent farmers.  The policy created a “pathway for 
legal, economic and social integration of Native Americans into the United 
States.”2  While a “keystone” to federal Indian policy until the Indian Reorgani-
zation Act of 1934, the government chipped away at the expectations of—and 
hopes for—the Indians embodied in the act almost from the time of its passage.  
Government officials narrowed goals and objectives, and responded to constant 
pressures from politicians, businesses, and citizens for access to still more land 
through modifications like the Burke Act of 1906, and through shifting concepts 
of citizenship and guardianship, particularly as defined in key legal decisions.3

From the perspective of the agents administering the Paiute bands of Southern 
Nevada in the 1910s, official expectations, based on those changing land policies 
and rules, observations and suppositions often ran counter to the daily reality of 
lives lived on and between small, poor reservations.4  The expectations that farm-
ing for oneself and then laboring for wages paid by another could transform Indi-
ans into productive citizens ignored that they were already, and would continue 
to be, productive citizens.  The Las Vegas Paiute Tribal Archives collection offers a 
unique documentation of those two visions, through the recollections of older Pai-
utes—children in the 1910s and 1920s—side by side with the accounts and narra-
tives of the superintendents of the Moapa Agency of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, 
the men who oversaw Paiute bands in Moapa and Las Vegas.  

Superintendents reflected—in their thinking, in their writing—the expecta-
tions of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Commissioner—and, by extension, the 
President and white Protestant society at large.  Official expectations defined the 
space allowed to Indians for their labor. Commissioner Francis Leupp expected 
most Indians to “draw their living from the soil.”  As alternatives, they could 
enter the “general labor market” to work as “lumbermen, ditchers, miners, rail-
road hands or what not.”5  The Reverend James Funsten, living among and writ-
ing about the Shoshone reservations of Lemhi Fort Hall and Wind River, stated 
bluntly that Indians had to realize the “absolute necessity of work.”  Multiple 
factors worked to facilitate this lesson, among them the “teaching of the Govern-
ment, the example of surrounding white men, the disappearance of wild animals 
which furnished a food supply,” and the very conditions of life on the reserva-
tion.6  Honorable toil could allow Indians the surest path to thriving in their new 
conditions.  Funsten railed against needlessly large reservations—a problem he 
believed would soon be solved by allotment—that kept the Indians from absorp-
tion “into the lines of the world’s workers.”  Indians were not to fear the coming of 
allotment, a harbinger of the rapidly approaching “American civilization, which 
is Christian,” because hardworking and industrious Indians surely would be as-
sisted by their white neighbors.7
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Where Funsten saw salvation as the ultimate goal of Indian absorption into 
a larger labor force (he was, after all, an Episcopalian bishop and missionary), 
C. H. Forbes-Lindsay, gentleman adventurer and author of books on primitive 
peoples, offered a path to citizenship through labor and toil, but only after 
cataloging the myriad moral failings Indians needed to overcome.  The Indian 
“lacked the qualities that make for success in agriculture.”  He distrusted in-
novation, had “an aversion to manual labor,” and lacked the drive for “in-
dependent effort” necessary for success in any independent venture.  Only 
allotment could address these ills.  The “ration-fed” Indian, placed on his own 
piece of land, would learn to compete with the “strenuous white man.”8

Then, in an abrupt about-face, Forbes-Lindsay argued, the “directors of 
the movement” realized that the Indian did not possess the agricultural skills 
or “attachment” to succeed on the land.  Wage labor, on the other hand, prom-
ised an alternative, an introduction of the Indian to the benefits of “contact 
with the work-a-day world.”  Employers overcame misgivings when hiring 
Indians, and Indians, guided by “educated men of their own race,” adapted 

Paiute man with donkeys, ca. 1913-18. Photograph by Harry Hess. (Nevada State 
Museum, Las Vegas Collection)
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to the “restraint and regulation” of wage labor.  He learned discipline.  He 
learned thrift.  On the Salt River project, the Apaches did “white man’s work 
in the white man’s way.”  By proving himself in this way, Forbes-Lindsay ar-
gued, the Indian cleared a path to “a place in the citizen community.”  Work 
became a training ground, of sorts, for “higher efforts.”  Commissioner Leupp 
had guided them to the threshold of useful citizenship.9

The Paiutes of southern Nevada would be forced onto that “training 
ground.”  When the small Paiute band settled in 1912 on the ten-acre 
reservation in Las Vegas, a booming railroad town, their isolation from the 
natural resources they relied on for sustenance, generation after generation, 
was nearly complete.  Their familiar pattern of migration that had taken them 
across the Las Vegas valley and beyond the mountains that encircle it, as far 
as Pahrump and Ash Meadow to the west; south along the Colorado River to 
Cottonwood Island; northeast to Moapa, St. Thomas, and the Muddy River; 
and up into the Spring Mountains, particularly Mt. Charleston, nearly ceased.  
For generations, small Paiute bands had understood where and when to 
gather food.  Yet harvesting what they needed—seed pods, berries, roots, wild 
spinach, pine nuts—hunting, and returning to natural water sources became 
more difficult as settlers, ranchers, and the railroad restricted the very land 
they once crossed freely and claimed rights to the water there.10  Ilee Castillo 
and Herbert Myers, for instance, recalled that Tule Springs, just north of Las 
Vegas, was the place where “Indians really used to live,” until it was claimed 
by “white” farmers.11

To survive in this constricted landscape, the Paiutes labored much as they 
lived, by a willingness to migrate to work and an ability to adapt to necessity.  
Paiutes who resided in Las Vegas worked as agricultural laborers and as ranch 
hands.  They raised pigs, planted and harvested corn, picked watermelons, 
cut hay, and hauled wood at the Stewart ranch; they grew and harvested 
vegetables at the Auza farm.  Paiutes worked for wages as housekeepers, 
dishwashers, housepainters, and gardeners.12  Many Paiutes continued to 
“scatter” and come back, perhaps remaining “two or three months,” and then 
returning to a familiar kinship circle, or even to a spouse.13  Their work took 
them south to the mining camps of Nelson, Searchlight, and El Dorado Can-
yon to Cottonwood Island where the men were “cutting wood for the mine.”  
They crossed the Colorado River, traveling east to the mines near Kingman 
and Chloride, where the “Indian women … would do all the cooking for the 
[miners] right there, and the men would pay the women for their cooking.”14 
The river itself became a place of employment, for Indians lived “on the river 
and set [sic] as guides and boatmen.”15  Noting that “no white men could be 
found” in a daring attempt to repair a break in a levee farther down the river 
near Blythe, two Indians were employed to guide repair pilings into place.16  
Paiutes traveled along familiar terrain northward, as well, to the mining com-
munity of Pioche, and to the farming communities along the Muddy and 
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Virgin Rivers, including St. Thomas, Overton, and Moapa.  Even the Indian 
schools at Ft. Mohave and Albuquerque played their part in the movement of 
Paiute pupils into the seasonal workforce.  Paiute Daisy Mike remembered her 
transfer from the Ft. Mohave School to Albuquerque, for upon her arrival, “I 
hardly got to go to school.  I just work for people.”  School officials arranged 
for Mike to work in Los Angeles for two summers.  Once she moved to Santa 
Fe, she found that she enjoyed working “out in the wood.”  Nellie Sanchez had 
similar memories of being sent to Santa Monica and Venice, California, to do 
domestic work for a family.  When she attended the school in Albuquerque, 
she worked summers in Beverly Hills.17

The cycle of laboring for wages at the Moapa Reservation, fifty miles north 
of Las Vegas, did not differ greatly from the cycle of wage work practiced by the 
Paiute band in Las Vegas.  In theory, the 1916 allotment of the Moapa Reservation, 
a reservation first established in 1875, provided land for each family to have a 
farm large enough to support itself.  That was never the case, for several reasons.  
The State’s water restrictions limited the amount of land that could be irrigated 
successfully. Alkalinity in the soil required time and enormous amounts of water 
to remedy by deliberate flooding and leeching. The rock-hard soil of Southern 
Nevada required two seasons before it could successfully produce a marketable 
crop, and the allotments were too small to provide sustenance for a family and 
produce an abundance for sale.  Hiring out for wages on nearby farms, on more 
distant ranches, and in mining communities was a matter of survival.

Through the decade of the 1910s, the annual reports to the Bureau of Indian 
Affairs from the superintendents overseeing the small sub-agency of Moapa 
offered, certainly, the official vision—and version—of the expectations for the 
Paiutes.  They were there, after all, to oversee the implementation of official poli-
cies.  Superintendents fretted over disappointing moral shortcomings—a fond-
ness for gambling, marriages entered into and then abandoned with alarming 
regularity, superstitious beliefs that disregarded medical advice, meddling of 
the grandmothers, and lack of church attendance.  However, in other moments 
they recognized the hardscrabble existence of life at Moapa and Las Vegas, the 
absolute necessity of wage work, the futility of farming in the face of repeated 
natural disasters, the desperate need for more water—clean water—the constant 
lack of tools and supplies to build the most basic living shelters.  Between the 
world of the official reports and the reality of Paiutes’ daily lives, the superin-
tendents offered an honest glimpse of life and work in Moapa and Las Vegas.  In 
their annual responses on the official questionnaire, the repetitive nature of their 
responses revealed the willingness of Paiutes to find work wherever they could.

The annual reports of Superintendent Murtaugh, dating from 1911, could 
at times be cheerfully optimistic—“they are making a start towards indepen-
dence”—and then turn bleakly pessimistic within the same report about the 
opportunities for a profitable farming community on the reservation in Moa-
pa.  He could, for instance, report that “almost all the Indians have a piece of 
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land which they farm … and all the able-bodied Indians are self- supporting.”  
Funsten’s comment, “murderous wanderers … are now working on their little 
places,” would not have been out of place in Murtaugh’s report.18  In the same 
report, Murtaugh expressed concern at the lack of water for cultivation and 
the poor condition of the very ditches needed to deliver water. 19 At times, 
the reader wonders whether the superintendent read through his own assess-
ments of conditions in Moapa, and in Las Vegas as well.  There was a tension 
between the descriptions he offered of an industrious community of “easily 
managed” small farmers, ready to live up to expectations of the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, and of Indians beset by problems of unforgiving land, a hostile 
environment, and their own moral failings, most often in regard to gambling 
and irregular marriages.  He struggled to “change the sentiment of the better 
class” of Paiutes until they could “reach the rest” and presumably instruct 
and correct their errors.20  The local newspaper, reporting on a 1913 interview 
with Murtaugh, held out hope that the Indians at Moapa might soon be able 
to stand on their own “in modern business transactions” with “white neigh-
bors.”21  Soon—but not yet. Additionally, the school, if better equipped, could 
shoulder more of the burden of industrial and practical instruction.  

Murtaugh suggested that the “best returns from this land with the least 
expenditure of water” would be had from cultivating peach and cherry trees, 
along with grape vines, if only because there would be “excellent returns for a 
moderate expenditure of labor.”  That suggestion, however, ignored the length 
of time required to plant and cultivate fruit trees.  The Paiutes’ most profitable 
and reliable crop was alfalfa which they could sell to area ranches or even 
ship to “Jean and other places,” earning $14.00 per ton, as the previous super-
intendent had done.  Cattle ranching was out of the question, “on account of 
the limited range” for grazing.  A few pigs were raised.  Reimbursable funds 
allowed for the purchase of horses for breeding, and the alfalfa was used for 
feed.22  A lack of access to ice, or even to cold water, made dairying impossible.  
Paiutes understood what Murtaugh often ignored, that their small reservation 
could not produce the food needed to survive, let alone to prosper.

Paiutes turned to wage labor even as the superintendent stated in his 
report that no Indians were “employed at a distance from the reservation.”  
Yet local farmers—perhaps in St. Thomas or Overton—valued and sought out 
Paiute labor for the cantaloupe harvest during July and August; they picked 
the crop “for the farmers below here on the river, at good wages.”  Paiute men 
and women earned wages at such times.  He acknowledged that they spent 
“about a month” in the mountains for the pine nut harvest, “for which there 
is a good market,” although he did not comment that pine nuts were a staple 
in the Paiute diet.  Paiute women continued to weave intricate baskets “for 
which they get good prices.”  Murtaugh reported that the Paiutes in the Las 
Vegas colony found employment with “ranchers, the railroad, and others, at 
good wages, and … are self-supporting.”23
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Year after year, the Superintendent, responding to, yet at the same 
time constrained by, the format of the annual report, focused on Paiutes as 
promising, “industrious” farmers when all the evidence pointed to the futility 
of the endeavor.  The frustration was evident in Murtaugh’s report just a few 
years later as he described three general problems besetting the Moapa Reser-
vation.  First, too little land was under cultivation; of the 600 acres of “irrigable 
land …less than half is being farmed.”  The back-breaking process of breaking 
and harrowing ground covered with tenacious sacaton grass, then leveling 
it, and the necessary flooding for removal of the salt, required equipment not 
to be found on the Reservation.  The lack of water and the inadequate water 
allotted by the State Engineer could at best be alleviated by planting “winter 
crops,” when the water supply was “greater.”  Murtaugh went out on a limb 
by encouraging the reservation farmers to use more than their allowed water 
share of 87 feet, noting that the “white users do not seem disposed to take the 
aggressive” legally, but realizing the matter would be settled by the courts 
nonetheless.  Even a successful crop, such as the cantaloupe crop in 1914, did 
not guarantee profits.  “The market was bad” and the crop could not be sold.  

Pigs and sheep grazing at the Moapa reservation, ca. 1913-18.  Photograph by Harry 
Hess. (Nevada State Museum, Las Vegas Collection)
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A shortage of equipment meant that “systematic” training, teaching necessary 
skills and “dry farming methods,” could not be accomplished.  Insufficient 
storage buildings on the reservation meant that what equipment they had was 
left out in the open, year-round.24

Health problems also played a role in reservation enterprises.  Murtaugh 
clearly understood as a physician that health concerns prevented “a half-starved 
people” from falling ill with “wasting diseases.”  He clearly admired “some 
of our Indians,” who “actually worked harder than their health and strength 
would justify.”  Interestingly, Murtaugh identified the slow pace of allotment 
as another impediment to success at Moapa.  Paiutes eager to own “their land 
in severalty” became discouraged and disheartened by the empty promises.25

The greatest culprit, in Muraugh’s judgment—what proved most dis-
tracting to the Indians under his care, what prevented results of all the effort 
from being anything but unremarkable—was the problem of wage labor. The 
prospect of earning a living through wages earned by “labor on neighboring 
ranches” had turned the reservation into “an occasional camp ground,” rather 
than a primary focus of effort and attention. Even the attempt to “secure good 
men for the police force” at Moapa was hampered by the “able-bodied” choos-
ing to earn higher wages on valley “ranches, when he has time to spare from 
his own land.” He postponed his plan for an agricultural exhibition later that 
year, as it seemed pointless to host such an event “for a people engaged, prin-
cipally, as hired laborers.”26

Over the next several years, the new superintendent, L. B. Sandalls, 
reported on a series of natural disasters that wiped out several harvests and 
discouraged the Paiutes who by this time most probably were fairly skeptical 
of becoming a viable agricultural concern.  Yet somehow Sandalls—whose ap-
proach to the Paiutes in Moapa and Las Vegas carried a much harder edge than 
his predecessor—blamed wage labor as the primary cause of disappointing re-
sults.  “The Moapa Indians are not adverse to hard work.  But they have spent 
so many years as hired laborers that they are not fully successful in working 
for themselves.”  Relying on “bosses” to direct their wage-work, they had not 
learned to plan ahead or “exercise foresight in preventing the loss of crops by 
damage from the elements” or the loss of stock by “avoidable accidents.”27  
Thus, on the one hand, the Paiute rose to the war-time challenge for increased 
food production and “entered into the food-production campaign with zeal” 
as men and women were required to “lend a hand.”  On the other hand, San-
dalls blamed crop losses from violent summer floods in 1916, which destroyed 
the crops, on the Indians.  The floods which inundated the reservation just 
four short weeks after his report was submitted “came down the Moapa river 
in great volume, covering alfalfa fields with silt and ruining a large portion of 
the cantaloupes and other crops.”28  The other reservation-based, income-pro-
ducing venture he spoke of was basketry, although the “returns” from sales 
were “very small.”  Sandalls himself had tried unsuccessfully to find a market 
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for the baskets, as had Helen Stewart, for the Las Vegas Paiutes.  In spite of the 
venture’s futility, Sandalls clung to the notion that encouraging basketry was 
better than watching Paiute women do nothing at all.29

The following year, Sandalls responded to a request from the Commissioner 
for a tally of Paiutes not living on a reservation—either in Las Vegas or Moapa.  
While 113 Indians lived at Moapa and were under “tribal jurisdiction,” a far 
greater number—200—he estimated to be “living between Moapa and Pah-
rump Valley,” some sixty-five miles to the west.  Those Indians “never had any 
affiliation with any reservation or agency.”  Yet the fact that nearly half the Pai-
utes lived somewhat unaccounted for, even after the purchased of the tiny reser-
vation in Las Vegas in 1912—“they are a wandering lot” he explained—does not 
lessen the likelihood that those drifting seasonally remained in the workforce.  
Moapa, Las Vegas and Pahrump formed a triangle encompassing numerous ag-
ricultural, mining, and railroads communities, including Glendale, St. Thomas, 
Corn Creek, Indian Springs, and Blue Diamond.  It made sense that the growing 
town of Las Vegas was “the center of their territory.”  To survive, he admitted, 
they had to “live around where ever [sic] there is work.”30

By 1920, Sandalls faced the series of natural disasters that devastated the 
crops on the Moapa allotments in his annual report.  The crop failure of 1919 
caused problems in many quarters.  Paiutes were discouraged about “loosing 
[sic] their work and time” in planting, and fewer acres were under cultivation.  
The resident reservation farmer poisoned the grasshopper breeding grounds, 
but at great expense, and without the cooperation of the Indians, who would 
not spread the poison unless they were paid for the additional labor.  Farm-
ers attempted a cotton crop, but it carried the risk of requiring “much work 
and at the right time.”  In response to the list of questions, Sandalls reminded 
the Commissioner that neither “pottery, fishing, logging nor lumbering,” was 
possible on the Moapa Reservations.  The normally reliable cantaloupe crop 
was, in 1919, financially unsuccessful.  Worse, the crop failures prevented Pai-
utes from repaying loans for equipment and horses provided through the fed-
eral reimbursement program.31

Much like his predecessor, Sandalls could not find a consistent way to 
describe the Paiute character or prospects.  He described the tribe as “A No. 1 
with a star in morality,” a tribe that, in only a decade, had become “self-sup-
porting [sic].”  In another section of the same report, however, he remarked 
that the Indians were “too shiftless” to care for a milk cow, forgetting the 
difficulty of keeping milk from spoiling, and the need to find forage for the 
animals.  People who needed to “work out all the rest of the time” when not 
tending crops could hardly care for an animal that needed daily milking.  San-
dalls held out hope that the women on the reservations might try their hand 
at “blanket weaving or lace making,” if only to keep the squaws from their 
penchant for gambling.32  That their culture did not have a blanket-making 
tradition, or the interest in making lace, did not seem to matter.



92 Polly C. Michel

Yet “nearly enough” would not be sufficient to survive; they would have 
to “work out all the rest of the time.”  That additional "working out" began on 
the reservation.  The Paiute farmer fortunate to own a team of horses powerful 
enough to break “new ground covered with sacaton” sod demanded payment 
above “the going rate” to do the job and so priced himself beyond the ability of 
other reservation farmers to pay.  Indians refused to participate in upkeep and 
repair of the road to the reservation without being paid for their labor.  That 
those members of the Paiute community grasped the opportunities in work-
ing for hire that annoyed Sandalls as much as it, perhaps, gave him hope.  As 
in Las Vegas, working on ranches or riding as cowboys for the cattlemen was 
“the main employment.”  In Overton, men from the reservation found work 
at the gypsum mine there, yet failed at being steady enough to stay on the job; 
“they do not last long for they want to lay off too often.”  During the farming 
season extending from April to November, calls came in daily for laborers 
from the reservation.  There was work for all “able-bodied Indians that care[d] 
to work up and down the Valley.”33

Two young Paiute women on the Moapa reservation, 
ca. 1913-18.  Photograph by Harry Hess. (Nevada 
State Museum, Las Vegas Collection)
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The tenor and tone of reports shifted in 1922, when Carl Boyd took over as 
the agency’s superintendent. Undertaking a "head count" on the reservation, 
Boyd complained that there were “probably as many unenrolled Indians” ben-
efitting from agency administration as enrolled, and he blamed that on the In-
dians who drifted up from Las Vegas or “other railroad towns.”34  He acknowl-
edged the Paiutes’ seasonal, even daily, “struggle for existence” and wrote that 
they lived on “whatever they [could] get.” Yet in the same report, Boyd stated 
there was not a “case in this reservation” of want.  The very harvests out of 
which they were to sell produce for income also supported their meagre food 
supply. “Their diet,” Boyd wrote, “may be all watermelon … or all tomatoes … 
for weeks at a time.”  While Boyd believed they were “fitted” to the harsh cli-
mate of the desert, the “most enervating summer climate in the United States,” 
the small allotments “made it impossible to obtain an income from them large 
enough to support a family.”  Such small allotments could not be “leased to any 
advantage,” cutting off that possible avenue to additional income.  Additional 
land had been brought under cultivation, yet there was no more irrigable land 
to be had; beyond the narrow Muddy River valley, the land was “barren  ... with 
an abominable summer climate and a repelling general aspect.”  Realizing they 
were facing an imminent grasshopper infestation, Boyd must have wondered 
whether the wheat and hay would survive.  (In fact, a flood later that summer 
destroyed the alfalfa crop and covered the fields with a layer of sand.  The prior 
harvest, the wheat, was never harvested and threshed.)  Meanwhile, rather than 
extending further “reimbursable privileges,” Boyd commented that perhaps a 
supply of useful tools would do the Paiutes “more good.”35

As they had for so many years, the Paiutes turned to local ranches and 
farms for seasonal labor, although Boyd noted that growers “suspended” the 
cantaloupe harvest when prices dropped, “thus depriving the Indians of their 
opportunity for work at a time when they needed the money.”  Indians travel-
ing fifteen miles “down the valley” to “various ranches” earned half of their 
household income there.  When Sandalls returned the following year as su-
perintendent, his observations were much the same, adding to the list of area 
businesses hiring Paiute laborers the borax and gypsum mines, where wages 
could go to $5.00 per day, $2.00 higher than on the ranches.36  Certainly San-
dalls would have echoed the sentiments of Lorenz Creel, visiting in Reno as 
a special representative “of the Indians for the government,” that the “Indian 
as a laborer is his biggest asset to Nevada”—whether in the potato fields or 
working the highways of the northern part of the state or in the cantaloupe 
fields of the southern part.37  Sandalls lamented the lack of additional reim-
bursable funds to continue the horse-breeding efforts, but took hope from the 
vegetable gardens tended on the reservation, with surplus available for sale.  
He reported cheerfully that “all of the Moapa Indians are practically self-sup-
porting”; work was plentiful; they worked their allotments with vigor; no one 
was in “want.”38
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In 1915, the well-known Seneca archeologist and historian Arthur C. 
Parker charged that the American people “through their governmental agen-
cies and through the aggression of their citizens” had “robbed the American 
Indian of his economic independence.”  To make the necessary restitution, 
Parker argued, the United States needed to return the resources and the land 
that would allow Indians, once again, to “procure, cultivate, or make their life 
necessities.”  Those "indictments"—the “economic” was the fourth of seven 
charges leveled by Parker—still resonate with anyone studying the experi-
ence of the Paiutes in the early twentieth century; moreover, they offer an apt 
starting point for consideration of scholarship on the labor and toil of Paiutes 
in Southern Nevada.39  

The more we try to understand the economic world of the Paiutes—en-
tering into a farming economy, joining the wage labor force, traveling great 
distances in search of dwindling resources—we come back to the idea set out 
above, that two different sets of ideas and expectations, understood differently 
by the Paiutes and by the Anglo-Americans who settled around them and took 
control of resources, converged and conflicted in Southern Nevada.  Martha 
Knack, a preeminent scholar of Southern Paiutes, traced the shrinking circle of 
resources to which Paiutes had access and connected it to their acceptance of 
the necessity to labor for wages.  The process began long before 1900.  In one 
location after another, Paiutes found their water sources taken over, their re-
sources circumscribed, and their best land seized by arriving Mormons, min-
ers, ranchers, and farmers.40  Faced with an organized and methodical Mor-
mon migration into Southern Utah and then onto southern Nevada, “Paiutes 
were blocked from capitalizing on the scant resources of their territory,” wild 
plants, and “the eclectic search for meat,” the former disparaged as “weeds” 
by settlers, the latter termed “loathsome.”  Settlers speculated that those un-
desirable resources maintained the Paiutes at a narrow “margin close to sur-
vival.”  To the arriving farmers, it appeared that the motivations of the Paiutes 
in seeking work were clear enough:  They desired the new items they could 
earn by their work, and they wished to escape starvation.  The true motiva-
tion, Knack argues, was more likely necessity in the face of displacement.  The 
natural resources the Indians could offer that had value to settlers—pine nuts, 
fish, hay—were taken over by settlers. The Paiutes “had only one product left 
of value to them by white settlers—their labor.”41

Paiute bands of southern Nevada were faced with settlers of a different 
sort—miners arriving to discover precious metals and make their fortune.  With 
the more limited resources available in Nevada being taken over in the mid-
nineteenth century by mining communities and the establishment of the ranches 
and farms needed to support mining communities, a delicate and fragile Paiute 
subsistence economy was upended.  By the 1860s and 1870s, Paiutes worked to 
gather driftwood along the Colorado River, to haul lumber to mines in Pioche, 
to guide prospectors seeking new veins of precious ores, to build roads, and to 
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launder clothing and cook in mining camps.  They may have worked to serve 
the mines, yet they did not work as miners, and their wages were consistently 
one-third to one-half of the prevailing wage for white workers.

Thus, before the purchase of the10-acre Las Vegas colony in 1912 or the 
allotment of Moapa in 1916, the Paiutes’ labor patterns were well established.  
As we have seen, superintendents reported on them regularly, if with alternat-
ing hope and frustration.  Wage labor on farms, ranches, mines, construction, 
or households necessitated that Paiutes live in proximity to white employ-
ers—the “co-residence” described by Knack.42  Paiutes lived in proximity, yet 
on the fringe, a place and position defined by “discriminatory and separatist” 
practices and values of the Euro-Americans.43

After reading the reports of the superintendents for the 1910s and following 
the descriptions of Paiutes who were children during that time, two issues in 
Knack’s work appear inconsistent with my own research. Knack argued that 
the Indians themselves “saw wage labor and reservation life as antithetical,” 

Paiute man on a mule, ca. 1913-18.  Photograph by Harry Hess. (Nevada State Museum, 
Las Vegas Collection)
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a viewpoint shared, she continued, by the whites they lived amongst.  Yet the 
cyclical pattern of movement off the Moapa reservation to work and then back 
again, and the maintenance of living quarters on the tiny Las Vegas reservation 
from which to go out in search of work and then return would seem to call for 
some modification of Knack’s argument.  By working for wages, the Paiutes, 
like the Timbisha of Death Valley described by anthropologist Beth Sennett, 
could “cope with shrinking environmental resources,” and at the same time 
purchase the goods that “made life easier on a daily basis.”44  In maintaining 
ties to Moapa and to Las Vegas, Paiutes offered generosity and hospitality to 
those who were traveling to find work, often remaining for the seasonal dura-
tion of the job, knowing that the same would be returned at some time in the 
future, perhaps for a harvest.

Knack argued that the superintendents on the Paiute reservations were 
threatened by the Indians under their care resorting increasingly to laboring 
for wages off the reservations.  Within the narrow scope of my research, with 
a focus on a single decade, I did not sense the superintendents feeling so 
threatened.  Assistant Commissioner Meritt may have railed against anything 
that distracted Indians from the work of becoming farmers—dancing (which 
did not happen at Moapa), racing ponies (which did happen)—but the expe-
rience of the superintendents taught them otherwise.45  Sandalls may have 
felt that laboring for wages away from their Moapa fields meant that Paiutes 
could not work for themselves, yet, faced with floods and the epic plagues of 
grasshoppers, he also realized working for wages meant survival.  Lorenzo 
Creel certainly was not threatened by Paiute labor, which he termed a great 
asset to the state.46

Of the two visions of labor and work among southern Nevada’s Paiutes, 
the Paiutes understood the need for practicality in subsistence.  There was no 
other way, for their survival depended upon it.  A natural environment with 
scant resources and a harsh climate offered few options.  They maintained and 
strengthened extended kinship circles as they moved.  They offered hospital-
ity to those in need and understood it would be reciprocated.  However, the 
arrival of ranchers, miners, and farmers transformed the daily questions—
where to migrate, at what time, for what resource, and for how long— into 
entirely new concerns.  Instead, Paiutes had to learn to find what was left over 
after resources had been stripped or fenced or plowed under or grazed bar-
ren or diverted.  If the Paiutes negotiated the unforgiving environment and 
the onslaught of Euro-American immigrants, they also had to negotiate the 
personnel and the rules of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, made known to them 
in the person of the superintendent.  Undoubtedly aware of the expectations—
expressed by Murtaugh, then by Sandalls, then by Boyd—the Paiutes tried 
to bridge the gulf between the expectations of becoming the hard-working, 
thriving independent farmer and the reality of working as the wage laborer 
who needed to put food on the table.  As farmers on small allotments, they 
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battled natural disasters that devastated the crops they tended and made their 
labors in vain.  As laborers, they were needed and readily hired across the 
valley.  As farmers, they were tied to the land.  As laborers, they could work 
when necessary, not tied down for months on end.  For the superintendents, 
the finer points of official policy and the shifts then underway in Washington 
probably counted for less than what they saw all around them in Moapa and 
in Las Vegas.  As it was, allotment came fairly late to Moapa, and at no time 
during the 1910s did anyone express an interest in leasing or purchasing the 
tiny parcels.  The superintendents did not come across, in their yearly reports, 
as cruel or foolish men.  They wished for success—farms that flourished, har-
vests that sold quickly for good prices, adequate supplies and buildings at 
Moapa, a new school, good health, better nutrition, a clean water supply—as 
they would define it.  Their expectations could be very high and then modify 
into more realistic planning.  We have seen they could become quite frustrated 
that the Paiutes did not share their vision for change.  Ultimately, however, 
grasshoppers and floods—beyond the control of any human—reminded the 
superintendents of what Paiutes understood—that they woulds need to live 
by their labor and by daily wage.
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In 1873, 24-year-old Denis Hurley of County Cork, only months after he had 
crossed the Atlantic, arrived at his destination of Carson City, Nevada.  In his first 
report home from the West, he notes to his cousin:

This climate is fatal to the longevity of shoes, on account of its extreme 
drought. Before a month’s wear the soles and uppers of store [boots] apply 
for a divorce… and the divorce is readily granted. Why not, in a country in 
which the marriage tie between man and woman is so easily severed…. Why 
not the shoes [in like manner] when they become tired of so close a relation-
ship between them, wish for a separation each desiring to go its own way.

After likening the area to the Sahara, he goes on:

Men from every nation under heaven may be found in Carson. The long-
tailed, sombre-looking Chinamen; the black-haired red skinned Indian, …The 
swarthy, copper-coloured Mexican; the slow thoughtful looking German; the 
more lively Frenchman. With Swedes, Swiss, Italians, Spanish, Portuguese 
&c. In conclusion, I have wandered away from home and domestic relations, 
for which in the present letter I beg to be excused.

An Irish Immigrant in the Wild West
The Letters of Denis Hurley of  

Carson City, Nevada, 1873-1938

Bryan Lamkin
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Figure 1. Denis Hurley, ca. 1890.  (Cork City and County Archives, U170/137)
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Sixty-five years later, the almost 90-year-old Hurley was still writing back to 
his homeland, now to his niece.  He writes to her in 1938, “I am glad that you are 
preparing to build a new house. I took an active part in quarrying rock in the hill 
side in front of the house…. How many of the family stepped down and out and 
where did they go…? I hope your house builders are not so unreasonable and high 
priced as they are here.”1

So, who was this native of Ireland, so obviously amazed by the sights and di-
versity and heat of the nineteenth-century American West on arrival, yet 65 years 
after he left the country of his birth claiming a connection to the very rocks of the 
Emerald Isle?  Denis Hurley was an Irish immigrant, railroad worker, husband, 
brother, son, politician, and Irish American; a man who immersed himself in his 
adopted homeland and became a proud citizen of the United States, but whose 
heart also remained firmly fixed in County Cork.  We know much about that heart 
because Hurley wrote 124 letters home between 1873 and 1938; these letters show 
how successfully he navigated the complexities of living in both worlds.

The written records left by Irish immigrants like Denis Hurley help us to un-
derstand, to at least a small degree, the complex mental and emotional transitions 
that accompanied the physical transition from Europe to the United States.2  But the 
letters are more than that.  These letters served as a verbal lifeline between the Old 
World and the New—what can best be described as a verbal bridge.  Their words 
undoubtedly helped the emigrants cope with the potential confusion and pain that 
followed the decision to leave their European homelands.  Their correspondence 
was also a way of maintaining an Old-World connection—making sure that their 
friends and family knew that the immigrant heart would never leave Europe entirely.3

Denis Hurley was born in County Cork in 1848, in the midst of the great 
famine, to middling farming parents, Timothy and Mary.  He grew up with three 
brothers—John, Michael, and Timothy, and a sister, Kate.  We know Hurley was a 
trainee teacher prior to emigration and his education is quite obvious from his strong 
writing abilities over the course of his life, but we know little of his life growing up 
in Tawnies, near Clonakilty, other than some clues in his letters. [Fig. 1]

Irish Background

Located about twenty-five miles southwest of Cork City, the four-hundred-
year-old Clonakilty is a seaside town surrounded by small townlands, such as 
the birthplace of Denis Hurley, Tawnies Upper, just to its north.  The rolling 
countryside and the townlands are, and were, known for dairy production.  The 
famine affected Clonakilty/Tawnies significantly, but not nearly as dramatically 
as other areas of Ireland.  Clonakilty’s population figures ranged from just under 
52,000 in 1841 to a low of about 28,000 in 1861.  That is not to say that greater 
Clonakilty was not witness to scenes of distress and misery: County Cork was 
one of five Irish counties that had an average excess mortality of more than one-
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eighth of the total population between 1846 and 1850.  The family would have told 
young Hurley frightening tales of death, food riots, evictions, and emigration.4

So, what would the rhythms of life have been for Hurley in his formative 
years?  Timothy Hurley, Denis’s father, controlled several plots of land in the Clon-
akilty area, including a twenty-acre farm in Tawnies Upper.5 [Fig. 2] Hurley and 
his siblings grew up in a reasonably sized home—a home that still exists, though 
in considerable disrepair. [Fig. 3] Donnelly argues that middling dairy farmers in 
County Cork, like Denis’s father, saw their production increase or remain about 
the same between 1847 and 1851, so, compared to the majority of Ireland’s inhabit-
ants who worked on lands of less than five acres in the mid-nineteenth century, 
Hurley would have known relative comfort, even in the years after the famine.6

Denis Hurley’s home was about two kilometers from the center of Clonakilty—
perhaps a 25-minute walk. He would have had easy access to the sights and sounds 
of both farm life and small-town life.  The effects of the famine would have resulted 
in a shortage of laborers by the 1850s, so Hurley and his siblings would undoubt-
edly have been working on their father’s dairy farm from an early age.  

Figure 2. The Hurley home in Tawnies Upper, 1925 or 1926. (Courtesy of the 
Deasy family, Clonakilty, Ireland)
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What would Denis Hurley’s chores have entailed?  Because of the heavy 
rains in Munster—more than 40 inches annually—pasturelands were lush 
and were extremely conducive to dairy production.7  Butter thus became the 
dominant agricultural product for Munster by the nineteenth century. Hurley 
and his siblings would have had a number of everyday jobs related to dairy 
cows.  Hurley reminisces in an 1897 letter that he had to take care of the old 
rogue cows “that would not stay out without a man and a stick to hold them 
back.”8  The average dairy herd would have ranged from twenty to forty, so the 
Hurley family would have been kept quite busy milking that number of cows 
on a daily basis.  Most dairy farmers also grew corn, potatoes, and kept ten or 
more pigs.  Despite this obvious agricultural variety, dairy farmers in general 
and butter producers in particular were not exactly noteworthy capitalists in 
the mid-nineteenth century.  Theirs, rather, was a life of persistent struggle.9  
An annual dairy contract typically required the smaller farmer to feed the cattle 
through the winter months, meaning that part of the farm had to be dedicated 

Figure 3:. Tawnies home, 2010. Photograph by the author.
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to hay.  The Hurley sons would have participated in fencing off meadow land in 
the spring and harvesting the hay in the summer.  Hurley writes to his brother, 
John, in 1924 that August 15 was “the day that we used to have the early part of our 
harvest—in the days when we were young.”10  And the production of the butter 
itself was an ongoing arduous affair, leaving Hurley minimal time for goofing off.11

The Young Teacher

Perhaps such struggles made the life of a farmer seem increasingly unat-
tractive to Denis Hurley and inclined him toward a more educated profession.  
Unlike the U.S. at the time, there was no mandatory education, but his father 
allowed or encouraged the young Hurley to walk the short distance to town 
and take the classes.  Hurley attended school in Clonakilty and it was there 
where he discovered a lifelong love for learning and its transformative power.

A public school system dated from the early eighteenth century, but was 
designed to improve the state of the “popish natives” who had “very little sense 
or knowledge,” so opportunities for the Catholic population, like the Hurleys, 
remained less than stellar.  It was not until the early nineteenth century that 
the education commissioners centered in Dublin began to make significant 
reforms and not until an official report in 1825 that “the schools came in for a 
thorough official roasting.”12

A state-funded national system of education, intended to be non-sectarian, 
began in 1831. Donald Akenson postulates that this relatively early advent of 
an Irish national school system was due, in part, to the Irish peasantry want-
ing their children to be educated and thus willing to support “any reasonable 
educational arrangement.”  He explains:

In its attempts to conquer the Irish Catholics, the English realized that 
they had to reduce them to a cultural level as low as that of a preliterate 
society. To effect such a brutalization the extinction of catholic educational 
institutions was a requirement. Significantly, the Roman Catholic peasant 
clung to education for the same reason that the Protestants attempted to 
suppress it: without schooling the Catholics would be ground into eco-
nomic helplessness, permanent social inferiority, and religious ignorance.

The impact of the national system was dramatic—the number of schools in 
the nation exploded from under 800 in 1833 to over 4,300 by 1849, and in that 
same period the number of children in those schools rose from just over 100,000 
to just under 500,000.  In County Cork, the percentage of children between five 
and fourteen who attended school went from just under 30% in 1841, to over 
50% in 1871.  Despite this increase, such an educational opportunity would 
have been remarkable and somewhat unusual for many of Hurley’s young 
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contemporaries, considering that the illiteracy rate in the county hovered around 
45-60% in his school-going years.  Hurley is listed as an “underteacher”—essentially 
an assistant teacher—at the Male National School in Clonakilty between 1868 and 
1873.  This school, located on Chapel Street, was established in 1828 and had about 
four hundred male students at the time Hurley would have been teaching.  It is 
highly likely he attended this same school where Timothy Hurley was the master.  
Hurley was probably a very bright pupil, and, at the end of his primary schooling, 
the school patron would have nominated him to become a paid monitor, or pupil 
teacher.  In that capacity, he would have worked under the tutelage of the local 
headmaster, the principal, done some practice teaching, and studied for the very 
demanding Monitorial Exams.  The examination Hurley took to become a certified 
teacher required him to show proficiency in the art of teaching, of composition and 
English literature, of natural history, of mathematics, and of mental philosophy, 
including the elements of logic and rhetoric.  Passing this exam qualified him to 
become an assistant national teacher by the age of twenty.  Hurley would have 
done the brunt of the actual teaching work from that point forward.13  

What would his teaching experience have looked like in the national school 
in Clonakilty?  Akenson notes that:

In a typical national school, row upon row of children sat at long com-
munal desks facing the teacher. Eighteen inches per pupil was commonly 
allowed; thus a desk of ten and a half feet in length normally accommo-
dated seven pupils. A row desk of this sort and the seat were estimated 
to take up only slightly more than two feet in width…. Rote teaching 
was not widely practiced in the national schools. Teachers, after a talk 
or a reading lesson, usually questioned the children on the contents and 
attempted to elicit some indication of understanding on the child’s part. 
Questions by children were encouraged and teachers were expected to 
be prepared to deal with questions arising from any of their lessons.14

Though most children only attended national schools for about two or three 
years, the children did have the opportunity to reach an intermediate level of 
education or beyond. Clearly that was the case with young Hurley.  Hurley 
learned and taught in a system that served him well, and many other Irish youth, 
for the remainder of his years.

We are ultimately left with questions about Hurley’s decision to leave the 
field of teaching and head to the wilds of the U.S.  Was it because of salary issues?  
Did he doubt his ability to recruit an average attendance of 35 pupils per year, as 
the state required?  Did his education inspire him to move beyond the bounds 
of rural County Cork?  Did he tire of the bureaucracy and political infighting?  
The exact answers are not available to us, but considering that the payment by 
results system began in 1872 and a year later he was headed for America, it seems 
probable that this system did not appeal to him.15
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What other factors might have influenced Denis Hurley, living in seeming 
middle-class comfort, to make the decision to leave his native land?  Perhaps mere 
observation of the many people around him departing for the U.S. played a role.  
Young Mr. Hurley would have seen a steady stream of emigrants leaving County 
Cork in the decade prior to his own departure, most of them about his own age.16  
He also had the precedent of his older brother, Michael, who had left the homeland 
for America by 1870.  Michael made his way to the American West and began 
working for a railroad.  In 1871, Hurley would have read a letter from his brother in 
which Michael noted having attended mass around St. Patrick’s Day and the French 
priest who lauded Patrick “for the love he bore to that country who gave so many 
saints to god and so many prophets to the world irishmen are scattered all over 
the world Carying the word of god with them wherever they goe.”  Michael had 
already been able to make enough money to send a donation to the church being 
built in Clonakilty.  In the last portion of the letter, Michael records that “there are 
some irish men living hear what there are more chinamen  I can speak some china 
language now and some of every european language Except the russian and turkish 
language Them are the only countries who dont send Emigrants hear.”17  Might we 
suppose that Michael’s words, though written with poor spelling and a style that 
might have perturbed the better-educated younger brother, would nevertheless 
have inspired the younger Hurley to think about possibilities abroad?  He, most 
likely, would have read the letter to his parents in front of the fireplace with his 
other siblings gathered around.  Such a letter might have been the final spark that 
encouraged Hurley to set his sights on the American West. 

The Voyage to America

Although it is difficult to know precisely why he decided to emigrate to 
America, we know that his destination was never really in doubt.  His goal was 
to follow his brother Michael to Nevada.  In early April, 1873, Hurley made his 
way to Queenstown—present day Cobh—about 75 miles from Clonakilty as the 
crow flies.  In that bustling emigration center, he most likely caught the steam-
ship, Siberia, paid just under £7 for steerage accommodations, which he would 
have shared with up to eight hundred third-class passengers, and enjoyed or 
endured the sea voyage for about ten days.18  He reports in an early letter to his 
family that he was not “able to bid adieu to the receding shores of dear Erin, 
being below by the bunks with a heavy heart and an upset stomack puking.”19

He arrived in Boston on April 15 and then left by train for New York, 
transferring to a steamer at 11 p.m. that night, arriving in the future Big Apple 
at 7 a.m. on a Friday morning, April 18.  He visited Irish relatives and friends 
in New York City for three days, took a ferry to Jersey, and from there, while 
waiting for a train to the American West, he wrote his first surviving letter.  
Hurley informed his parents: 



108 Bryan Lamkin

We were to get off on the 19th inst but deferred it until this Monday 
evening at 5 o clock when we are to get by ferry over to Jersey and then 
train it away to the west…. I was up at the grand central Park of New 
York on yesterday and saw there in the zoological gardens animals and 
birds from all parts of the globe…. The meat of New York and Boston 
is very palatable, my mother need not fear that I am not able to eat it…. 
There is no great demand for labour here now in this city; workmen 
when employed get 2 dollars a day. Servant girls get from 12 to 15 dol-
lars a month the most of which is taken up by clothes. 

The zoo, the visits to Irish friends and relatives, a curiosity about American 
practices, and his assurance to his mother—in this first letter, we get a sense 
of the Hurley sense of adventure, his wide range of interests in business and 
politics, his unassailable ties to Ireland, and his wit.

The Journey West by Train

It is difficult to know for certain his itinerary to Carson City, the only clues 
being his departure from New Jersey and newspaper reports at the time of his 
death that mentioned coming from Missouri.  The emigrant railroad journey was 
reasonably well established by 1873, having been spelled out in the guidebooks 
of the day, so he might have arrived in late April, after a journey of seven days.  
Considering the number of connections, the regular and inevitable delays for 
train travel in that period, and the sheer exhaustion Hurley must have felt, it 
is more likely he arrived sometime in May.20

Because cross-country train travel was still in its infancy, there were many 
uncertainties about a long trip across the nation, especially if he took one of the 
dedicated emigrant trains.  Bruce Cooper writes:

Although a vast improvement over earlier methods, most transcontinen-
tal rail travel in the 1870s and 1880s was nonetheless often still fraught 
with unexpected challenges, delays, and hardships, especially for those 
who made the journey to seek their fortunes as they ventured beyond 
the Mississippi and Missouri Rivers on the early “emigrant” trains of 
the Union and Central Pacific.

If or when Hurley rode one of the emigrant trains, in cars that were hauled 
in freight trains, he would have averaged twenty miles an hour and would have 
spent considerable time waiting on remote sidings while higher priority trains 
passed.  Even in second or third class, the seating accommodations would not 
have been exactly comfy.  Stevenson describes the seating and potential sleep-
ing arrangements on one of the emigrant trains: 
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I suppose the reader has some notion of an American railroad-car, that 
long, narrow wooden box, like a flat-roofed Noah’s ark, with a stove 
and a convenience, one at either end, a passage down the middle, and 
transverse benches upon either hand.  Those destined for emigrants 
on the Union Pacific are only remarkable for their extreme plainness, 
nothing but wood entering in any part into their constitution, and for 
the usual inefficacy of the lamps, which often went out and shed but a 
dying glimmer even while they burned.  The benches are too short for 
anything but a young child.21

Travel costs alone would have set Hurley back at least $100, probably more.  
Emigrants would grab meals at waysides, and at each of the three meal stops, 
Stevenson states, the allotted time for eating was less than twenty minutes.22

The Early History of Carson City

The Carson where Hurley arrived was still a relatively young town, having 
been founded about fifteen years prior and having been named the permanent 
capital only with statehood in 1864.  The capital building, in fact, was still under 
construction.  Much had happened in those fifteen years, however, to make the 
little community incredibly vibrant and important.

It was in the early 1850s that gold-mining men from California in search of 
riches, and Mormon settlers, intent on providing supplies for wagon trains, made 
their way east and founded a small agricultural and trading settlement called 
Mormon Station, today’s Genoa, in what was then the territory of Utah.  After 
increasing religious hostility led the Mormons to vacate the “Eagle Valley” settle-
ment in 1857, Major William Ormsby and Judge James Crane lobbied the federal 
government to create a separate territory, a feat finally accomplished in 1861.  In the 
meantime, some major businessmen from California, including Abraham “Abe” 
Curry, Benjamin F. Green, John J. Musser, and Francis “Frank” M. Proctor, began 
buying property and establishing businesses.  By early 1860, when the Comstock 
Lode of Virginia City became a magnet for fortune seekers, newly named Carson 
City had a population of 1,200 - 1,400, but its citizenry grew by leaps and bounds 
as it assumed a pivotal role in the silver trade. 23

The mining boom and the rise of political activity meant that the little commu-
nity had a great deal of adapting to do in a very short time.  Wagon trains from the 
East, timber wagons from the nearby forests—crucial for supplying the Comstock 
mining needs—and miners from the hills near Virginia City all congregated in 
this small town and helped Carson to become a confluence of important interests. 
Construction on the Virginia & Truckee Railroad maintenance facilities—the en-
ginehouse and shops—began in 1872 and opened in 1873.  This was the settlement 
Hurley observed when he disembarked from his train in the spring of 1873.
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Carson City attracted wealthy residents who had made recent fortunes in the 
Comstock or who were interested in serving the needs of the many new constitu-
ents of this new and bustling municipality.  In 1875, after the failure of the Bank 
of California and the attendant funding of many of Nevada’s mining and growth 
interests, a particular group of these “new constituents,” took advantage of the 
economic vacuum to consolidate their power in the region.  John W. Mackay, 
James G. Fair, James C. Flood, and William S. O’Brien, nicknamed “The Bonanza 
Kings,” used their mining profits to begin purchasing various companies and 
utilities24  Hurley mentions these four in an 1877 letter in which he states, “This 
mine and her neighbor the Con Virginia both controlled by those Irishmen who 
were themselves miners and saloon keepers, …These 4 men are now about the 
richest firm in America. They control other mines adjacent to those rich ones, in 
which your humble friend is keeping an eye.”25  In general, this period saw the 
development of fine new Victorian homes, opera houses, schools, banks, saloons, 
and a host of other businesses.  The Carson City of Hurley’s early years was 
becoming, in Richard Moreno’s words, “a proper community.”26  

The major contours of his life in this early period revolved around work and 
religion, but his letters and other information reveal a man who approached life 
in the Wild West with a sense of wonder and amazement and who was taken 
with his life in Nevada.—and perhaps wondering if this had been the right 
decision.  He extols in his third letter home, “I thought I would not hear from 
home at all. When I got the 1st papers and saw the address thoughts of home 
burst upon me and ‘my spirit filled up, and my longing eye filled.’”27  And in 
that same letter he shares openly the pain it would cause him if he knew his 
parents were uneasy about his being in the new world.  Denis Hurley was also 
a son, thankful for his parents and longing to please them, but knowing that 
he might never see them again.  That is why the letters, from the very first, 
were so important to both senders and receivers—they provided the essential, 
ongoing connection, and, in that connection, they provided a sustaining hope.  
Like so many Irish immigrant letters of the era, Hurley’s communication with 
his family and friends contained a strong balance of information about his life 
and this new adventure he was living, but also a phenomenal number of ques-
tions and comments about the land of his birth and those he had left behind.

Denis Hurley’s Family

Denis Hurley was also a brother.  He had followed his big brother, Michael, 
to Nevada. Michael worked primarily for various railroads, but unlike his 
younger brother, he moved throughout the American West in the late nineteenth 
and early twentieth centuries.  By the early twentieth century, he was boarding 
with a family in San Francisco and stayed in that situation until his death in 
1926.  Denis Hurley visited his brother fairly often over the years. 28
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Hurley was also a sibling of those who remained in County Cork. John, his 
eldest brother, inherited the family farm at Tawnies sometime after their father 
died, probably between 1879 and 1886.  In 1889, he married Mary Ann O’Sullivan 
of Rosscarbery, and over the years they had eight children, two of whom, Mary 
and Catherine, became frequent correspondents with Hurley by the 1920s.  His 
younger brother, Tim, also continued life as a farmer, eventually moving to a farm 
in Kilkerranmore, a short distance southwest of Clonakilty.  Tim married Kate 
Scannell in 1895, and they had seven children between 1896 and 1908. [Fig. 4] 
It was with his sister, Kate, that he had the most complicated relationship.  One 
senses, based on Hurley’s use of sarcasm, and her short- and long-term splits with 
her family members, that Kate was somewhat outspoken and bold in her opin-
ions.  Kate married John Deasy about 1880 and they had eight children between 
1881 and 1896.  There was a mysterious rift that occurred between Hurley and 
his sister that never mended, something that grieved him to the end of his life.29

The Comstock Lode

Although his correspondence with his Irish family kept him grounded in 
the old world, Hurley had traveled to the new world, and a very different part 
of the new world at that—the West.  For better or worse, the development of the 
American West is largely tied to the discovery of precious metals, especially gold 
and silver.  The discovery of gold and silver in the hills northeast of present-day 
Carson City, named the Comstock Lode after one of the early successful miners, 
Henry T. “Pancake” Comstock, was no exception to the rule of communities 
transformed almost instantly.  By mid-1859, prospectors at Gold Hill, south of 
Virginia City, found some phenomenal ore deposits and very soon the normal 
cast of characters—miners and those hoping to “support” the miners—came 
in droves.  Hurley arrived during the peak years of the Comstock production 
and profit.  In 1869, the combined gold and silver yield was $7.4 million and, 
in 1877, the gold yield was $14.5 million and silver $21.8 million.  Thereafter 
the yield began to decrease and, by the late 1880s, was a fraction of the glory 
years.30  By the late nineteenth century, Hurley commented regularly on the dif-
ficulties for miners.  In 1894, for example, he writes, “Very bad times in United 
States, everything low and a great scarcity of money and work. Nevada and 
other silver-producing states, who owing to the low price of silver which… is 
now selling at… less than half the par value.”31

Mining strikes, of course, never pay equal dividends to all those attempting 
to make their fortune, but because of the geologic realities, the Nevada Comstock 
payout provided far less equity than that of California fame a decade earlier.  
In eastern Nevada, the riches were in a single fissure that ran eastward, and the 
great majority of the quality ore was extremely deep.  Thus, the amount of luck 
and specialized mining equipment needed to find the gold and silver ruled out 
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Figure 4. Timothy and Kate Hurley. Date unknown. (Courtesy of the Deasy family, 
Clonakilty, Ireland)
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success for most of the “ordinary” miners on the mountain.  Corporate mining 
was the eventual model in California, but it was the necessary and dominant 
model in Nevada.  And corporate mining meant political and legal clashes dic-
tated the terms of Eastern Nevada’s subsequent history—to the benefit of the 
state’s politicians and lawyers.  The development of the few who controlled so 
much, especially the bonanza kings, also meant that much of the power from 
the Comstock wealth became centered in places other than Nevada.32

The Hurley brothers had a fairly strong connection to the Comstock and its 
wealth, because both brothers invested in a variety of stocks, especially mining 
stocks.  In 1876, for example, Hurley writes “We have more confidence in the 
stocks we hold now, than those we held at any time since we became connected 
with them. The market has been improving for some time back with every 
indication of much further advances in the next few months.”33  In that letter 
Hurley relates that they had bought stock in the Belcher mine, one of the most 
prominent in the Comstock.34  Speculation in mines was a fever, and Denis and 
Michael Hurley obviously caught that fever.  But speculation was a high-risk 
game—the Belcher paid dividends until 1876, so their risk did not pay off.

One of the most fascinating letters of the Hurley collection came the fol-
lowing year, in 1877.  Hurley wrote to his father and asked for a loan of £100 
so that he and Michael could invest in mines that were going at a tenth of their 
value.  His urgency comes through clearly in the following passage, as does his 
use of guilt, bribery, manipulation, and a host of other methods well known by 
sons trying to get something from their fathers:

Father don’t hesitate, if you knew how things work, you would not. We 
have several thousand dollars at stake, and with your loan we are almost 
morally certain that next Fall would render us independent of work and 
Christmas find us home together with a handsome fortune. If you wish 
to hasten that consummation, don’t deny our request. You may be sure 
that it is no trifling affair that has induced us to take this step, and we 
trust we won’t be disappointed. We know with how much pains a little 
money is put together to home, and we would never think of asking it for 
any risky and or doubtful venture. If we are as successful as we expect 
we will return your money doubled at least two-fold.  Father we don’t 
ask this in [pity?], or for charity, as even if you refuse it, for we cannot 
believe you will, we will still have means thank God, but your refusing 
will cause us a loss of at least ₤1000. If you intend to send, lose not a day, 
no excuse is worth a cent. We are neither drinking nor howdying nor 
squandering…. We have been more fortunate than others in work have 
carried our bark through a terrible storm to within sight of land weak 
and exhausted from buffeting with the breakers and the friendly hand 
we asked to assist us ashore we hope will not be withheld. If our own 
family should return as a deaf ear; then farewell all beside.
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Though father succumbed and provided the loan, the bonanza never came 
and the brothers never repaid the loan, and other than a brief mention from 
Michael in 1877, they did not talk of it.35  

Working for the Virginia & Truckee Railroad

Arguably the most important early institution in Carson City was the Vir-
ginia & Truckee Railroad.  The rail line between Carson and Virginia City had 
been completed only in early 1870 and in 1872, less than a year from the time 
that Hurley used the railroad to reach his destination, the line connected to the 
Central Pacific at Reno.  The V &T officials decided to house their offices in Car-
son City, and Abe Curry contracted with them to construct maintenance facilities 
for the V & T in the new capital as well, commencing that project in late 1872.36  
One of the buildings in this complex, a large rectangular building known as the 
enginehouse and shops, would play a large role in Hurley’s life, as he would 
work in this facility for most of his years until the early twentieth century. [Fig 5]

Figure 5. V. & T. Shops, Carson City, June 1882. (Library of Congress, HABS NEV, 
13-CARCI, 6-1)
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It is hard to underestimate the transforming power of this railroad to turn the 
potential of massive riches for the area, for investors, for mine owners, and for the na-
tion, into actual riches.  Without the V & T, that potential would have gone untapped.  
It not only carried the gold and silver, it carried the owners and workers who formed 
the human machinery of the Comstock.  Experts point out that one of the factors that 
made the V &T so effective was its reliability, making it a sought-after model for other 
railroads.  By 1873, the V & T was making about thirty runs per day between Carson 
and Virginia City.  Such extensive usage required ongoing routine maintenance on 
the tracks—lightweight rails on curves often only lasted nine months.37

Hurley, following his brother’s lead, went to work for the Virginia and Truckee 
Railroad, and remained in their employ until December of 1906.  What precisely he 
did in the earliest years is not known. In his first letter, he wrote that he was “assist-
ing to keep a railway track in order.”  According to Wendell Huffman, Curator of 
History at the Nevada State Railroad Museum in Carson City, this most likely refers 
to the repairing of tracks that was part of a regular railroad maintenance program.  
Hurley would have been a member of a crew of about four to six people whose 
responsibility was to make sure the gauge and height of tracks was proper.  The 
tracks, because of railroad traffic and geographic changes, would become uneven 
and out of alignment.  The repair crew would work together and while some men 
lifted the rails with crowbars others would shovel gravel under the tracks to get 
them closer to uniformity.38  Considering the steepness of the grade and the extreme 
weather conditions that would have been typical on the line between Carson City 
and Virginia City, this would have been difficult work indeed.

In succeeding years, Hurley mentioned from time to time that his work was not 
overly strenuous.  That was because by the mid-1870s he was working as a laborer 
in the enginehouse and roundhouse, specifically serving as the night watchman for 
those facilities, first in Carson, in Reno during the 1880s, then back in Carson from 
the early 1890s until his retirement.39

What would the job of night watchman have entailed?  The image that may 
come to mind is of a hunched-over elderly man in a railroad cap, holding aloft a 
lantern and shouting “who’s there?” as he hears a noise during his rounds.  Certainly, 
Hurley would have been responsible for keeping the equipment in the enginehouse 
secure, but his job would have been much more extensive than playing solitaire and 
occasionally making a stroll around the facilities.

First, the sheer size of the Carson City shops must be emphasized—the engine-
house and shops was one of about forty structures, all of which were dedicated to 
keeping the railroad running, especially the twenty-four steam locomotives.  There 
were also four hundred passenger, freight, and service cars.  The Carson engine-
house itself was a 60 by 180 foot garage that could house up to eleven locomotives.  
A fifty-four-foot diameter turntable dominated the enginehouse. The engines 
would enter through large wooden doors into individual stalls, with maintenance 
pits underneath, where the men would perform minor repairs and routine engine 
servicing, primarily with hand tools.40
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The Virginia and Truckee payroll and labor repair records provide addi-
tional clues as to Hurley’s regular activities in the shops.  The first record we 
have for Hurley is from December of 1875.  The occupation column lists him 
as a “wiper,” and that label is used again in December of 1886, when he was 
working in the Reno shops.  Hurley provides his own occupation as “engine 
oiler” in the 1900 census.  According to the foremost authority on the Virginia 
and Truckee Railroad, former long-time Chief Curator of the California State 
Railroad Museum, Stephen Drew, the terms wiper and oiler referred to the same 
activity.  The engines would come into the roundhouse having been out in the 
elements for many hours and having collected all types of “souvenirs” during 
their journeys up and down the mountain–dust, dirt, ash, soot, splashes of oil, 
and a variety of other materials.  When the engine came into the roundhouse, a 
crack team would get to work sprucing it up and making sure it was presentable 
to the world by the next morning.  Hurley, as the wiper, would have used an 
oiled rag to wipe down the painted and polished metal surfaces of the locomo-
tive, making sure it was clean and bright.  Considering the size of the engines, 
that would have been a considerable amount of work involving climbing and 
a great amount of reaching and stretching.41

An additional term, “packer,” is used to describe his roundhouse duties in 
the various company records.  A packer, according to Wendell W. Huffman and 
Chris DeWitt, Restoration Supervisor of the Nevada Railroad Museum shop, 
refers to the person responsible for helping to keep the train axles lubricated.  
Hurley would have opened the journal box cover, taken a wool-fiber yarn that 
had been soaked in oil, and packed it into the journal box, aligning and fluff-
ing the material as needed around the axle.  Packing was part of the regular 
maintenance that ensured the smooth operation of the train axles.42

Our picture of the roundhouse watchman is thus transformed through 
these descriptions.  Certainly Hurley was responsible for keeping an eye on the 
activities occurring in the shops.  He might indeed have done a great deal of 
walking, and that proverbial lantern might have been part of the process.  But 
he also worked hard in his role as a night watchman/oiler/packer in his thirty-
three years with the V & T.  Drew points out that the Reno facility was a 2-stall 
engine house that serviced the “crack” trains—the fastest and best locomotives 
like Reno.  They coordinated their schedule with the Central Pacific and then 
the Southern Pacific, and for Hurley to have been part of that crew for over a 
decade says a great deal about his position with the company.43

Hurley maintained a remarkable attitude of thankfulness toward his job; 
he never seemed to lose a sense of privilege that he was able to work, even 
when the rail company resorted to pay decreases, layoffs, and reduced hours.  
He writes in 1893, as Nevada was beginning to feel the ravages of the Panic of 
1893, “My pay is still $3.50: 3 ½ dollars. Fortunate so far; there is but a handful 
of men employed around here now, and the pay is generally [reduced?] here 
now.”  Five years later he reports “I am still steadily employed and am making 
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some hay while the sun shines,” and he adds in 1904, “I have worked every night 
this year yet save one. It seems we have to toil wherever we are. But there is 
pleasure in toil if we have health and a contented and benevolent mind.”  Hurley 
believed strongly in honest, hard work, and sometimes lamented that others, 
including his Irish countrymen, did not share his view.  “Here or in Ireland it 
takes thrift, industry, and good judgement to get along,” he asserts in 1928.44

How did Hurley put his hard-earned wages to use, and what did he do in 
the hours when he was not working the night shift for the railroad?  We know 
very little about his life in Reno during the 1880s because no letters survive 
from the decade he was there.  There is a reasonable amount of information 
that can be mined from other sources, however.  In 1882 and 1888, he is listed 
as a potential Reno precinct juror and, in 1884, the Reno Evening Gazette notes 
he won a side-saddle at the Catholic fair at the Nevada Theater, & immediately 
presented it to Father Walsh.  Newspapers and vital records also reveal that he 
married Margaret Burke in Reno in January of 1887.  The Nevada State Journal 
reported that Father Maloney presided over the marriage and it was “spoken 
of as being one of the grandest of the season, and the presents superb.”  His 
new bride was born in County Roscommon and had come to Nevada in 1884, 
when she was eighteen.  Hurley participated actively and served as an officer 
in the Young Men’s Institute, a Catholic fraternal organization, founded in 1883, 
in San Francisco.  The paper reported that he was one of the “well known and 
reliable citizens of Reno.”45

In the summer of 1889, Hurley returned to Carson City.  He and Margaret 
bought a home for $750 just off North Carson Street between Washington and 
Caroline, behind what was then the Carson Exchange Hotel, and where the 
Nevada State Museum stands today.  The assessed value of the home was $500 
in 1890 and grew to $850 by 1910.46  Part of the reason for the increase in prop-
erty values was that Mr. and Mrs. Hurley continued to upgrade, including the 
purchase of additional surrounding lots.  One senses the comparative pride he 
felt in 1903, sharing with his brother John that they had purchased additional 
land, and calling the new lot his “farm.”  He writes, “I have got a new farm - a 
lot adjoinning my own which cost me about $100.  We have planted some beds 
of vegetables, onions, pease beans, lettuce potatoes, etc. besides a grass lawn 
& We are also getting the electric light into the house and some other improve-
ments.  This is a great place for comfort and convenience if you have the means 
of procuring them.”  Their personal property also added to the total value of 
their house.  Hurley compares his furnishings with those in Ireland in 1892, 
stating, “Furniture must last longer in Ireland than here. It is more substantial 
and plain there. I have several table extension, drawers, etc., carpeted floors, 
rugs, book-case, and revolving writing desk combined.”  In 1892, the assessor 
notes a value of $350 for improvements.  Denis Hurley clearly valued owning 
his own home and the responsibilities that came with that ownership, although 
he did sometimes note the expenses of being a homeowner.  He elaborates in 
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1900, “I do not think you have the facilities in many of any houses in Clon-
akilty that we have here. We have bathtub washbowl sink for dish washing a 
patent closet for private purposes - instead of the shelter of the ditches, as we 
had to at home. Fresh water turned on in facits and the impure to run off into 
other pipes. Besides we have hoses to sprinke flowers, shrubs, and grass. Very 
convenient but quite expensive.”47

It seems clear that by the late nineteenth century, Denis Hurley, the once un-
known Irish immigrant from County Cork and his wife, had become “prominent” 
citizens, known and respected by many, in both Reno and Carson City.  This is 
obvious by their position in the church, by Hurley’s leadership in local fraternal 
organizations, and as one of the directors of the Nye and Ormsby County Bank, 
and by the ways in which the newspapers reported on their social connections.48

Margaret died of typhoid in August of 1910.  She had been sick many times 
over the years, especially since the early twentieth century, but it still came as 
a shock to Hurley.  He fairly quickly relocated to a boarding house, though he 
held on to the property and rented it to the end of his life.49

A Man of Many Interests

Denis Hurley, as has been shown thus far, navigated his dual Irish and 
American identities with considerable skill.  One of the ways in which he made 
sense of both his native and birth lands, was the inclusion of a wide variety of 
topics in his letters.  He had a particular interest in the practice and well-being 
of farming and farmers, not surprising considering his agricultural roots. Hur-
ley typically made comparative comments—relating the farming conditions in 
the U.S. to those in Ireland.  Ownership and hard work were qualities that he 
valued and seem to be qualities that he developed during his formative years 
in Ireland, living and working on a farm.50

Despite his cheerful disposition toward laboring, he certainly would not have 
minded making it big in the new world. He admits to his mother in his correspon-
dence from 1898, “We are in good health, thank God, and I am still employed. It 
is hard to get employment in this part of the world lately, and many are as hard 
up as in the old country…. I had hopes one time to have an independent fortune 
and to dazzle the natives. But thank God that we are so well.”51

Religion in Nevada

A significant source of the optimism and confidence that permeated Denis 
Hurley’s views of his economic state most likely stemmed from the state of his 
soul. Hurley was a devout Catholic and his religious faith seems to have buoyed 
him in the midst of a number of storms he encountered in his long life, as well 
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as providing him with an upbeat everyday demeanor.  His very first letter home 
reports “We have got a nice Catholic church, attended by a very eloquent Irish 
Priest, in this town. All persons are provided with good comfortable seats. The 
appearance of the congregation is very respectable, on account of the rich clothes 
which all the members, especially, the female portion wears.”  Hurley attended 
mass faithfully throughout his life, despite hindrances like health issues and 
work schedules.  In 1891, he writes, “I have been able to attend 5 o-clock mass 
every morning after getting through work.”52  He also reveals his commitment 
to the church in comments home about the organization of the diocese and the 
activities of his parish, both in Carson City and Reno.53  Hurley was so faithful 
in his attendance that when illness forced him to miss services in 1937, the old 
timers took marked notice of his absence.  Beyond faithful attendance, Hurley 
connected with his faith through active membership and participation in groups 
like the Knights of Columbus and the Young Men’s Institute.54

As was the case for the rapid development of the Catholic Church in Cali-
fornia—the church responding to the rush of men and women to the area with 
the establishment of missionary congregations—so, too, did that scene play out 
in Nevada.  The bishop of the San Francisco Diocese, Joseph Sadoc Alemany, 
sent Father Joseph Gallagher into Nevada in 1858, just as news of the riches in 
the Comstock started to make its way into the public arena.  The Carson City 
church in which Denis Hurley worshiped, St. Theresa of Avila, was only three 
years old when he arrived in 1873. [Fig. 6] The Carson congregation did not see 
much leadership stability in its early years, with as many as ten priests serving 
there between 1865 and 1871.  In 1871, Rev. Luke Tormey began his service at 
St. Teresa’s and remained there until 1886.  Denis Hurley would have known 
and served with at least ten different priests in his years at St. Teresa’s.55

While in Reno in the 1880s, Hurley attended the newly consecrated Saint 
Mary’s Catholic Church, located at the Northwest corner of Lake Street and 
Sixth Street and led by Rev. James J. Callan.  Built under the guidance of Callan 
a year after the great fire of 1879 that destroyed much of Reno, St. Mary’s served 
the Reno Catholic population until it, too, burned down in 1905.56

Over the years, Denis Hurley forged strong relationships and friendships 
with most of the Catholic clergy in Carson City and Reno, including some of 
the prominent and pioneer priests.  In 1891, he was part of a group who dined 
with Bishop Manogue when he visited Carson City.  He gave instructions to 
his brother Tim, in 1895, that Father Kiely of Reno would be visiting Ireland 
and noted “He said he would call to see mother if at all convenient. I hope [you 
will provide him with hospitality?]  He is in every way worthy of it. I have sat 
at his table many times, and he at mine. Until we moved here, he hardly ever 
came to Carson that he would not call to see us.”57

But Denis Hurley was a man who obviously went beyond merely attending 
his church and visiting with priests and bishops. His reflections reveal an indi-
vidual who was deeply concerned about spiritual matters—an Irish immigrant 
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Figure 6. St. Teresa’s Catholic Church, Carson City.  Photograph taken by the author.
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who had been infused with a moral, Christian character in his upbringing and 
who brought that understanding with him as he observed the rather un-Chris-
tian West.  He shared his concern that the West was a place of destitution and 
lawlessness. In one letter, he compared the Irish people of Clonakilty to those 
in Nevada, stating “My goodness what a contrast there is between the spirit 
of the people of both places. One confessor is not kept busy here for one week. 
There is not much faith here, but drinking, gambling, immoralities and dissipa-
tion.”  Hurley infused his letters with pronouncements about religious issues in 
general, exposing to us a deeply spiritual Irish-American.  The seriousness of 
his faith comes through most often when commenting on others who are sick 
or who have died.  In one letter, he exclaims, “Death is as natural as going to 
sleep and a few years of time is a small moment compared with eternity. The 
happy translation is the thing to labor and hope for,” and, in another note, he 
consoles his brother, writing, “I am very sorry for the death of your son.  He 
has escaped the dangers and temptations and burdens of this life. The life to 
come is the important part.”58

Denis Hurley’s letters also reveal a man with a spirit of Christian humil-
ity and fairness.  To Hurley, the best way to practice Christian principles was 
to live in peace and harmony with all who were within his sphere.  In 1876, 
America’s centennial year, Hurley states, “We are at the end of Christmas Time 
and the beginning of a New Year an eventful one in the history of America.  May 
Almighty God be equally propitious to us with his favors In the New as he has 
been in the old.  May He preserve us from family broils bitterness and conten-
tion, & enable us to live in unity, peace & harmony to the end of our lives.”59

As I stated earlier, I think his view of “the West” is at least part of what made 
him concerned to live peaceably with others, as a reflection of good Christian 
practice.  When he describes “the long-tailed, sombre-looking Chinamen; the 
black-haired red skinned Indian, …The swarthy, copper-coloured Mexican,” 
etc., I do not detect superiority and disdain.  Instead, I see him as fascinated—
intoxicated with the diversity of peoples and places in the American frontier.60  
And Hurley did have the chance to see a wider view of the West than Carson—
he worked and lived in Virginia City and Reno and took multiple journeys to 
Tahoe and San Francisco to visit his brother.  There is virtually no negative tone 
when describing the people or places he visits; instead, praise and marvel.61

A Bailiff in the Federal Court

By 1906, Hurley had come to the end of his time with the railroad—one 
senses that he was a bit weary with the grind of the everyday V & T routines.  
About five years after his retirement from the railroad, Hurley took a job as 
guard at the state prison.  Two years after his stint as a prison guard, Hurley 
commenced work as a bailiff for a federal judge.  The early twentieth-century 
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legal system in Nevada reflected the raw political power and manipulation 
that the rapid growth and mining wealth had brought to the region.  James 
Hulse summarizes:

The early history of the federal court system in Nevada is the record of 
the gradual establishment of judicial authority in a region where there 
was great wealth at stake before the basic instruments of law and gov-
ernment had been established, and where there was little incentive for 
the citizenry to respect the principles of American law established on 
the other side of the continent.

In early 1918 Hurley began working for the fifth federal judge in Nevada 
history, Edward Silsby Farrington.62	 E. S. Farrington, raised in New England 
and a resident of Nevada from the early 1880s, commenced his position as U.S. 
District Judge for the District of Nevada in 1907.  Hulse argues that Farrington’s 
appointment served as an end to “the judicial frontier,” marked by a “kind of 
casual, or ex post facto, procedure for establishing a judiciary.”63 After Farrington 
retired in 1928, Hurley stayed on at the request of the new appointee, Frank Her-
bert Norcross.  Also a confirmed Republican, he served on the Nevada Supreme 
Court from 1905-1917 and then President Coolidge appointed him to succeed 
Farrington, beginning a stint of seventeen years in May of 1928.  Hurley, despite 
possessing a wide knowledge of politics, would have been thrust into a new 
world after 1918—a world full of legal jargon.  That he remained in his position 
as a bailiff for twenty years speaks to his abilities to adapt and learn.  It also says 
something about his stamina and mental acuity, well into his ninth decade.64

What was a bailiff and what did his duties entail in the early twentieth century?  
The U.S. Congress authorized the position of cryer, a position eventually called 
bailiff, in 1799, outlining the duties as follows: “The respective courts of the United 
States shall appoint cryers for their courts, …to attend upon the grand and other 
jurors, and for other necessary purposes.”  Although describing bailiffs’ working 
in state courts, Revised Laws of Nevada (1912) provides a more detailed description 
that would most likely overlap strongly with Hurley’s duties as a federal bailiff:

4916. Duty of bailiff. 

Sec. 3. It shall be the duty of each bailiff to preserve order in the court, 
or the division to which he may be appointed; to attend upon the jury; 
to open and close court, and to perform such other duties as may be 
required of him by the judge of the court.

Various sources list Denis Hurley as a bailiff, crier, and messenger during 
his time serving two federal judges, so it is safe to assume that his duties were 
fairly wide ranging; in essence, he served at the direction and pleasure of judges 
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Farrington and Norcross.  He would have opened the courtroom and ushered in 
the lawyers, witnesses, and other persons attending court. He would have an-
nounced the arrival of the judge, asking that “all rise” and perhaps announcing 
“Oyez! Oyez! Court is now in session, the honorable Judge E. S. Farrington presid-
ing.”  He might have transported evidence into the courtroom and delivered it 
to various parties as requested by the judge.  Acting as an intermediary between 
the jury foreman and the district judge, he would have been responsible to bring 
the jury into and out of the courtroom and to provide any procedural guidance 
they would have needed for their deliberations.  Finally, he would have been a 
messenger for the judge, running any errands Farrington or Norcross needed that 
were pertinent to the cases at hand.  For all of this, Denis Hurley received $850 
in 1919 and 1921, according to the Official Register of the United States directory.65

Browsing the cases at which Hurley was present between 1918 and 1938 
reveals the major themes of the United States in those years.  In the 1920s, an 
overwhelming number of cases dealt with prohibition; in the 1930s, bankruptcy.  
On the eve of prohibition, one of “his” first cases involved the illegal selling of 
liquor to Indian country.  This would be the single most common case Hurley 
would witness in his first two years as bailiff.66  One wonders how Hurley, seem-
ingly amazed by the diversity of the West, felt about cases that seemed to reflect 
the ethnic and racial hostility characteristic of so many at the time.

By 1918, the United States involvement in the Great War was in full swing, 
and Hurley witnessed a number of cases of violation of the Selective Services 
Act—men who failed to respond to their draft call.67  Within two years, as 1920 
wore on, violations of the Prohibition Act dominated court proceedings.  Hur-
ley reports in a 1920 letter, “Our government has a hard time in enforcing the 
prohibition act. A good many violators of the law are brought before the Federal 
Court, where I am in attendance and many odd and ingenius (sic) devices for the 
manufacture of illicit liquor exhibited.”68  As the 1920s gave way to the 1930s and 
the Depression, Hurley observed a phenomenal number of bankruptcy cases and 
one wonders how many of the people suffering from economic woes he would 
have known.  Perhaps his comment in 1930, “Unemployment is a hard problem to 
solve the world over. I am very fortunate to hold a position that does not require 
much strength in my old age,” reveals a man who was confronted daily in the 
courtroom with many who were challenged financially, and was thankful not to 
be in the same situation.69

An Observer of Politics

A final way in which Denis Hurley negotiated the dual identities of be-
ing American and Irish was through his interest and involvement in politics.  
Hurley was an active, avid follower and participant in the world of politics, 
both domestic and international, and in his case, those are interesting terms in 
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themselves.  The amount and depth of political conversation in his correspon-
dence reveals him to be a man who saw Irish politics as something “domestic,” 
even to the end of his life, while simultaneously adopting American politics 
as domestic.  His letters thus allowed him to live comfortably in both political 
worlds.  Through the years, Hurley included discussions of the English Parlia-
ment and Monarchy, political parties in Ireland, local elections, and women’s 
suffrage.70  One of the most frequent matters on which he offered opinion was 
that of Home Rule.

From the late 19th century, through the violence of the Irish Civil War, and 
until the Irish Free State became a reality, Hurley followed the Britain-Ireland 
debate closely and urged Irish independence in letter after letter.  The Home 
Rule conflict proper precededa Denis Hurley’s birth by only a half century, 
starting with the Act of Union in 1800.  Struggles between unionists and nation-
alists would have been part of the regular conversation as he grew up.  Charles 
Stewart Parnell became the public face of the Land League, whose goal was 
to end the landlord system and enable Irish farmers to own their own lands.71  
By the 1880s, a series of home rule and land act bills, championed by Parnell 
and British PM William Gladstone were making their way through Parliament, 
with Parnell representing the Cork seat in the House of Commons—how could 
Hurley not be inspired and hopeful about Irish independence, both nationally 
and individually?

Hurley’s comments over the years make it obvious that he was in agree-
ment with the independence movement.  In 1913, for instance, he exclaims, “I 
am glad to see that Home Rule is making good headway and that the Home 
Rulers elected their member in Derry. It took the boast and the brag from the 
Unionists.”  He added in 1914, “I hope that St. Patrick’s day 1915 will find Ire-
land thriving under Home Rule and enjoying peace and prosperity,” and, in 
1917, he exclaims “Home Rule struggle is still occupying much attention—they 
must not let it flag until victory perches on their banner.”72

His interest in American politics was equally keen.  From early in his time 
in the United States, Hurley favored the Republican platform, a position which 
put him at odds at times with his pro-Democratic Party brother.  In some of his 
first letters back to Ireland, Mr. Hurley commented upon and included political 
news from the States.  The range of topics is sweeping: monetary policy, tariff 
issues, the Great Depression, wars, labor, foreign relations, and agricultural 
policy, among others.  Because of the importance of mineral wealth to Nevada, 
the silver question arises frequently in his correspondence.73

He had some interesting things to say about temperance in particular.  
Though opposed to the abuse of alcohol and the ways in which it degraded 
society, Denis Hurley had mixed feelings at best about Prohibition.  On the one 
hand, he condemned the rampant availability of alcohol because of its harm to 
society, stating about whiskey in 1875, “It is the cause of a great deal of misery, 
more so here than in the old country owing to the greater opportunities working 
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men have to indulge their brutish appetites. The inferior kinds which indeed is a 
very poor article, can be had very cheaply, it is the devil’s own stuff.”  He made 
his position concerning alcohol quite clear at the start of Prohibition, lamenting, 
“We cannot get a drink of whiskey, wine, or porter for love or money here. The 
abuse of drink is a curse, but its total suppression works a hardship especially in 
cases of sickness.”  For Hurley, the ineffectiveness of enforcing Prohibition was 
one of its chief drawbacks, but nothing compared to the inability to celebrate 
with some good, quality alcohol!  He complains in 1922, “We cannot celebrate 
here with any St Patrick’s Day Pot or glass. We have a weak beer which is not 
like the Clonakilty Porter.”74

In the early twentieth century, Denis Hurley began to run for elected of-
fice.  In 1908, he informed his brother that he was running for the Nevada 
Legislature—a run that ultimately proved to be controversial and unsuccessful.  
At first, he seemed to win by one vote in the election for the Assembly over the 
Democratic candidate, James A. Raycraft, but when Raycraft challenged the vote 
the recount resulted in Raycraft winning by one vote.  Hurley contended that a 
combination of bribery and the fact that the Commissioners doing the recount 
were Democrats, led to his ultimate loss.  He was, however, encouraged that 
he had such strong community support.75

A Political Participant

As Denis Hurley entered into the world of politics in the early twentieth 
century, the Progressive Movement and its aim to curb political corruption, to 
make democracy more direct, and to reign in the power of big business was 
well underway.  Nevada, however, seemed to have missed that memo.  He 
was about sixty when he entered the political arena, and, though clearly not 
innocent about the world of politics, he had never before grappled with the 
realities of running for office.

Nevada had been organized politically in the midst of the Civil War, when 
Lincoln had garnered extra support for the Republican Party by advocating 
Nevada’s entrance into the Union.  The state maintained a strong Republican 
loyalty for the next few decades, veered to the Silver Party between 1892 and 
1906, then maintained a fairly balanced Republican-Democrat balance until 
1932 when FDR and the Democrats dominated. Balance, however, was not a 
term one would use to describe Gilded-Age Nevada, nor even the Nevada of 
the early 1900s.  With mining interests diminishing quickly, the state was los-
ing its population and the respect of other states; so, as Mary Ellen Glass notes, 
exploitation and manipulation became the means for politicians to maintain 
their control.  These logistical realities and the efforts that the Republicans 
expended to regain control of the Senate races earned Nevada the moniker of 
the “Rotten Borough.”76



126 Bryan Lamkin

Hurley continued to enter his name in the political arena.  He made unsuc-
cessful bids for the position of Ormsby County Commissioner in 1910 and 1912.  
Hurley tried the Assembly race again in 1912, but lost by 10 votes in that elec-
tion.  He reported to his brother the summer before that race, “We are entering 
on a hot campaign in this country. I do not know if I will make my move this 
Fall.  I give some time to city affairs—I like to show that an Irishman is able to 
take a hand in affairs of government.”77

That phrase, “an Irishman able to take a hand in affairs of government,” 
represents the balance that Denis Hurley reached in the American West, as an 
Irishman and as a naturalized American citizen.  He was able to conceptualize 
that dual identity, and, in 1911, he succeeded in making the conceptual a reality 
when elected to the Carson City Board of Trustees from the 2nd Ward, a position to 
which he was reelected in every election for the rest of his life.  For over a quarter 
of a century, he served on that Board, championing city improvements like street 
paving, sewers, and better lighting, and challenging excessive spending patterns, 
especially during the Depression years.  In his very first Trustee meeting, Hurley 
asks to be informed about the standing of the city concerning its income, expenses, 
and outstanding debts.  His Board challenges toward financial responsibility be-
came one of his hallmarks.  Over the years his suggestions included the county 
clerk reducing his salary, not putting down plank crossings, installing porch lights 
instead of street lights, and lowering water rates.78

A review of his almost twenty-seven years of service as a Trustee shows, 
however, that reigning in finances was only a small part of his overall service.  
More importantly, Hurley championed causes that would advance the city’s 
efficiency and reputation, while guarding the rights and well-being of Carson 
City’s citizens and acting in accordance with their wishes.  Such an approach 
led him to propose or challenge a number of ordinances and policies during his 
time in office.  Some of the issues with which Hurley and his fellow Trustees 
dealt seem quaint and even silly to us now, but they were not so to the men at 
the time.  Hurley, for example, once moved to allow cattle and other stock to 
graze within the city limits so they could eat grass growing in the public areas 
and diminish fire danger.79

Hurley brought passion, even feistiness, to his position.  Over the years, 
he argued positions strongly, sometimes stubbornly, and challenged his fellow 
board members to support his ideas and motions, but also maintained a genial 
relationship with those men, and there is no indication that he held grudges or 
voted for or against measures because of personal rivalries.  In 1918, for example, 
Hurley moved to reduce the Carson City police force, recognizing the need to 
decrease expenses, and also commented on the passing of the “Wild West.”  He 
argues, “We are entering on a new era of temperance, prudence and sobriety.  
The millennium is come, and the wolf and the lamb shall lie down peaceable 
side by side.  The drunken Indian and the festive cowboy will be things of the 
past for the future historian to describe.”80
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Figure 7. Denis Hurley, ca. 1930s.  (Cork City and County Archives, U170/138)
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Perhaps the epitome of success for this Irish immigrant from County Cork 
came in 1925.  In June of that year he wrote to his niece, “I enclose a clipping 
from one of our papers, announcing my political elevation as Chairman of our 
City Council. It carries no salary, but we all like a voice in managing our City 
affairs. I have received many Congratulations from friends within and without 
the State.”  In other words, Denis Hurley, Irish immigrant and Irish-American 
citizen in the American West, had been named Mayor of Carson City, Nevada, 
a position he held for two years.  As mayor, he helped reorganize the various 
boards and revise the rules for conducting meetings, and continued his quest for 
a clean, orderly, financially-responsible city.81  After his stint as mayor, Hurley 
remained an active participant on the Board, attending meetings faithfully until 
about two weeks prior to his death.82 [Fig. 7]

Figure 8. Hurley gravesite, Lone Mountain Cemetery, Carson City, NV.  Photograph 
taken by the author.
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How to evaluate the life of Denis Hurley?  His letters show us a man who 
lived in two worlds, with his correspondence serving as the verbal bridge between 
those worlds.  As time went by, he became resigned—perhaps the better word is 
comfortable—with being Irish-American rather than merely Irish.  He declared 
his intent to become an American citizen in May of 1876 and became a natural-
ized American citizen in October of 1878.  Nevertheless, in his earlier years, one 
can note the tensions—the tug-of-war—that sometimes pulled at Hurley in his 
new home.  Thus, in 1879, a trip to Lake Tahoe led him to admit to his parents 
that “thoughts were running through my sleep that night that it was from my old 
Irish home I had started, and old associations were running through my head.”  
Even into the 1890s, the tensions remained, hinting in a letter to his mother in 
1893 that he trade places with his brother and go home to Ireland to manage the 
farm and admitting in 1900 that he “was seriously thinking of returning to the 
land of my birth and ending my days in a little cottage home.”  And he did long 
to return, though as the years went by the intention became one of visitation, 
not a permanent move, which he expressed most clearly in 1913, stating “I may 
some day possibly see the land of my birth, but I doubt it as the world has been 
treating me but I intend my remains to lie beside my wife in Carson City. Forty 
years work a change and we transfer our affections to the scenes tha[t] we are 
familiar with.83  He never did return, even for a visit, and when he died at the 
age of 89 in 1938, the citizens of Nevada and Clonakilty alike mourned his death 
and celebrated his life. [Fig. 8] Both sides of the Atlantic claimed him, and right-
fully so; he was both an Irish immigrant in the American West and a respectable 
Irish-American citizen in that same West.
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	 In the early 1830s, Alexis de Tocqueville detected something about the 
United States that struck him as exceptional: its exceptionalism. As he wrote, 
“The position of the Americans is therefore quite exceptional, and it may be 
believed that no democratic people will ever be placed in a similar one. Their 
strictly Puritanical origin, their exclusively commercial habits, even the country 
they inhabit, which seems to divert their minds from the pursuit of science, 
literature, and the arts, the proximity of Europe, which allows them to neglect 
these pursuits without relapsing into barbarism, a thousand special causes, of 
which I have only been able to point out the most important, have singularly 
concurred to fix the mind of the American upon purely practical objects.” While 
the visiting French observer did his part to promote the concept by writing 
about it, his definition of it could hardly be called precise, or even new. Ameri-
can exceptionalism might also be traced to John Winthrop’s pronouncement 
about a “city upon a hill” as he and his fellow Puritans arrived in Massachusetts 
Bay in 1630 and to the circumstances of the Revolution and the creation of the 
American republic. Similarly, it can be seen in such ideas as Manifest Destiny, 
the importance of the frontier to the American experience, and the continually 
contested concept of American freedom. It can take the form of the American 
belief in empire or human rights, in expanding and contracting democracy, and 
in our political system itself.1
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	 As part of that system, the inboxes of politically active Republicans often 
filled up in the late 2000s and 2010s with emails warning of the evil or incom-
petence or cunning—or some combination thereof—of Harry Reid. As Sen-
ate Democratic leader from 2005 until his retirement at the end of 2016, Reid 
served as the main congressional player in enacting his party’s legislation, and 
a lightning rod for opposition at the national and local levels. But no one can 
deny that he became one of the most powerful people in Washington, D.C., 
and probably the most powerful Nevadan in the nation’s history. Indeed, he is 
among the few Nevadans ever to become a political household name, and that 
begs a question at once simple and complex: why? The roots of the question 
and the answer lie not with Reid himself, who obviously has been a talented 
enough politician for his opponents and even some of his allies to consider him 
both incompetent and shrewd. Rather, the issue is why it has been so rare and 
difficult for a Nevadan to achieve national political prominence. The solution 
to that conundrum lies in the myth and reality of Nevada exceptionalism, and 
how it fits into American exceptionalism.2

	 When Tocqueville was traveling America, what is now Nevada belonged 
to Mexico, and a few trappers and traders had crossed its borders. They had 
little use for the place they saw or the Native Americans they encountered: 
one exploring party, led by Joseph Walker, wound up in battle with them; John 
C. Frémont, leading his mapmaking party, dismissed the Southern Paiutes as 
“lizard-eaters.” In southern Nevada, word spread that horse thieves and pos-
sibly a cannibal populated that portion of the Old Spanish Trail. Already, in the 
1830s, Nevada was developing an image. In decades to come, outsiders would 
continue to present their view of the land, and Nevadans would agree, disagree, 
and propagate their own image of their place. Sometimes they did it thought-
fully and analytically, expressing a sense of place, and sometimes they sought 
to convince others of an image that would attract investment, population, and 
money. When it comes to Nevadans promoting what their state is or what it is 
supposed to be, what happens here is not intended to stay here.3

	 While scholars have demonstrated that actually makes Nevada similar to 
the rest of the West, Nevada’s unique circumstances have shaped its image in 
other ways. Its heavy dependence on mining meant that boom-and-bust cycles 
had longer-lasting effects than in other states, with a two-decade bonanza cen-
tered on the Comstock Lode giving way to a two-decade borrasca that inspired 
discussion of revoking Nevada’s statehood. With Nevada’s population having 
dwindled to 42,000, the Chicago Tribune wondered why the “palsied, decay-
ing” state still had two U.S. senators. Yet, half a century later, with Nevada’s 
population estimated to have surpassed 200,000, Harry Truman privately made 
the same suggestion. He wrote of a trip to the West Coast, “Then we came to 
the great gambling and marriage destruction hell, known as Nevada. To look 
at it from the air it is just that—hell on earth. There are tiny green specks on 
the landscape where dice, roulette, light-o-loves, crooked poker and gambling 
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thugs thrive. Such places should be abolished and so should Nevada. It never 
should have been made a State. A county in the great State of California would 
be too much of a civil existence for that dead and sinful territory. Think of that 
awful, sinful place having two Senators and a congressman in Washington, and 
Alaska and Hawaii not represented.” Nor were the sentiments it expressed as the 
twentieth century approached unique to the loyally Republican Tribune, which 
resented Nevada’s support for Democratic silverite William Jennings Bryan and 
its recent legalization of prize-fighting. Nor were they unique to Truman, the 
lifelong Democrat who had shared a mutual distaste with the state’s longtime 
U.S. senator, Pat McCarran, who had died nine months before Truman’s trip.4

	 What distinguished Nevada in the late nineteenth century and mid-twenti-
eth century (and disgusted both the Tribune and Truman) was its willingness to 
tolerate and even encourage activities that other states tried and found wanting 

Senator Pat McCarran and Senator Key Pittman, (right), exchanging opinions on 
President Roosevelt’s proposal that the membership of the Supreme Court be increased 
to possibly 15 members. They are pictured as they attended a meeting of the Senate 
Judiciary Committee in February 1937. (Harris & Ewing Collection, Library of Congress)
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or immoral or unacceptable. Boxing, easy divorce, gambling, prostitution—all of 
these carried a stigma that affected the state’s image across the country, and the 
image of the people who lived there. Nevada certainly exacerbated this image 
by catering to mobsters and ignoring some of its social obligations—thus, de-
scriptions of it as “the Mississippi of the West” and “the sorry state of Nevada,” 
and books with titles like The Green Felt Jungle and The Great Rotten Borough. 
While its history of racial and gender discrimination is less fairly criticized only 
in the context that it did what other states were doing, Nevada had a financial 
necessity for tolerating vices, so-called or real.5

	 Some Nevadans understood and lamented the situation. In this context, 
McCarran makes for an unlikely sympathetic figure: leader of a communist 
witch hunt that often ignored basic principles of the Bill of Rights, operator of 
a political machine who brooked no dissent, and an anti-Semite who catered to 
African Americans only when he needed their votes. But in the wake of Sena-
tor Estes Kefauver’s hearings on organized crime in 1950-51, and subsequent 
efforts to tax gambling revenue, he sent a letter to Nevada State Journal editor 
Joe McDonald, a loyal ally. McCarran’s biographer, Jerome Edwards, called the 
letter “one of the most revealing he ever wrote:”:

It isn’t a very laudable position for one to have to defend gambling. 
One doesn’t feel very lofty when his feet are resting on the argument 
that gambling must prevail in the State that he represents. The rest of 
the world looks upon him with disdain even though every other State 
in the Union is harboring gambling in one form or another, illegally, of 
course, and even though the State that he defends and represents, has 
legalized gambling, it doesn’t take from the actuality in defending the 
thing in an open forum, where men of all walks of life and all particular 
phase and religious bents are listening and laughing, condemning or 
ridiculing. We have everything in the Congress of the United States from 
Orthodox Puritanical preachers to pill rollers. So, when the economic 
structure of one’s state is so involved in the gambling business, or to put 
it another way, when the gambling business is involved in the economic 
structure of one’s State, one must lay aside pride and put on the hide of 
a rhinoceros and go to it….

The City of Reno has grown immensely in the past 20 years. The City 
of Las Vegas has come from a wide spot in the road to a community of 
40,000 or more. That growth in neither instance was accomplished by 
industries with payrolls. It was accomplished by making the State of 
Nevada a playground to which the world was invited, and that play-
ground has as its base gambling in all forms, and those who have been 
responsible for this growth upon this foundation cannot with propriety 
and good conscience take on a longhaired attitude overnight.6
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	  Ironically, McCarran had contributed greatly to the growth he cited, partly by 
taking advantage of another characteristic that made Nevada exceptional and more 
easily dismissed as unworthy: the amount of federal land within its borders. The 
ease with which the federal government could build military bases and defense 
plants on that acreage resulted in economic benefits and population expansion 
for several Nevada communities. But Reno and Las Vegas and their surrounding 
areas particularly benefited, turning each city into something similar to what urban 
historian Roger Lotchin, describing western cities during World War II, called a 
“martial metropolis.” Nevada also capitalized on the tourism possibilities in these 
projects, welcoming visitors to Hoover Dam and turning the mushroom cloud 
from atomic testing into an attraction. Indeed, Nevada’s enthusiasm for atomic 
testing seemed patriotic and profitable at the time. But later, when the Department 
of Energy and members of Congress targeted part of the Nevada Test Site for the 
nation’s only federal high-level nuclear waste repository, Nevadans considered 
their state a target and a victim.7
	 This aspect of the federal government’s role in the state is one example of what 
Nevadans consider their exceptionalism: They often have felt as though they and 
their state have been special targets. In the late nineteenth-century, Nevadans cried 
foul over the demonetization of silver in the “Crime of ’73”; mid-twentieth-century 
complaints focused on proposed gambling taxes and policies that Nevada saw as 
hurting domestic mining and benefiting foreign producers. The fight over Yucca 
Mountain has been the most obvious recent example, with Nevadans from the 
highest political position to the person in the street objecting to being the nation’s 
dumping ground for nuclear waste. That part of the state’s vast expanse of federal 
land—more than 86 percent of its territory—could be used for these purposes 
highlights another way in which Nevadans have felt put upon or picked on: They 
have fought federal land policies for decades, and with special fervor since the Bu-
reau of Land Management’s creation in 1946 and its subsequent expansion. What 
became known as the Sagebrush Rebellion originated in the state in the mid- and 
late-1970s, and numerous lawsuits and conflicts have made headlines since, from 
the Jarbidge Shovel Brigade and Elko County’s battles with the U.S. Forest Service 
to Bunkerville rancher Cliven Bundy, the more than twenty years worth of fees he 
owes to the federal government, and the political firestorm that resulted when of-
ficials went after him and his family took part in the seizure of an Oregon wildlife 
refuge. Other ranchers resented Bundy’s refusal to pay his taxes, but all of them 
shared a deep resentment toward the federal government.8
	 The feeling of resentment could be mutual. At times the federal government had 
strong feelings about Nevada. In the late 1970s, federal officials targeted organized 
crime in Las Vegas. A strike force posted a dartboard with photos on it of federal 
judges Harry Claiborne, once a legendary defense attorney for, among others, 
gangsters and suspected gangsters, and Roger D. Foley, known for his belief in 
civil liberties and long connections to the community. In 1979, the FBI sent longtime 
agent Joseph Yablonsky, known as the “King of Sting,” to head its Las Vegas office. 
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Yablonsky declared that he had been sent to “plant the American flag” in Nevada. 
Senator Paul Laxalt, a close friend of Ronald Reagan and chair of his successful 
national presidential campaign in 1980, also was a target and sought Yablonsky’s 
removal, to no avail. Hank Greenspun, the publisher of the Las Vegas Sun, crusaded 
against Yablonsky and the FBI over the prosecution of Claiborne, who had commit-
ted tax evasion. The federal effort included giving immunity to Joe Conforte, the 
operator of the Mustang Ranch brothel and a veteran and inveterate law-breaker. “A 
federal judge is being hanged by a pimp. It’s outrageous,” Greenspun said. Federal 
officials expressed amazement that a lawyer who had been a close friend of casino 
owner and reputed killer, Benny Binion, could be appointed a federal judge. They 
also targeted the senator responsible for Claiborne’s appointment, Howard Can-
non, who had to testify about Teamsters and mob leaders conspiring to attempt to 
bribe him—and, as Cannon noted, managed to schedule his testimony right before 
an election, which he lost.9
	 The year of another Cannon campaign, 1964, helps us understand the political 
ramifications of this idea of Nevada exceptionalism.  As that year’s Democratic 
national convention began, Lyndon Johnson refused to identify his running-mate 
on that year’s ticket. One of the names that popped up was Nevada’s second-term 
Democratic governor, Grant Sawyer, who later recalled that “the Nevada delega-
tion passed a resolution supporting my candidacy … once in a while you run 
into one of those old Johnson-Sawyer buttons at a swap meet or something.” In 
the end, Johnson chose, to almost no one’s surprise, one of his former U.S. Senate 
colleagues, Hubert Humphrey of Minnesota. Sawyer had long since dismissed 
the idea anyway, pointing out that candidates often spread such rumors about 
potential vice-presidential candidates in hopes of attracting support from their 
states or constituencies.
	 For Nevadans with political ambitions, the irony of that election year would 
be considerable. In Sawyer’s case, he knew that someone else would be on the 
ticket, and not just because Nevada could provide only three electoral votes 
and would do nothing to sway surrounding states. Indeed, two decades before, 
when he had been a law student in Washington, D.C., he had received a valu-
able lesson in politics. The senator who put him on his patronage, McCarran, 
was one of the most influential members of Congress, for good or ill. According 
to Sawyer, he “had told me years before that nobody from Nevada was ever 
going to be a president or vice-president of the United States, and probably 
none would hold a cabinet position, because of the generally-held perception 
of Nevada. I agreed with that assessment.”10

	 That stigma became even clearer to another Nevada politician of Sawyer’s time. 
In 1958, Cannon had won election to the Senate from Nevada as part of a national 
and local Democratic sweep. In the same year, Sawyer won the governorship, and 
ran for reelection in 1962. Cannon’s top aide, Jack Conlon, a veteran of Nevada 
Democratic politics and its intrigue, had been concerned that, if reelected, Sawyer 
might use the governorship as a springboard to challenge Cannon’s reelection. To 
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keep that from happening, in 1962, Conlon worked to elect a Republican lieutenant 
governor; Sawyer would be less likely to take on Cannon in a primary if doing so 
would hand the governor’s mansion to the opposition. Conlon proved too suc-
cessful: he helped elect Republican Paul Laxalt, who then challenged Cannon’s 
reelection in 1964 and came within 84 votes of defeating him in a Democratic year 
in which Cannon should have won easily.11

	 It would be the last time Laxalt lost an election. In 1966, he defeated Sawyer’s 
attempt for a third term and undoubtedly would have been reelected in 1970, but 
chose not to seek a second term. He and his family reopened an old Carson City 
staple, the Ormsby House, with help from a Teamsters Central States Pension Fund 
loan. Then Laxalt returned to politics, winning a Senate seat in 1974. During his 
two terms, he became best known for being Ronald Reagan’s best friend, chairing 
his unsuccessful presidential campaign in 1976 and his winning ones in 1980 and 
1984. In 1980, Reagan wanted Laxalt to be his running-mate, but the Nevadan 
said no, logically pointing out that between sharing his conservative ideology and 
coming from a neighboring state with the minimum number of electoral votes, he 
did nothing to strengthen the ticket; George H.W. Bush, Connecticut-born and a 
Texas resident, did and became vice-president. Yet as Reagan’s second term neared 
its end, Laxalt retired from the Senate and pondered a presidential run. It would 
have been an uphill climb, as Laxalt knew: Bush had loyally served Reagan over 
his two terms, and thus had a head start.12

	 Laxalt also ran into the very problem about which McCarran had warned 
Sawyer. In 1983, the Sacramento Bee had published a report on the Teamsters loan 
and skimming at the Ormsby House. Laxalt responded with a $250 million libel 
suit. Eventually, Laxalt and the press chain reached a settlement, with both sides 
claiming victory. But McClatchy reported that Laxalt had no knowledge of any 
skimming (ironically, the editor in charge of the series, legendary journalist Frank 
McCulloch, a onetime managing editor of The Los Angeles Times and executive 
at Time-Life, had been born in Fernley, Nevada, and worked as a wire service 
reporter in Reno). In 1987, the CBS News broadcast Sixty Minutes canceled a 
planned report following up on the McClatchy newspaper’s reporting, and in-
dependent arbitrators awarded Laxalt his legal fees, but dredging up the story 
did nothing to help the Nevadan’s presidential aspirations. He ended his effort 
before it really had started.13

	 Whether McCarran’s warning still holds true may be open to debate. Reid 
became the most powerful member of the U.S. Senate, but also faced occasional 
sniping from critics inside and outside of Nevada over his earlier tenure as chairman 
of the Nevada Gaming Commission—specifically, a mobster’s specious claim that 
he had special connections to Reid. While Reid had no presidential aspirations, his 
onetime junior colleague from Nevada, Republican John Ensign, visited Iowa in 
advance of the 2012 presidential campaign before his resignation from the Senate 
over ethics charges. Ensign had been a veterinarian and a gaming executive, and 
the son of a casino owner, but his ethics problems had nothing to do with gaming. 
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Whether he would have run for higher office, and whether his casino and Nevada 
connections would have posed a problem, cannot be known. Another Nevada 
Republican, Brian Sandoval, attracted attention nationally as a potential vice-
presidential candidate and even as a possible nominee to the U.S. Supreme Court; 
while he had no experience in casino ownership, he had, like Reid, chaired the state 
gaming commission. If Sandoval had had hopes of being on the national ticket in 
2016, it seemed more likely that he would face criticism from fellow Republicans 
for supporting a $1 billion tax increase than for coming from one of 48 states with 
some form of legal gambling.14

	 The spread of gambling has done a great deal to ameliorate the potential effects 
of casino operators involving themselves in national affairs. Some outsiders and 
in-state critics found Laxalt’s observation mind-boggling: “For a Nevada politician 
to refuse a contribution from Moe Dalitz would be like running for office in Michi-
gan and turning down a contribution from General Motors.” Granting that Dalitz 
had an organized crime past, Laxalt’s comment reflected the same kind of political 
reality that led a politician from Georgia to be known as “the Senator from Coca-
Cola.” But times have been changing. In 1996, The Nation, a left-wing magazine, 
called Republican presidential candidate Robert Dole “Vegas Bob” for his frequent 
visits to the city and the large campaign contributions he received, and resort mo-
gul Steve Wynn golfed with President Bill Clinton. In September 2015, New York 
magazine headlined a story about the chief executive of Las Vegas Sands, “Sheldon 
Adelson Is Ready to Buy the Presidency,” and talked about his views about Israel 
and similarities to and differences from the Koch brothers, the businessmen who, 
like Adelson, have spent heavily on behalf of Republican candidates and causes. 
The article never discussed whether a Republican presidential aspirant should or 
would have qualms about taking millions of dollars from a casino owner—and 
doing so while also seeking the votes of evangelical Christians who, two decades 
before, had pushed the party to try to limit the spread of gambling. What once had 
made Nevada so exceptional no longer seemed to be all that big a deal.15

	 Between the legalization of gambling and the passage of time, perhaps 
Nevada actually has become unexceptional, or exceptional in ways that Neva-
dans have not considered. Recent presidential elections may provide a clue. In 
what was known as the “Mississippi of the West,” Barack Obama twice won 
a higher percentage of the vote in Nevada than he did nationally, and during 
his reelection, in 2012, the state elected its first African-American member of 
Congress, Steven Horsford. In 2016, Democrat Hillary Clinton lost her bid to 
succeed Obama, and sexism played some role in that outcome. Yet in a state 
that often has faced national criticism for permitting prostitution and using 
women’s bodies to attract tourists to shows, Nevada’s electoral votes went to 
Clinton (only the second time in a century that it failed to vote for the winning 
candidate), and Nevadans elected the first Latina senator in American history, 
Catherine Cortez Masto, to succeed Reid. No sooner did the election end than 
the national president of Unite Here, the former leader of the Las Vegas Culi-
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nary Union, published an essay entitled, “Democrats must look to Nevada for 
hope—and lessons on how to win.” But as Nevada State Democratic Party chair 
Roberta Lange said, “I don’t think there’s a cookie-cutter model that works for 
every state.”16

	 Nevada rarely has fit in with any national cookie cutter. As historian David 
Levering Lewis has pointed out, perhaps “what has been exceptional about our 
exceptionalist national narrative are the historic exceptions to it—notably, people 
of color?” and historians now may be “at the frontier of a new meta-narrative that 
upends exceptionalism” and shows how slavery made possible “the enormous 
wealth that made the industrial North possible and the surplus capital upon which 
the commercial and industrial paramountcy of New York and Philadelphia were 
built.” Nevada owes its statehood to a war that led to the upending of that world, 
and subsequent efforts to recapture it. That war led to the Fourteenth Amendment, 
whose approval of birthright citizenship Eric Foner has described as “the good 
kind of American exceptionalism” and long “a crowning achievement of what once 
called itself the party of Lincoln”—a party that recently has discussed eliminating 
that right, although, as Foner wrote, birthright citizenship “does make the United 
States (along with Canada) unique in the developed world.” That discussion, led by 
Republican presidential candidates in 2016 and culminating with Donald Trump’s 
comments about Mexicans, has been especially offensive to many Hispanic people, 
who now comprise about 30 percent of Nevada’s population—and thus problem-
atic for Republican candidates, who fared more poorly in Nevada than its recent 
elections might have led them to expect. As the writings of Wilbur Shepperson and 
Ronald M. James, among others, have demonstrated, Nevada has a long history of 
alternately welcoming and turning away from immigrants. Nevada now seems to 
celebrate the diversity that other parts of the country view as a challenge at best 
and as unacceptable at worst.17

	 Nevada long has seemed like an exception, a unique place. As Time magazine 
argued in 1994, America had become much more like Las Vegas, with its service 
economy in a post-industrial society. Politically, Nevada seems to fit the rest of the 
country: blue and purple in the cities, and blood red in rural areas. But its popu-
lation is demographically more representative of the United States than the first 
two states on the presidential road map, Iowa and New Hampshire, which helps 
explain the decision by both major parties to make Nevada’s presidential caucus 
one of the first stops in the nomination process. Nevada’s economy still depends 
primarily on gaming and mining, and measurements of its sociocultural status 
regularly rank it near the bottom in most areas. All of that may seem exceptional in 
some ways, unexceptional in others. But Nevada’s lack of economic diversity and 
its long history of human diversity may distinguish it from other places, as might 
its equally long history of a willingness to project an image of itself that often is at 
variance with the image that most states would prefer to present. Perhaps Nevada 
has only seemed exceptional all these years, when it really has been a mirror to 
America that shows the rest of the country both the best and the worst of itself.18
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Introduction

In December 1913, the Tonopah Daily Bonanza lamented that five Basque 
sheep owners in McDermitt (on the Nevada-Oregon border) sold out their 
businesses, took their capital, and returned to their European homeland. The 
Tonopah Bonanza blamed Nevada’s U.S. Senator Key Pittman for his ingratitude 
towards the Basque immigrant community:   

Five of those undesirable citizens [Basques] of whom Senator Key Pit-
tman never seems to tire of picking out for invidious discrimination 
have bid farewell to Humboldt county and gone back home to Spain. 
If Senator Pittman wished to repel immigration, he could not have suc-
ceeded better than by his treatment of the sheep industry and the men 
who tended the flocks of Nevada.1
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In the 1910s, Basque immigrants in the sheep industry had become a target 
group of discrimination. In the context of increased economic competition and 
social tension on Nevada’s ranges, older cattlemen scapegoated Basque sheep 
workers for all the problems with grazing on public lands. During the early 
twentieth century, as Congress and the President moved to establish forest 
reserves and eventually National Forests, issues of rangeland governance made 
the Basque question and itinerant sheepherders central to a political debate at the 
state and national level over who could use public grazing lands. “The prevalence 
of Basques among the herders,” historian Samuel Hays stressed, “gave the 
industry an even more alien character.”2 Along with the general nativist sentiment 
in the United States, the World War I had much to do with the discrimination and 
exclusion efforts to take Basques off the public-domain lands. 

The present article explores this subject of land-use disputes against the 
Basques in Nevada and the political attention it attracted from pro-cattle 
interests. Among them, the most vociferous was Senator Key Pittman who 
worked on several fronts in order to remove the “hoofed locusts” from 
Nevada throughout the 1910s and 1920s.3 This article analyzes Key Pittman’s 
campaign against the open-range sheep industry in the Silver State whose 
targets included the Basque agricultural labor. 

Nevada’s Problems with the Free and Open Range

In the 1880s, the state of Nevada saw an unprecedented expansion and 
growth of stock numbers on the ranges—both sheep and cattle. As in the Great 
Plains, the early livestock industry in the Great Basin developed with open-
range grazing. Low operating expenses with cheap labor, free forage, and 
open range made for large profits. After the winter of 1889-1890 (the so-called 
“White Winter”), stock operators abandoned the classic open-range system 
and placed greater emphasis upon the raising of hay for winter-feeding. The 
“White Winter” significantly reduced cattle numbers on the Nevada ranges 
to the benefit of sheep graziers. Availability of range resources was altered 
by overgrazing and inappropriate agricultural practices, as well as droughts 
and severe winters. The exhaustion of perennial grasses was followed by 
the invasion of annuals, shrubs, and big sagebrush—all of which did not 
adversely affect sheep grazing. Big stock operations had collapsed after their 
exploitation of the ranges and their monopolization of water resources to 
control the ranges. While smaller operations scrambled to pick up the pieces, 
the ranges were now open to outside herds, especially sheep.4

As sheep ranching expanded rapidly in Nevada and other western states, 
the Basque Country became an important source of pliable labor to work in the 
public rangelands.5 In the late nineteenth century, although other collectivities 
also entered this occupation, Basques had become a noticeable and visible group 
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in sheep grazing. Even though Basque immigrants not only worked in sheep 
grazing, their work in this industry had shaped and strengthened the overall 
Basque-American community all around the West. At the turn of the twentieth 
century, when an increasing number of Basque immigrants were arriving in the 
American West to work as sheepherders, their presence in the public ranges 
began to disturb the economic interests of the older livestock operators.6

Exploitation and degradation of the natural resources raised concerns 
among forestry and water experts as well as those Progressives who saw 
opportunities to champion the causes of an emerging Conservation Movement 
that emphasized “wise use” of resources based upon a utilitarian doctrine that 
stressed use for the greatest number, for the greatest good, for the longest period 
of time. In the 1890s, Congress initiated a partial reorganization of the public 
domain. In response to calls to conserve the nation’s forest resources, Congress 
gave the President the authority to proclaim forest reserves on the public domain 
mostly in the Far and Mountain West. Establishment of forest reserves was a 
first step to conserve and protect conservation of water and timber resources. 
With the passage of the Land Revision Act of 1891, Congress prohibited land 
entries or private land claims under the land laws of the United States on the 
designated or proclaimed forest reserve lands. The immediate effects of the 
Land Revision Act were to close resource-use development on these lands.7

In 1897, Congress passed the Forest Organic or Forest Use Act. The Act 
permitted resource use in the reserves, but only under the regulation and 
supervision of the Department of Interior from where the original forest 
reserves were administered. By 1898 and 1899, the Department of Interior 
and its General Land Office moved to regulate and limit the numbers of stock 
grazing on the newly-established forest reserves. In March 1898, Nevada’s 
Reno Weekly Gazette and Stockman informed its grazing community that the 
federal government opened the forest reserve in California “to her starving 
herds.” While forest reserves were proclaimed in California during the 1890s, 
lands in Nevada would not be reserved for National Forests until after 1905. 
Since there were no forest reserves or National Forests in Nevada during the 
decade of the 1890s, the free and open range existed even in the valuable high 
mountain pastures. In the still abundant free open ranges of Nevada, law 
enforcement was weak or absent giving opportunity to incidents of violence.8

Unregulated livestock grazing on common land invited crises and 
conflicts. The growing anarchy on the Nevada ranges often made contracted 
sheepherders the brunt of the resulting range conflicts. Sheepherders, either 
Basques or others, were easy targets for their opponents or enemies. Their 
presence and especially their immigrant status created in part an agenda for 
conflict that marked the Nevada range struggles from the 1890s to the 1930s. 
In November 1895, two Basque sheepherders were killed at a sheep camp 
northwest of Pyramid Lake near Winnemucca Valley in Nevada, by two ranch 
hands working for the cattle operation of J. M. Flannigan.9



151Resistance to the “Hoofed Locusts”  

By the early twentieth century, livestock agriculture in Nevada was a 
major economic activity. In 1900, the Nevada Surveyor General, Edward D. 
Kelley, in his Biennial Report, declared that the livestock industry was “one 
of the most prominent as well as most profitable in the State.” However, the 
itinerant sheep grazing presented a threat to larger livestock interests that 
traditionally operated on the public-domain lands in Nevada. While the 
Department of Interior tried to ignore grazing issues on its public domain 
other than prevention of any private fencing of lands, the Nevada range users 
faced issues of over grazing and the destruction of water sources. Year after 
year, Nevada policymakers tried to address the grazing problems on the state’s 
ranges. While state powers were limited over federal lands within the state, 
the legislature, however, took some measures to resolve the matters at hand.10

The Administration of Theodore Roosevelt (1901-1909) invigorated the 
Conservation Movement. Gifford Pinchot persuaded the President to move 
the forest reserves to the Department of Agriculture under a new National 
Forest System. In February 1905, the Department of Interior’s administrative 
functions and responsibilities were transferred to a newly established agency, 
the United States Forest Service, within the Department of Agriculture. Gifford 
Pinchot, friend and adviser of Roosevelt, was appointed Chief Forester for the 
new agency. At the turn of the century, to Pinchot, grazing was one of the 
most important economic activities in the forest reserves. In 1905, Pinchot and 
the Forest Service continued to implement a permit system for grazing that 
the General Land Office had begun. The Forest Service issued a Use Book that 
defined resource-use regulations under a permit for an allotment. In 1902, the 
Department of Interior through the Forest Reserve Manual had stated that the 
Secretary of Interior possessed the authority to restrict any livestock grazing 
activity with the aim of protecting the forest reserves. The new Forest Service 
blueprint made similar claims for the Secretary of Agriculture.11

The Use Book set out rules on grazing seasons, set numbers of stock, and 
issued grazing permits based upon property ownership and traditional use 
criteria. Three classes of grazing permits were available: first, Class A to 
those owners of ranch properties within or adjacent to the National Forests 
who customarily grazed stock on lands now within the National Forests; 
second, Class B for those who possessed property near the National Forests 
and traditionally grazed stock in these high mountain pastures; and third, 
Class C to itinerant graziers who did not own property or a home ranch. The 
various permits were issued on the basis of this preference criteria. All permits 
granted were considered grazing privileges not rights by the Forest Service. 
The preference system favored the first two classes and generally excluded the 
third or Class C permits. Also, as historian William Rowley has explained, the 
Forest Service based its preference system on the concept of “commensurate 
property ownership.” The principle of commensurability required graziers to 
own enough private land to support winter feeding of stock when they must be 
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removed from the National Forests at the end of the season of graze. Forest Service 
considered these policies the mechanism to defend established landowning 
ranchers and small homesteads against the intrusion of itinerant sheep graziers. 
Basques should not be automatically regarded as itinerants because many were 
already landowners, but still the widely held image of the Basque as an itinerant 
tramp sheepherder on the margins of the grazing economy persisted. Their 
marginalized status in the industry took many years to overcome.12

By the 1910s, the majority of resident stock operators (sheep and cattle 
people) who owned land, either large or small, saw transient sheep grazing on 
the public domain as a threat to established range practices and, therefore, a 
threat to law and order. This rural public sentiment against the itinerant sheep 
grazing on the federal lands was in accord with the yeoman farmer private 
property tenants of Jeffersonian Democracy that the privatization of small 
farms of much of the public domain made possible. In Nevada, however, 
the privatization of most of the public domain was not to occur under the 
prevailing land laws of the nineteenth century or the twentieth century for 
that matter. By that time, nomadic sheepherders and Basque immigrants were 
synonyms. Although an increasing number of Basques were already property 
owners, Basque immigrants were ridiculed by pro-cattle interests in Nevada 
who joined the anti-foreign nativist xenophobia of the time.13

Key Pittman’s Campaign Against the Basque Immigrants  
and the Open-Range Sheep Industry in Nevada

The continuous expansion of the open-range itinerant sheep herding 
posed a threat to the economic interests of some cattle and sheep companies 
using the public-domain lands outside of Forest Service regulations. By then, 
nomadic bands of sheep from Utah and Idaho wintered in the eastern part of 
Nevada, in White Pine county. Typically, these sheep companies employed 
cheap immigrant labor, especially the Basque. In addition, the election of 
a Democratic President, Woodrow Wilson, in 1912, brought to power the 
Democratic Party nationally that traditionally supported low tariff policies. 
New tariff bills placed wool on the free list, opening American markets to 
wool imports that drove down prices.14

Key Pittman, Democratic Senator from Nevada, defended vigorously these 
new policies in line with the Democratic Party’s position. In 1902, Pittman 
served as a member of the Central Committee of the Silver Party of Nevada. In 
1908, Pittman resigned from the declining Silver Party to join the Democratic 
Party. In the context of the national Progressive reforms, Pittman launched an 
unsuccessful campaign for the Senate. While endorsing the Democratic Party’s 
leading reformers, Pittman campaigned in favor of a reduction in the tariff 
rates, advocated to enlarge the scope of the Sherman Anti-Trust Act, defended 
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a powerful national bank system, and endorsed federal irrigation projects. At 
the same time, Pittman raised his voice in favor of the private landowners and 
livestock ranchers, particularly cattle owners.15 During the 1910s, Nevada’s U.S. 
Senator, Key Pittman, launched a campaign against the open-range sheep industry 
in Nevada responding to his cattle constituency. Basque workers became the focus 
of Pittman’s attacks. He blamed Basque sheepherders for depleting public ranges, 
but the Basque community withered the attack and even gained broad support.

Advocating the Enlargement of the National Forest lands in Nevada

Key Pittman blamed Basque sheepherders, sometimes called “tramp herders,” 
for creating problems on the public grazing lands of Nevada. While the U.S. Forest 
Service had taken control of some parts of the grazing situation on the public 
lands, especially in the high mountain meadows, a vast open range still remained 
outside Forest Service management. While conservation policies were unfolding 
in Nevada, conflicts prevailed on the Nevada ranges, including Native American 
competition for range lands.16 After he had occupied his Senate seat in 1913, cattle 
ranchers appealed to Pittman to find ways to curtail itinerant sheep operations. 
Pittman as a Democrat supported placing wool on the free list and, as a supporter 
of the Forest Service, advocated the extension of its regulations over larger parts 
of the public domain to exclude an increasing number of newcomers with their 
herds coming on to public grazing lands. Pittman not only defended the limited 
number of National Forests in Nevada, but wished to expand them so that they 
might regulate and exclude sheep from larger parts of the public domain.17

With the establishment of the Forest Service in Nevada, studies began on 
forage resources in relation to livestock grazing in order to determine an optimum 
economic use of the ranges. The Forest Service evaluated and made decisions on 
range management based on the “carrying capacity” of the ranges as determined by 
the availability and conditions of range forage. The Forest Service’s implementation 
of grazing fees associated with the issuing of permits on the number of stock 
grazed generally favored cattle permits, but sheep operations were not excluded, 
although there were complaints to the contrary. During and after the Great War, 
state and national representatives became increasingly irritated and frustrated 
about the uses of the still open rangelands. The Stock Raising Homestead Act of 
1916 tried to promote homesteading on the lands with parcels of 640 acres, but 
only resulted in further monopolization of the lands by large outfits. The amount 
of land was still too small for successful small homestead ranching.

In the late 1910s, especially after the United States had entered WWI in 
April 1917, the state of Nevada witnessed a remarkable expansion of the 
livestock industry largely based on the wartime demand for wool, mutton, and 
beef. High prices for livestock meant prosperity. The Forest Service, for its part, 
accommodated its regulatory policy to the wartime economic demands and 
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Key Pittman, ca. 1915. (George Grantham Bain Collection, Library of Congress)
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relaxed its protective limits on numbers of stock. High stock prices and almost 
open admission to National Forest range resources quieted range conflicts at least 
for a while in rural Nevada. During that period, however, as increasing number of 
newcomers arrived with new sheep bands to share the resources. At the same time 
established ranchers, be they sheep people or cattle people, raised concerns about 
non-citizen immigrants’ possessing grazing permits in the National Forests.18

The Great War was followed by a severe depression in the livestock 
industry in which prices and production dramatically declined. Consequently, 
many ranchers were forced into bankruptcy. From 1919 to 1922, the postwar 
crisis was followed by a slow recovery because of a credit crunch which affected 
negatively on capital investment in the livestock industry characterized by a 
reduction of competition and increase in risk. In 1923, the Nevada Legislature 
passed a livestock branding act through a system of registration of stock-
brands under the supervision of the stock inspector. Although the new state 
branding law served to discourage sheep itinerancy, still disorder and conflict 
prevailed in the public grazing lands beyond the Forest Service’s National 
Forests in Nevada. In Grass Valley of central Nevada, on July 9, 1924, Thomas 
E. Brackney, a prominent rancher of Austin, killed a Basque sheepherder 
employed by the Sabal Estate and Sheep Company for allegedly trampling his 
ranch property with his flock.19

In the early 1920s, responding to his cattle-grazing constituency, Pittman 
moved to exclude immigrant sheep operators from using the public grazing 
lands. His constituents had written Pittman about expanding Forest Service 
regulations to the public-domain grazing lands outside the National Forests 
in order to discourage tramp sheep herding. In February 1924, Pittman 
addressed Chief Forester William B. Greeley, advocating the enlargement of 
the National Forest lands in Nevada in an attempt to have the Forest Service 
extend its grazing regulations over public-domain range with the intent of 
further restricting itinerant sheep herding. The Forest Service, however, 
denied Pittman’s request to expand National Forest jurisdiction in Nevada 
on the ground that “the timber within the proposed reserve was not sufficient 
to warrant conservation, and that such timber did not serve sufficiently to 
protect a watershed of useable flowing surface water.”20

Pittman attempted to persuade Greeley to find a legally acceptable way to 
enlarge the National Forest lands in the state of Nevada. Pittman justified the 
need to expand the existing regulatory system on economic efficiency grounds:

The use of forest reserves in Nevada for range control has proven of 
great benefit to the stock growing industry. Range control is essential 
in Nevada if the range is to be preserved. There is not range control 
legislation for the unreserved public domain and therefore it becomes 
important for stock growers to utilize wherever it is beneficial, range 
control through forest reservations.21
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Despite Pittman’s perseverance, the Forest Service eventually denied 
the petition of the Senator from Nevada invoking that Nevada’s lands were 
unworthy for further protection. However, the Forest Service empathized 
with the Nevada’s local stock owners’ struggles: 

During the past ten years, however, transient sheep owners, excluded 
from other ranges by private acquisition, or otherwise, have come into 
this region in increasing numbers and have not only deprived the local 
stock growers of the forage resources upon which they are dependent 
but, through excessive grazing and improper use of the range, have 
largely destroyed the grazing value of the lands.22

Although the conservation movement and private companies shared 
views toward safeguarding and preserving economic stability, this time, the 
Forest Service considered unjustifiable the expansion of its lands or, more to 
the point, it did not believe it had the lawful authority to do so. Beyond their 
powers, the Forest Service and the Secretary of Agriculture judged necessary 
that Congress should enact legislation for constructively managing the use of 
the public-domain lands for grazing purposes.23

Nevada cattle owners became increasingly frustrated over the government 
inaction concerning the management of the public-domain lands in Nevada. In 
April 1924, the Secretary-Treasurer of the Quinn Canyon Livestock Association 
wrote to Pittman complaining about the overgrazing and destruction caused 
by the sheepherders in the public grazing lands beyond the National Forests. 
He wanted some form of government control or regulation to stop the 
trampling bands of sheep:

The grazing of livestock during the summer months in practically all 
parts of the State is properly taken care of and provided for through 
the present National Forest areas throughout the State.  The spring, fall 
and winter ranges are not properly taken care of or controlled and as a 
result these three seasonal ranges are fast becoming denuded and un-
less some immediate action is taken to place these ranges under some 
form of Government control the livestock industry of the State will be 
completely ruined by over-grazing [sic].  The overgrazed condition on 
our now open public ranges is being brought about principally by the 
so-called “tramp sheepmen” who drive their flocks into Nevada early in 
the fall and allow them to remain here until the following spring.  The 
tramp or transient sheepman has absolutely no regard for the welfare 
of our ranges, his only interest being to avail himself of the maximum 
results and benefits of our ranges so long as they last.
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The condition as briefly outlined above is becoming worse each year 
and in an attempt to protect our local ranch and stockmen, two petitions 
have recently been forwarded to you praying for additions to the White 
Pine Division of the Nevada National Forest.24 

Much to the disappointment of cattle ranchers, Pittman could not obtain 
legislation to permit the expansion of National Forests, and the Forest Service 
and the Department of Agriculture declined to cooperate with him in the 
effort. In the 1920s, a series of issues disturbed the ranching community in 
Nevada: tramp sheepherders; grazing fees; grazing permits or “privileges”; 
the attachment or no attachment to ranch property; enhanced ranch values 
created by grazing permits.25

Failures of the Campaign against the Basques

Key Pittman’s hostility against Basques did no go unnoticed. His blustery 
statements captured the attention of the media and the public in Nevada and 
other western states where the Basque population concentrated. On October 
7, 1910, the Reno Evening Gazette questioned Key Pittman’s attacks against 
the sheep industry and the Basque workers. The Gazette complained about 
Pittman’s allegations as follows: “Some good Democrat ought to tell Mr. 
Pittman that he is making a joke of himself when he campaigns along those 
lines.” The Reno newspaper considered the Senator’s statements unfair: “Are 
you going to send to Washington a man who would do all he could to ruin 
the sheep industry of this state because he believed that the only men who 
were benefitted by that industry were twenty sheepowners and two hundred 
Basque sheep herders?”

Contrary to Pittman’s arguments, because the sheep industry represented 
an important sector in the state’s economy, the Gazette saw Pittman’s position 
incomprehensible: 

Upon the ranges of Nevada today there are running about one million sheep. 
The average price realized from a fleece is over one dollar. The income from 
sheep sold as mutton is over two million dollars. Over three thousand sheep 
men are employed directly and indirectly in this great industry.26

Furthermore, it declared that Nevadans were intelligent enough not to be 
swayed by these kinds of arguments and “to distinguish between fit and unfit—
and they know that any man who would destroy the sheep industry of this state 
simply because he believes or pretends to believe that the only men who benefit 
from it are twenty sheep owners and two hundred Basque sheepherders is unfit 
to look after Nevada’s interests in the United States senate.”27
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Their Catholic affiliation gave the Basque immigrant community a public 
voice and an opportunity to strengthen their ties with the overall society. On 
March 31, 1911, Father Thomas M. Tubman, Reverend of St. Thomas Aquinas 
Cathedral of Reno, wrote a letter to the editor of the Reno Evening Gazette, in 
response to Senator Pittman’s outbursts against the Basques and the sheep 
industry. In this letter, Father Tubman expressed his admiration for the Basque 
immigrant community and their support of the Catholic Church. The letter 
reflects the Church’s embrace of the Basque community. Tubman wrote: 

… For years I have observed their progress, their social, religious, and 
patriotic activities, and I have come to the conclusion that Nevada can 
well boast of her Basque population. We need just such a people to assist 
in developing the limitless resources of a state that is slowly but surely 
coming into its own. While other states of the union are rapidly ap-
proaching the zenith of their prosperity, Nevada is but facing the dawn…

The Basques who are now here have made good. They have shown 
how wealth can be wrung from our uncultivated plains and rugged 
mountains. With indomitable energy they have gone to work in raising 
great sheepfolds, that have brought wealth to themselves and the state.
They are admirably adapted to pastoral and agricultural pursuits, strong 
of limb, healthy in body, temperate in habit, religious and Godfearing, 
there can be no failures among them.

While they tenaciously cling to the memories, traditions, folklore, and 
national customs of their native land, they soon learn to love their ad-
opted country.

Divorce is unknown among them. The men make ideal husbands and 
marry early in life, and their women, renowned for their beauty and 
virtue, cannot be surpassed as matrons in the home. Their children are 
numerous and inherit all the characteristics of their forebears.

Knowing them as I do from the intimate relations of pastor and people 
and recognizing their importance in the future of this state, I have much 
pleasure in rendering this tribute to our friends of the Basque nationality.28

Tubman not only praised the contribution of the Basque immigrant 
community in Nevada, but also deplored the discrimination because of their 
work on the rangelands as sheepherders. In his praises and claims in favor of 
the Basques, Tubman’s letter shows how, by the 1910s, the Basque-American 
community was not only settled in the sheep camps of the Great Basin, but 
also in towns like Reno.29
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In January 1913, Key Pittman was elected a Senator of Nevada. In this 
position, he could do more for his cattle grazing constituency. On June 4, 
1913, Pittman testified before the Senate Lobby Investigation Committee 
in Washington, D.C., which was carrying out a general investigation to 
determine the proposed tariff bill. Representing the Nevada Democrats, 
Pittman defended the reduction of the tariff rate on wool, arguing that the 
sheep industry of Nevada was one of the less important sectors in the state’s 
economy. Besides saying that the sheep industry amounted to little, Pittman 
remarked that a large percentage of the total sheep population—over a million 
sheep—were owned by out-of-state owners from California, Idaho, and Utah. 
Pittman continued: 

…I also know of my own personal knowledge that nearly all of the 
laborers employed in that occupation are Basque sheep herders, who 
can hardly speak the English language, and get about $35 a month.30 

Immediately, James A. Reed, Senator from Missouri and member of the 
Committee, got interested in the question of the Basque immigrant labor: 

Senator Reed: What do you mean by Basque sheep herders?

Senator Pittman: The Basques come from the Pyrenees mountains in 
Spain. They get that class of labor because they seem to be adapted 
to sheep herding, and they are lacking in intelligence, independence, 
or anything else. They are just about as near a slave as anybody could 
be under our present existing conditions, and I do know of my own 
personal knowledge that the sentiment of our State is not in favor of a 
tariff on wool or sugar.31   

Pittman denigrated the Basque immigrant labor as inferior and despicable. 
He blamed Basques for being an economic threat to Nevada because they took 
these agricultural jobs and depressed local wages. A brief time later, Reed 
asked Pittman more about the Basques of Nevada:

Senator Reed: You spoke a moment ago of the Basque sheep herders. 
Are they ordinarily naturalized citizens, or otherwise?

Senator Pittman: No, they are not. As a general thing they never as-
sociate with the other people in the State; they live among themselves; 
they can only speak a few words of the English language; they live in 
the lowest possible way for a human being to live; and they are nothing 
but sheep herders.
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Senator Reed: You spoke of the wages, $35 a month. Is that an ordinary 
wage in your State, or is it less than the wage that other people receive?

Senator Pittman: It is much less.32

According to Pittman, the Basque immigrant community of Nevada was 
very clannish and unassimilable. He sneered at Basque-Americans because 
he erroneously considered them as mere sojourners. To Pittman, in other 
words, the Basques were undesirable immigrants many of whom would never 
become citizens of the United States.33

Pittman’s declarations infuriated not only the Basque immigrant 
population living in the West, but also other non-Basques who stood up 
publicly for the Basque residents. Public reactions to these statements came 
first from the non-Basques. On July 24, Nevada attorney J. A. Langwith from 
Winnemucca wrote a letter to the Silver State criticizing Pittman’s accusations 
and paying a special tribute to the Basque community. He said that Pittman’s 
declarations had caused a loss of confidence among businessmen in other 
economic sectors of Nevada: 

…Pittman’s attack on the sheep industry and the Basque sheepowners 
and herders is doing much injury to our state. Business men and men 
with money are figuring that our leading industries, such as cattle, sheep, 
lead, mining, and possibly silver and copper, will get some very hard 
knocks should cattle, wool and lead be eventually placed on the free list.34 

Then Langwith questioned the Senator’s charges against the Basque 
immigrants, considering them to be untrue and unfair. He stuck up for the 
Basque community of Nevada as follows:

There are many Basques and descendants of Basques engaged in ranching, 
cattle, and mercantile business as well as the sheep business. The Basque is 
usually a man of more than ordinary intelligence, with keen business ability, 
and is usually prosperous. They are, as a rule, law abiding, sober, and make 
good citizens.35

He explained how Basque immigrants were not only mere sheep workers, 
but were also engaged in every level of the livestock industry, whether cattle 
or sheep. Langwith enjoyed good relations with the state’s Basque immigrant 
community and he could not understand Pittman’s attitude toward them: “I 
feel it my duty to thus poorly express what I know about the men and women 
whose fair name, honor, pride, and integrity Senator Pittman has so maligned 
and deeply wounded.” The dignity of the Basque sheepherders and the overall 
immigrant community became a constant issue in those letters and articles.36

During the debate of the tariff bill on August 21, 1913, in the first session 
of the sixty-third congress, Key Pittman gave a long speech on the floor of the 



161Resistance to the “Hoofed Locusts”  

Senate declaring himself “heartily” in favor of the bill H. R. 3321 to reduce 
tariff rates on wool and he was “firmly convinced that it is for the best interests 
of the people of my State.” Pittman responded that lowering tariff rates for 
wool did not mean fiercer competition for domestic sheep companies: 

The removal of the tariff will certainly permit foreign wool to come into 
the country, but the question is: How much will come in, and at what 
price can the foreigner afford to sell it in the United States?

In the first place, the foreigner can not afford to sell his wool in the United 
States for less than he can obtain for it in the markets of the world; and in the 
second place, he can not afford to sell it for less than it cost him to produce.37 

After arguing the benefits of tariff liberalization, Pittman contended that 
the sheep industry in Nevada was insignificant compared with other western 
states, and cattle ranching and the mining industry were more important 
for the state’s wealth. Pittman advocated protection of settlers and home 
builders against sheep grazing in the public range in Nevada. According to 
Pittman, sheep grazing was detrimental for agricultural development and 
farm settlements in Nevada. In strongly nationalist terms, he described the 
following disadvantages of the sheep industry to Nevada: 

The American farmer comes naturally to the raising of cattle and horses, 
and he has no superior on earth, while the sheep industry, with its cheap 
labor, seems to require the most ignorant, the most unprogressive, and 
the lowest type of foreign labor. It is the custom of the farmer in our 
valleys to range his cattle and horses on the adjacent mountain side 
while raising and harvesting his hay, and then to drive them within his 
inclosure, fatten them upon the grass and the hay, and drive them to 
market. Since the sheep industry has monopolized the range of the State 
of Nevada the farmer finds it difficult to pursue this system of raising 
cattle and horses. Down each side of the valleys, along the mountain 
ranges adjacent to these farms, come thousands upon thousands of 
sheep, driven by Basque sheep herders and collie dogs, uprooting the 
vegetation, breaking down fences, destroying roads, obliterating ranges, 
defiling the watercourses, and driving the cattle and horses of the farmer 
off of their natural ranges.38

 
While demeaning the sheep industry, Pittman stood up for homesteading 

and the cattle industry, saying things like: “...there is ample room to increase 
the number of farms and to increase the number of the farmers’ cattle and 
horses if the sheep are not permitted to monopolize the public domain, the 
springs, the wells, and the watercourses of the State.”39
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At the end of his speech, Pittman said that, “practically all of our sheep 
herders and nearly all of the laborers engaged in the sheep industry are Basque 
herders… who speak very little of the English language and rarely ever declare 
their intention to become citizens of the United States.” In total sympathy 
with a pro-labor progressive ideology in Nevada, Pittman contrasted itinerant 
sheep laborers with the stalwart unionized immigrants who worked in the 
hard-rock mining industry of his state: 

As to the employment of foreigners in other branches of labor in my 
State, I wish to say that the other foreigners who are engaged in labor 
in the State are engaged principally in mining; not coal mining, for we 
have none, but hard-rock mining. There are no higher class laborers 
than miners. All of them are union miners. All of them stand for union 
wages. They are all capable, intelligent workers, and every one of them 
declares his intention to become a citizen of the United States just the 
minute the opportunity is offered to him. There is no comparison what-
ever between the ordinary foreigner and the Basque sheep herder from 
the Pyrenees Mountains.40

On October 3, 1913, Congress finally passed the Underwood Tariff Act 
which placed raw wool on the free list. Western woolgrowers were angered with 
the passage. They were particularly furious with Key Pittman’s declarations 
about the sheep industry of Nevada. In its November issue, the editorial of 
the National Wool Grower refuted each of Key Pittman’s charges against the 
sheep industry of Nevada. The National Wool Growers Association accused 
Pittman of blasphemy and contended that everything he had said about sheep 
business in Nevada rested on vague generalizations. The Grower complained 
against Pittman for making false accusations on the Nevada’s sheep economy 
claiming that this industry represented more than 25 percent of the total 
value of the entire livestock economy of the state. Also, the editorial of the 
National Wool Grower contended that 1,154,000 sheep were owned by ranchers 
from Nevada. The editor said that Pittman’s accusations of the Basques were 
“untrue,” arguing that:

Less than one-half of the labor in the sheep industry of Nevada are 
Basques. But suppose there are some Basques in Nevada who happen 
to be in the sheep business. Does it necessarily follow in the senator’s 
opinion that because a man is foreign born he is necessarily an unde-
sirable citizen? The census shows that 25 per cent of Nevada’s entire 
population is foreign born. We happen to know, however, many Basques 
in the sheep business who are honorable citizens and several Basques 
in Nevada have contributed more to the upbuilding of that State than 
Senator Pittman ever did or would if he lived there one hundred years.41 
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Moreover, the editorial of the National Wool Grower said that Pittman’s 
statements on the wages were baseless and “downright falsehood.” The 
National Wool Grower reprinted some statistics of the Tariff Board in order to 
contradict Pittman’s statement on the low wages and revealing the pay of the 
sheepherders was about $60 (See Table 1.1).42 In addition, the National Wool 
Grower said that Pittman’s “talk about sheep herders being slaves is unworthy 
the consideration of intelligent citizens.” Further, the NWGA considered 
Pittman an outsider or carpetbag Senator who was not interested in the 
prosperity of Nevada. It noted that Pittman had investments himself out of 
the state in Alaska, where indeed he had moved from, and that he was doing 
much more for the far northern arctic state than he was doing for Nevada.43

Class of Labor	 Pay in Dollars Per Month

Superintendent	 111.5

Camp Tender	 64.93

Herder	 59.42

Extra Labor	 63.02

Table 1.1: Wages of sheep labor.  
Source: National Wool Grower 3, no. 11 (November 1913): 23.

Understandably, Pittman’s statement was not well received by the Basque 
community. In October 1914, with the Great War as a backdrop, someone who 
identified himself as a Basque sheepherder wrote a letter to the Reno Evening 
Gazette, in which he contradicted Pittman. He wrote, “Sir: …”

Your esteemed editorial on “Senator Pittman’s Estimate” of the sheep 
industry, and the men that conduct it in Nevada, fell like a bomb into 
our camp. We felt happy over the able way in which you and Mr. [Jerry] 
Sheehan of the Winnemucca First National bank, have disposed of the 
misrepresentation of the industry by that “misrepresentative” of ours, 
and I shall not dwell on that phase of his testimony.

His description of the sheepmen in Nevada is in keeping with his estimate 
of the industry itself, and has proved a veritable bolt from a clear sky.

It is concerning this feature of his testimony that I mean to enter my 
indignant protest, before the people of the state of Nevada, and before 
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the ruling powers in Washington… Nine-tenths of them [Basques] own 
their land and their homes, dependence being considered the lowest 
condition of social life, and none being ever excused from work, that 
has a mind to think and a hand to wield…

Have they then mastered masterminds in statesmanship and war for 30 
centuries, with intelligence? But how could we expect an ignoramus to 
be acquainted with the great men of the past, when he displays mulish 
ignorance of his own constituents and their interest, in his own day and 
generation, right at his own door…

Who have dotted the California coast with successfully managed and 
prosperous ranches for the last 50 years, but some of these sturdy 
Pyrennean mountaineers? What did the sheep industry amount to in 
Nevada, until they came, and made this industry the biggest in the state, 
notwithstanding the senator’s assertion to the contrary?

It does not take book lore to create and keep up the sheep industry, but 
it does take intelligence, dogged tenacity, sobriety, and business acumen, 
such as all university professors and senators do not always have, to 
push it to a successful issue.

Note well, there are scores of Basques, young and old, who speak and 
write fluently in four or five languages…44

Similar expressions of indignation against the attacks on the Basque community 
and the detrimental effects of the low tariff bills on wool appeared in other western 
states. From Boise (Idaho), on October 27, 1916, Sol Silen wrote a letter to the editor 
of the Reno Evening Gazette, in which he bitterly expressed his displeasure about 
Pittman’s attacks on the Basque immigrant community. Silen complimented 
Basque immigrants: “Wherever the Basques choose to establish their home, that 
community is the better. They are an intelligent, energetic, and progressive people: 
they hold valuable landed estates, erect substantial business structures and homes 
that are a credit to their respective communities.” Silen’s argument praised the 
Basque “race,” its achievements, and historical heritage in America.45

Basque Immigration during the Restriction Period, 1917-1924

In the late 1910s, in the context of the Great War, Congress reacted to the 
strong nativist attitudes that had gained momentum in the United States. 
Between 1917 and 1924, Congress adopted measures to restrict immigration 
from Europe, which disrupted Basque immigration to the United States. 
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In February 1917, before the United States entered WWI, Congress passed 
an immigration act that established more rigid criteria for admission and 
strengthened mechanisms for excluding some nationalities. The 1917 Act 
implemented the following provisions: established a literacy requirement, 
authorized deportation, enlarged the list of deportable aliens, and increased 
the categories of Asian exclusion. Although this act did not hinder significantly 
the increasing recruitment of the Basque immigrant labor, it made more 
difficult for those Basques already in the country to obtain naturalization.46

The 1917 immigration act did provide a legal avenue to permit the entrance 
of immigrant labor. It kept the doors open to “skilled” workers, among others, 
“if labor of like kind unemployed can not be found in this country.” The act 
mandated the Secretary of Labor to determine “the necessity of importing such 
skilled labor in any particular instance.” In the near future, when a Basque 
labor shortage became increasingly acute (particularly in the late 1930s as a 
consequence of the increasing immigration restrictions in the 1924 Act), this 
provision served as a legal mechanism to allow the recruitment of more Basque 
immigrants. The question would be how to demonstrate that Basques were the 
only “skilled” workers for the open-range sheep industry of the West.47

In the war context of 1917, a sheepherder immigrant labor shortage was 
already apparent. From Fallon (Nevada), on September 28, William A. Keddie, 
a prominent Nevada rancher who at that time ran the Williams family outfit, 
wrote Pittman indicating that there was a critical labor shortage in Nevada’s 
sheep industry: “…this year we have experienced considerable difficulty in 
securing sheep-herders and the men for ranch work. This shortage of help 
has without a doubt lessened the amount of our products.” Keddie noted that 
this labor shortage partly was because of some “BASQUE [sic.] herders we 
now have and who are becoming entirely too independent to be useful, to 
say nothing about the growing scarcity of getting them at all.” As Basques 
quit sheepherding jobs and found other better paid employment and became 
U.S. citizens, Fallon-area ranchers looked for other immigrant groups to 
recruit dependable labor, particularly Rumanian and Armenian workers. 
Keddie asked Pittman to find ways in Congress to open the doors for these 
immigrants, “securing 50 to 200 of these folks, preferably those from a sheep 
raising country of theirs.” Keddie further noted:

Our idea was to get a number of these people, those without families pre-
ferred, use them on our ranches until we had accustomed them to our ways 
etc. and then break them in for work on the ranch and with the sheep.48 

 
Keddie’s statement exemplifies a determination on the part of ranchers 

to obtain immigrant sheep herders (young and single from Europe). Pittman 
also took up the matter with the Department of Labor and the Immigration 
and Naturalization Service with apparently no qualms about inviting foreign 
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European labor to Nevada. His response was in harmony with the views of 
ranchers that European labor was preferable to the closer-at-hand Mexican 
labor for these tasks. He was responding to the needs of his constituency as 
Senator Patrick McCarran will do decades later in his campaign to import 
Basque labor during the labor shortage in WWII and after.49

On October 20, 1917, Pittman sent a letter to Anthony Caminetti, 
Commissioner General of Immigration, asking that restrictions on immigration 
be lifted to allow the recruitment of Romanian and Armenian immigrants. 
Pittman described the situation as follows: 

You will remember that on a prior occasion I took up with you and 
with the Secretary of Labor, the question of permitting Mexicans to 
come into the United States for limited periods of time, to serve as 
farmers and miners, to meet the scarcity of labor caused by war condi-
tions. The Department of Labor at that time was willing to remove the 
immigration restrictions to the extent that such laborers could come 
into the country for the purpose of farming. It was then pointed out 
to the Department that the farmers received these laborers from the 
railroad companies and unless the Mexicans were permitted to come 
in for the purpose of working on the railroads they would never reach 
the farming districts. My argument has been entirely sustained. The 
farmers have not received any benefit from Mexican labor by the re-
moval of the immigration restrictions that I have referred to. There are 
various tracts of land in our state that can not be farmed by reason of 
lack of labor. In fact, I have been authorized to the Government three 
thousand acres of irrigable land with water for irrigation if the Gov-
ernment sees fit to cultivate it and I have heretofore made the offer. 
All of us favor the conservation of foodstuffs when it is necessary, but 
we must admit that the greatest relief is to increase the production. I 
am satisfied that if as much effort was made to increase production 
as is now being made to conserve that which is produced that this 
would be much better.50

Later, the office of the Department of Labor informed Pittman that 
immigrant labor from those eastern European countries could be recruited 
under the clause of the “skilled” laborers in the 1917 Immigration Act. But 
WWI concluded in the following year, November 1918, without any efforts 
to recruit sheepherders from Romania and Armenia.51 In the meantime, an 
increasing number of Basque youths wanted to immigrate to the West and 
make some money in America following in the steps of their older brothers 
and uncles who had immigrated earlier. At that time, according to the office of 
the Commissioner of Labor of Nevada, the average pay for a sheepherder per 
day was $1.95 (See Table 1.2).52
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			A  vg.	A vg.	A vg. Pay 
		 #of	 Wages	H ours	 Pay For 
	Occupation	E mployees	 Per Day	 Per Day 	N ov. 1917

Cowboys	 205	 $1.76	 9.6	 $46.20

Camp Tenders	 129	 $2.11	 10.2	 $63.29

Foremen	 168	 $2.61	 9.9	 $78.55

Sheepherders	 774	 $1.95	 10.5	 $56.73

Table 1.2: Average daily wage and hours of stock-raising labor in Nevada. 
Source: Second Biennial Report of the Commissioner of Labor of the State of Nevada,  
1917-1918 (Carson City: State Printing Office, 1919), 42.

Congress increasingly entertained proposals for restrictions on European 
immigration after World War I. It further tightened immigration rules in 1921 
with the Emergency Quota Act that introduced a system of national quotas 
limiting annual immigration up to three percent of the number of each 
nationality’s inhabitants existing in the United States based on the 1910 census. 
Because some Basques were in Spain and some in France, their respective 
populations were included in the quotas for those two countries. Between 
1921 and 1924, the total number of immigrants permitted to enter annually 
under the quota remained the same for both Spain and France: the quota for 
Spain was set at 912 and for France 5,729 immigrants (See Table 1.3).53

	F iscal Year	F iscal Year	F iscal Year		
Country	 1921-1922	 1922-1923	 1923-1924	  

		  Number		  Number		   Number 
	 Quota	 Admitted	 Quota	 Admitted	 Quota	 Admitted

Spain	 912	 888	 912	 912	 912	 912

France	 5,729	 4,343	 5,729	 5,034	 5,729	 5,729

Table 1.3: Annual quota numbers, 1921-1924.  
Source: Twelfth Annual Report of the Secretary of Labor. For the Fiscal Year Ended 
June 1924, (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1924), 50.
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In May 1924, Congress passed a new immigration act, the so-called 
Johnson-Reed Act, which further reduced the quota numbers allowing 
entrance of newcomers. Compared with the previous 1921 legislation, the 
1924 Immigration Act was more stringent. The new immigration act reduced 
the quota number to two percent based on the 1890 census instead of the 1910 
census, which reduced the numbers from eastern and southern European 
countries. In comparison with the French numbers, again, the immigration 
quota into Spain was sharply limited because there were fewer Spanish 
immigrants in the United States. The annual quota for Spain was set at 131 
and for France at 3,954. From 1924 until the passage of the 1965 immigration 
act, Basques generally had to find their places within these quota numbers.54

By looking at the list of quota numbers set for European countries, it is 
clear how the act of 1924 favored the immigration from northern Europe and 
largely discriminated against the immigration from southern and eastern 
Europe. In the case of the Basque Country, the quota number for France was 
higher than that applied to Spain. The provisions systematically reduced the 
opportunities for those Basques willing to immigrate from the provinces of 
Biscay, Gipuzkoa, Araba, and Navarre in Spain. In his book Following the Grass, 
American novelist Harry Sinclair Drago dealt with Basque sheepherders in 
northern Nevada and referred to the Pyrenees in their home country as “the 
great Basque barrier” protecting them from the outside world. Of course, 
on one side of the Pyrenees were the Spanish-speaking Basques and on the 
other side French speakers. For its part, the American immigration quota law 
created another “Basque barrier”—limiting Spanish Basque immigration more 
severely than that from the French side of the Pyrenees.55

Conclusions

Nevada’s U.S. Senator Key Pittman worked tirelessly on the range 
issues, particularly on the persistent problems affecting the cattle business 
in Nevada. His early political career was marked by continuous defense of 
the cattle community and a hostility toward the sheep industry. Pittman’s 
efforts to extend the boundaries of National Forests, eliminate the protective 
tariff on wool, and support of the 1916 Ranch Homestead Act, all aimed 
to undermine the sheep business in Nevada. Furthermore, Pittman’s anti-
immigrant sentiments fitted well with his fight against the sheep industry 
that was synonymous with the Basque immigrant community. Pittman’s 
stand against the Basque-run sheep industry did not gain the expected 
support in Nevada, and, in fact, there was a backlash that came to the defense 
of the Basques as an important community contributing to the economy of 
Nevada. In time, a popular sympathy developed towards Basque immigrant 
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labor in Nevada. By the early 1910s, although still faced with discrimination 
and stigmatization on the ranges, it can be said that Basque immigrants 
were settling and integrating into the broader American society of Nevada 
and other western states. Through their labor in the sheep business and 
benefiting from their “whiteness,” Basque immigrants moved from being 
an oppressed and impoverished population to being an honorable class of 
laborers in Nevada. 
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In  early February 1865, two months before his assassination on April 15, 
President Abraham Lincoln signed and had Secretary of State William H. Seward 
send to all state legislatures a proposal to amend the United States Constitution, 
making slavery an unconstitutional act. He had signed a proclamation making 
Nevada a state the previous October 31. In the years leading up to these events, 
Nevada was involved in the politics of passage of the Amendment.  

In the eastern United States, the events leading up to admission of the State 
of Nevada to the Union and the new state’s role in Congressional passage three 
months later of the anti-slavery Thirteenth Amendment to the U. S. Constitution, 
may well have begun the night Abraham Lincoln gave his landmark “Cooper 
Union” speech at the Cooper Institute in Manhattan, New York, on February 
27, 1860.1 

The stirring speech, which spelled out how and why the founding fathers 
did not  believe slavery should be expanded into new territories,  brought 
the audience of 1,500 to its feet. Newspapers across the nation, including 
California, carried the full 7,000-word text, and, as Horace Greeley’s New York 
Tribune reported the next day:  

Lincoln is one of nature's orators, using his rare powers solely and ef-
fectively to elucidate and to convince, though their inevitable effect is to 
delight and electrify as well. [The Tribune today carries] a very full and 
accurate report of this speech; yet the tones, the gestures, the kindling 
eye and the mirth-provoking look, defy the reporter’s skill. The vast 
assemblage frequently rang with cheers and shouts of applause, which 
were prolonged and intensified at the close. No man ever made such an 
impression on his first appeal to a New York audience.”2 
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After Lincoln spoke, Greeley, one of the Cooper  Institution’s directors, 
spoke briefly. Former New York City Police Commission president, James 
W. Nye, was advertised and scheduled as the speaker following Lincoln and 
Greeley. There is no evidence that Lincoln and Nye had ever met before this 
evening. At the podium, Greeley was:  

…followed by Gen. Nye, who was called for a long time before he ap-
peared; and when he did appear it was only to say that he could not allow 
himself to disturb the effect of the address to which they had listened, 
by any remarks of his. By and by there would be a more appropriate oc-
casion, and when it came he promised to express his sentiments freely.3 

An important friendship developed between Nye and Lincoln—a friendship 
that would eventually lead to a key vote in adoption of America’s permanent ban 
on slavery, the Thirteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

In the 1840s,  Nye  had been  promoted to major  general in the upstate 
Seventeenth New York Militia.4 The appellation “General Nye” stuck. Born 
in central New York, he was a lawyer, later a judge, and well-known as a fine 
“stump speaker.” When the New York legislature merged the  patronage-
staffed police forces of five greater New York boroughs into the Metropolitan 
Police, a contentious action to which all five mayors objected, the Governor 
named Nye chairman of the new three-member Metropolitan Police 
Commission. 

At the Republican National Convention  in Chicago  a dozen weeks  after 
the Cooper  Institute  event,  General  Nye gave the nomination speech 
for  his  close  friend, Senator William H. Seward  of New York. When 
Lincoln’s campaign manager out-maneuvered Seward and gained the party n
omination for Abraham Lincoln, Seward immediately began campaigning for 
election of Lincoln. 

In those years, the Presidential candidate remained at home while surrogates 
campaigned around the states. Accompanied by a group that included Gen. 
Nye and Nye’s 17-year-old daughter  Mary,  Sen.  Seward set out on a long 
campaign swing for Lincoln. It carried them as far west as St. Joseph, Missouri. On 
their return, the campaigners passed through Springfield, Illinois, where Lincoln 
boarded the train, greeting  the individual members of Seward’s party before 
a short private meeting with Seward.5  

Following the election, Nye returned to his practice as an attorney in New 
York City—an attorney who wanted to be active in politics. He offered his name 
for several of the patronage jobs in New York City.6  

That Lincoln won election hardly needs to be mentioned. The act to carve 
Nevada Territory out of Utah Territory had been signed by President James 
Buchanan on March 2, 1861, two days before Lincoln took the oath of office and 
entered the White House. 
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Nye’s friend Seward was now Secretary of State, a position which included 
oversight of the Territories.  At Seward’s request, the President  considered 
appointing Nye as governor of Nebraska Territory. 

Nye, like Lincoln, enjoyed “swapping yarns,” and a friendship had 
developed between the two. One evening, Nye pointed out to the President there 
was  an  unexplored Territory west of the Rocky Mountains that he wanted 
to go out and explore. Lincoln called for his secretary, John G. Nicolay, and 
asked if  he  knew anything about that region. Nicolay had heard of it—the 
Comstock mines were just coming into production. Lincoln sent for Secretary 
Seward  and, after some conversation, the President thought he would let 
General Nye go and look at Nevada as its governor.7  The name was sent to 
the Senate on Wednesday, March 20, 1861. On Friday the Senate approved it. 

Nye had perhaps not told the President his full reason. James Warren Nye 
was the seventh of ten children of James and Thankful Crocker Nye. One brother, 
“Captain” John Nye, three years older than James, had left their DeRuyter, New 
York, home in 1835 for a gold rush in Alabama. There he married the widow 
Arabella Dupree Hays in 1838. A son, Thomas C. Nye, was born in late 1842. 
In 1849, leaving his wife and son in Alabama, John joined the California gold 
rush. His son joined him in California in about 1857, and, in 1860, John and 
his son Tom, then 17 years old, were living in Auburn, Placer County.8 News 
of confirmation of  James W.  Nye as governor of the new territory  reached 
California in April 1861.9  Soon after that,  Captain Nye and Tom relocated 
in Carson City. 

Colonel Samuel Youngs, the brother-in law of Albert Sidney McCoun, James 
Nye’s law partner in New York City, was a former New York state legislator. 
He was in the new mining camp of Aurora, 70 miles southeast of Carson City. 
Youngs, an attorney, had been active in New York politics in the 1840s, was 
a gold miner in 1849, and was an elected Sacramento alderman in the 1850s. 

These were the type of men the  novice  territorial governor sought 
to advise him, and to form his administration. They were “border men,” 
who understood the unique issues that creating a government on the 
frontier  would  involve.  While still in  Washington,  Governor Nye  said  he 
would “decline the proffered office” unless he could have an administration of 
“men acquainted with border life.”10 His wish was granted and Nye and Orion 
Clemens of Missouri, Lincoln’s appointee as Secretary of the Territory, soon 
led a team of men who had experience living on the outer edges—the frontier 
borders of organized government—that put the Territory on the fast track to 
statehood. 

In a  March 27  dispatch sent west by Pony Express, the New York 
correspondent of San Francisco’s Daily Alta California reported:  

General Nye, the new Governor, was formerly one of the Police Commis-
sioners of this city. He is an Old-Line Whig, nearly 60 years of age [sic. 
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He was a portly 46], and has all the elements of popularity about him, 
eminently social and genial in his disposition, and considered highly 
conservative in his political opinions.11  

Three weeks after Nye’s confirmation as governor on April 12, he was still 
in Washington, D.C. obtaining instruction when Confederate artillerymen in 
Charleston, South Carolina, opened fire on Fort Sumter. 

An immediate concern was protection of the capital; abolitionist Kentucky 
politician Cassius M. Clay stepped forward to organize a unit to protect the 
White House.  Another brigade was organized to defend the Capitol building. 

Nye  delayed his departure for Nevada,  serving instead  as “First 
Lieutenant”  in the “Clay Brigade.” He provided about 50 men for the new 
infantry unit, but Nye was probably not among those Clay Battalion soldiers 
billeted in the East Room of the White House.12 

When  Lieutenant Nye  left the Clay Battalion is unknown. He was, 
however, still in the capital  the evening of Saturday, April 27, when he and 
DeWitt Littlejohn, speaker of the New York Assembly, fell in with an Irishman 
named Pierson, who believed Nye and Littlejohn were secessionists. Pierson 
boasted freely of his operations in tearing up railroad tracks and then spoke of 
plans to stop the train bearing Colonel Michael Corcoran’s New York Sixty-
Ninth  Infantry—a  unit  which would  soon  earn the sobriquet “Fighting 
Irish.” Corcoran was a New York City politician well-known to Nye.  Pierson 
said  a party of  Maryland  Irish Secessionists would  be  attacking  the  train 
bearing the New York Irish Unionist soldiers. Nye and Littlejohn then took 
Pierson in custody and turned him over to the proper Union authorities.13 

On his eventual return to New York City, Nye was further delayed by farewell 
parties given in his honor, then by luggage left on the dock in Panama City. 

Finally arriving in Carson City on July 11,  Nye  selected  the young 
settlement as  the Territorial capital. It had been laid out on sagebrush  land 
in Eagle Valley as a townsite just two years earlier. In 1861, it was a frontier 
settlement where there were more houses with walls of canvas than there were 
permanent structures. 

Governor Nye, himself a former judge, quickly arranged for continuance of 
the existing Utah Territorial courts and called for elections to hold a legislative 
session in October. 

One  key personal political  Nye  initiative  was to  establish “Union clubs” 
in every town and mining camp. Conservative in nature, they welcomed Democrats 
who were supportive of  President  Lincoln and the Union cause.  Nye, with 
assistance from Secretary Clemens, began governing the territory. One of his most 
troublesome issues was secessionists who crossed the mountains from California, 
where lawyers were now required to take a loyalty oath to practice in the courts.  

Two years later in 1863, with the Comstock (Virginia City), Reese River 
(Austin) and Esmeralda (Aurora) mines booming, the  popular  desire for 
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statehood had grown to the point that a public vote  led to a convention  to 
draft a constitution. That first version was rejected by the voters.  

Other factors were at play in the nation. Using his wartime powers, President 
Lincoln issued an Emancipation Proclamation  on January 1, 1863,  that was 
little more than paper. It provided that slaves on the land in secession were 
free. However, by the very nature of the wording, there were no federal forces 
in those lands to enforce the freedom.  What  force the proclamation  would 
have after peace was restored was questionable. A Constitutional amendment 
was needed to end slavery in America. But could such an amendment 
gain a  two-thirds majority vote  in both houses of Congress? And following 
that, could it gain ratification by three-fourths of the states?  

In March-April 1864, Congress was considering statehood-enabling acts 
for three territories, Colorado, Nevada, and Nebraska. Of the three, Lincoln 
seems to have focused on Nevada. His reason is never stated, but it may have 
been the Nevadans’ initiative in a testing a trial Constitution, or the strong 
leadership Nye gave to the National Union Party, a political party designed to 
embrace pro-Union Democrats as well as Republicans. 

Lincoln knew the arithmetic: Three-fourths of thirty-five is a fraction 
over twenty-six, so twenty-seven states would need to ratify the amendment. 
Eleven states had seceded, leaving twenty-five loyal states, two votes shy of 
the needed twenty-seven. Three-fourths of thirty-six is an even twenty-seven. 
Adding one more state would not change the total votes needed, but would 
bring down the “shortage” to one.  

Charles A. Dana, former 15-year managing editor of Horace 
Greeley’s New York Tribune, had become a special investigating agent of the 
War Department in 1864.14 In a lengthy 1897 article, Dana wrote of his role in 
passage of the Nevada Enabling Act: 

I always hear Abraham Lincoln saying, “It is easier to admit Nevada 
than to raise another million of soldiers.” 

In March, 1864, the question of allowing Nevada to form a state gov-
ernment finally came up in the House of Representatives. There was 
strong opposition to it. For a long time beforehand the question had 
been canvassed anxiously. At last, late one afternoon, the President 
came into my office, in the third story of the War Department. He used 
to come there sometimes rather than send for me, because he was fond 
of walking and liked to get away from the crowds in the White House. 
He came in, and shut the door. 

“Dana,” he said, “I am very anxious about this vote. It has got to be 
taken next week. The time is very short. It is going to be a great deal 
closer than I wish it was.” 
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[They discussed various Representatives, then Lincoln continued] “. . . 
But there are some others that I am not clear about. There are three that 
you can deal with better than anybody else, perhaps, as you know them 
all. I wish you would send for them.” 

He told me who they were; it isn’t necessary to repeat the names here. 
One man was from New Jersey and two from New York.  

“What will they be likely to want?” I asked. 

“I don’t know” said the President; “I don’t know. It makes no difference, 
though, what they want. Here is the alternative: that we carry this vote, 
or be compelled to raise another million and I don’t know how many 
more, men, and fight no one knows how long. It is a question of three 
votes or new armies.”15 

Dana carried out the mission. On March 3,  1864,  Lincoln signed an 
Act passed by Congress,  to enable Nevada to Obtain statehood.16 A second 
Nevada constitutional convention opened on Independence Day; a new 
Constitution was drafted and presented to the public on July 27. On September 
2, 1864, it received overwhelming support of the voters.  

Despite the desire for statehood, there were surprisingly strong efforts to 
keep Nevada Territory in unrest as the November 8, 1864 election approached. 
In late September, Governor Nye reported that for the past five weeks the 
territory: 

…has been in considerable turmoil and commotion, owing to appre-
hended raids from avowed disloyalists from California and this Territory 
on the principal towns of the Territory, on one hand, and the riotous 
and unlawful proceedings of persons comprising what is here called 
The Miners' League on the other. On two occasions I found it necessary 
to order out the military from Fort Churchill to the towns of Virginia 
and Carson, to be in readiness to suppress or prevent these anticipated 
troubles. A force of near 300 cavalry is now on duty at Virginia, ready to 
meet any outbreaks of the rioters, etc. I have also had to form companies 
of home guards in every town in the Territory, and arm them, to suppress 
or subdue unlawful violence.17 

Following a cabinet meeting on September 30, Attorney General Edward 
Bates wrote in his diary: 

I was surprised to hear Mr. [Secretary of State] Seward insist that the 
Prest. [sic] Should issue a proclamation declaring Nevada a state in the 
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union, upon no better evidence than a short telegram of Gov. Nye, and 
in the teeth, I think, of the act of Congress, which requires the adoption 
of the constitution, by popular vote, and also a certified copy of the 
constitution to be sent to the Prest. 

[Secretary of the Treasury William P.] Fessenden declared, flatly, against 
it, and so did I. The Prest. told Mr. S to prepare a proclamation, and he 
would think on it.18 

Congress’s  enabling act was clear. Nothing could happen until a 
certified copy of the Constitution was received in Washington.  If the Nye-
Seward proclamation was ever written out, it was never signed. 

As October began, the Presidential campaign continued.  Nationally, 
Republicans were vilifying all Democrats as Copperheads (anti-war 
Democrats), if not outright traitors. The Democrat’s candidate, General George 
McClellan was expected to win the soldiers’ vote (It didn’t) and the Democratic 
party platform called for an end to combat. But sadly, it had become a personal 
campaign which left Lincoln depressed by attacks on his administration, 
individually and severally, and on his actions and ability as President. 

On October 5, Mr. Benedict of the State Department received “for file” a letter to 
the President from J. Neely Johnson, former governor of California and president of 
the 1864 Nevada Constitutional Convention. In the letter, Johnson wrote: 

I have the honor of enclosing herewith copies of the Constitution of the 
State of Nevada which was adopted by the recent Convention and under 
the provisions of the enabling act, is to be submitted to the people for 
their approval or rejection on the 7th, proximo. 

Judging from the evident state of the public mind at the present time, 
there can be no reasonable doubt but that the people will by a large 
majority ratify the action of the convention, and the most speedy means 
will be adopted by which you will be officially notified of the fact, so 
that we can be admitted as a state and participate in the approaching 
Presidential canvass, thus assuring the addition of three votes to Lincoln 
and Johnson in the Electoral College.19 

Enclosed with the letter was a newspaper page from the Territorial 
Enterprise, with the Constitution printed in full, bearing the notation “Enclosed 
Aug. 15, Johnson to President.” 

In late 1861, the telegraph wires and telegraph relay stations were 
completed to connect Nevada and California with the East. The first message 
sent across the line from Carson City was penned by the first Nevada Territorial 
Legislature. It read: 
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Nevada Territory through her first Legislative Assembly. To the Presi-
dent and People of the United States, Greeting;  Nevada for the Union 
ever true and loyal. The last born of the Nation, will be the last to 
desert the Flag. Our aid to the extent of our ability, can be relied upon 
to crush rebellion.20 

Early  in the war, President  Lincoln  came to understand  how  the 
telegraph allowed him to keep fingers out to all his military leaders. After 
a small telegraph office was built next door to the White House, Lincoln spent 
many long hours there, appropriating the desk of Maj. Thomas T. Eckert who 
provided paper, pens and ink, and kept Lincoln’s notes locked in a drawer, 
unread even by him, between the Presidential visits.  

The days were counting down toward the November 8 election. While sitting 
at that desk on Thursday, October 13, twenty-six days before the election, President 
Lincoln took a telegraph blank and wrote down his “worst case” estimate of how 
many Electoral College votes he would get as against George McClellan, the Union 
general  he  had relieved of field command  after the  September 1862  Battle of 
Antietam  (Sharpsburg). The President knew Americans were tired of the war. 
McClellan was trying to portray himself to voters as the “peace candidate” who 
wanted to bring the Civil War to a speedy end. 

Maj. David Bates, War Department telegraph office manager and cipher-
operator, recalled that Lincoln:  

…entered in one column the names of the eight States which he conceded 
to McClellan, giving him 114 electoral votes. In a second column he 
entered the names of the States which he felt sure would cast 117 votes 
for the Administration. This total showed only three more votes than he 
allowed McClellan. He did this from memory, making no mistake in the 
number of electoral votes to which each State was entitled…. 

 Maj. Thomas T. Eckert then picked up the pen and added Nevada’s three 
votes. This scratching of Eckert’s pen began a flurry of activity.21  

On Wednesday, four days later, Gov. Nye telegraphed Secretary 
Seward,  apparently in response to  an  inquiry  from Seward, that the state 
constitution and documentation  “with proper certificates,” was forwarded. 
Two copies sent earlier had  “probably miscarried.” Seward received the 
message at 1:20 p.m. Thursday. 

On Saturday, October 22, John Hay, secretary to President Lincoln, sent to 
Secretary Seward two true copies of the official canvass of the vote, showing 
the ten-to-one positive vote. But there was  still  no certified copy of the 
Constitution.  

On Monday, while western Nevada Territory was getting its first snowfall 
of the winter, Secretary Seward telegraphed Nye: 
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Official canvass of vote received but not certified copy of the Constitu-
tion and Ordinance as required by the fifth section of the act of Con-
gress. It is presumed that the latter are on the way. No proclamation 
until they reach here.22

Twenty-one days before the election, on Tuesday,  October 25, H. W. 
Carpentier, president of the California State Telegraph, Oakland, got  involved 
and on  Thursday  morning, October 27, the  Gold Hill News  reported the 
overland telegraph wires were down west of Omaha, “particulars unknown.”23 The 
next day, Friday, the news was that the “Telegraph is again working.” 

The  “particulars”  were that Gov. Nye had worked with James Gamble 
of the overland telegraph to set up the route of relay machines  (Salt Lake 
City, Chicago, Philadelphia, and finally, the War Department in Washington, 
D.C.) to carry the Constitution to Washington by Morse code. The lines were 
occupied for seven hours while telegrapher James H. Guild keyed the 16,543-
word message.24  

At 2:45 p.m. Sunday, October 30, Secretary Seward sent a telegram to Gov. 
Nye. Arriving at 9 p.m., it was relayed to Gov. Nye, who was seventy miles 
away in the mining camp of Unionville, campaigning for Lincoln. It said: 

Your telegram of the 27th received. Pursuant thereof the following 
proclamation has been issued, W.H. Seward by the President of the 
United States of America. [The text of the proclamation, dated Oct. 31, 
followed.]25 

At 1 p.m.  Monday, Governor Nye telegraphed all newspapers in 
Nevada: “Nevada was this day admitted into the Union.”  Of course, the 
public soon became aware of the long telegram—and the $3,416.77 bill. 

Celebrations were held throughout the new state. As one example, in the 
mining camp of Aurora, the Stars and Stripes were hoisted on the tall “Liberty 
Pole” on the main street, and 36 guns fired, one for each state. A torchlight 
procession celebrating the great day for Nevada passed up the canyon on the 
Aurora-Bodie toll road. 

Years later the road-master’s step-daughter, Ella Sterling Mighels, who h
ad  turned eleven in May, 1864,  recalled that she “entreated” to be allowed 
to march, too, with her brothers and step-father. “But my mother asked who 
would keep the lights in the windows for their return and cheer them as they 
passed by.... So I dried my tears and kept the candles burning.26 

The first  Election Day  in a brand-new State! Sixteen thousand four 
hundred twenty men in Nevada turned out to vote. Roughly two-thirds voted 
for re-election of President Lincoln. 

In the United States Capitol, at one p.m. on December sixth, 1864, Preside
nt Lincoln’s private secretary, John G. Nicolay, handed a copy of the President’s 
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written annual message—his “State of the Union” message—to each House. It 
was read aloud in the Senate by the Secretary of the Senate, John W. Forney. 
In the House it was read by the Clerk, Edward McPherson. In his message, 
the President Lincoln wrote: 

The  organization and admission of the State of Nevada  has been 
completed in conformity with law, and thus our excellent sys-
tem is firmly established in the mountains, which once seemed a 
barren and uninhabitable waste between the Atlantic States and 
those which have grown up on the coast of the Pacific Ocean.  

February 8, 1865,  dawned clear and cold after a rainy evening. At one 
o’clock, the Electoral College votes of the 25 loyal states were tallied for the 
House and Senate,  in joint session, to formally confirm President Lincoln’s 
re-election.

  
[B]efore  the hour of noon the galleries and corridors were crowded 
almost to suffocation by a dense crowd eager to secure a glimpse of the 
proceedings within the Hall. The floor of the House was thronged with 
visitors introduced by members. . . .27 

Prior to announcing the result of the canvass,  retiring  Vice President 
Hamilton Hamlin stated that: 

...the messenger who bore the returns from the State of Nevada com-
municated the fact that the third elector did not appear when the vote 
was taken. The State having been but recently admitted into the Union, 
had no law by which the vacancy could be filled; and consequently but 
two votes were given for President and Vice President.28 

It was true. A storm destroyed major portions of the roads south of Carson City, 
preventing the third elector, Dr. Addison S. Peck of Aurora, from leaving town. 

A California news report on December 12 said the storm “raging for the 
past three weeks appears to be general all over the Pacific Coast.” It quotes 
an undated  Aurora Union  saying the water “Swept down the road … with 
the force of an avalanche…. Every road leading to Aurora, so far as we have 
learned, has been more or less injured, and teams will be unable to reach town 
from any quarter for some time to come.”29 

It was well into December before the doctor could file his papers with the 
Nevada Secretary of State. The Electoral College voting date was set by federal 
law; his December vote could not be recorded. Lincoln’s “worst case” scenario 
was far from the mark; he didn’t really need Nevada’s votes. The Electoral 
College returned President Lincoln to office, 212 to 21. 
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As noted above,  it was not just for the Electoral College votes 
that Lincoln welcomed Nevada’s statehood. It also had to do with 
the pending amendment to the Constitution which would abolish slavery in 
America. The amendment, Senate Joint Resolution 16 (“S No. 16”), had passed 
the upper house easily — just twenty-four days after the Nevada enabling act 
was approved on March 24, 1864. But the resolution was stalled in the House 
of Representatives. Lincoln again recommended its passage by the House. If 
the House did not vote on S No. 16 during the second session of the 38th 
Congress, the resolution would die when the House adjourned sine die. 

In the first Nevada State and national election, eight days after becoming 
a state, Nevada also chose its first Representative in Congress. Henry Gaither 
Worthington, an attorney in the mining town of Austin, was 36 when he won 
election to Congress on November 8, 1864. He replaced Gordon N. Mott, the 
non-voting Delegate to Congress from Nevada Territory.30 

Worthington was  a California  ‘49er  before opening his law practice in 
Austin, Nevada in 1862. In San Francisco in late April, 1861, there was a Union 
party demonstration; Worthington had been a Douglas Democrat in the 1860 
election, but during the demonstration he was: 

…repeatedly called, and rose amid applause. He said he was present 
because it was a Union meeting. He had differed from the Republi-
can party in the past campaign, but he took pleasure in saying that 
he would rather be a Union Republican than a Disunion Democrat. 
[Tremendous applause.]31

Representative  Worthington went east by ship, leaving San Francisco 
on November 23 after being serenaded at the Russ House the night 
before  sailing.  He  had been a  Judge, and then a  lawyer in Marysville, 
Yuba County,  in the 1850s when his friend Gordon Mott was the  Yuba 
County Recorder there. The new Representative’s trip was far less eventful than 
that of Delegate Mott in 1863. 

In that year  (1863),  Delegate Mott left for Washington on  March 17, 
aboard the Overland Mail Company’s Stage from Carson City. A week later he 
was napping inside the stage when it was attacked on Sunday morning by 
Indians at Eight Mile station, some miles northeast of today’s Ely. The two 
station-keepers had already been killed. When approaching the station, the 
driver, Hank Harvey,  saw trouble and whipped up his horses.  Near the 
station Harvey was mortally wounded by rifle fire. The adult passenger riding 
beside the driver  received a dangerous head wound. When the driver fell 
into the boot,  Judge  Mott climbed  out a window and  took the reins. By 
running the horses they escaped and arrived safely at Deep Creek Station. 
The wounded passenger’s two sons, twelve and fourteen, were bruised, but 
not wounded.32
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In 1864, Worthington arrived safely in the nation’s capital and on Friday, 
December 16, 1864,  he made an unannounced appearance  in  the  District 
of Columbia, an incident best described by a clipping from the  Washington 
Star newspaper: 

A Promise Fulfilled.—On Friday morning Mr. Rueben Worthington, who 
was formerly one of the clerks in the office of the clerk of the court, was 
agreeably surprised by an unexpected visit from his son, Hon. Henry G. 
Worthington, the new member of the House of Representatives from the 
State of Nevada. The son left the city about 14 years since, after studying 
law with his brother-in-law Hon. Geo. A. Pearre, of Cumberland, Md., 
and proceeded to the far West, promising his father at the time that he 
would never return except as a member of Congress—a promise regarded 
as idle at the time, but which has been fulfilled to the letter. Mr. W. was 
a mere youth when he left here, and had so much changed that when he 
greeted his father the latter did not recognize him. Mr. Worthington met 
at the courthouse a number of the friends of his boyhood, who heartily 
congratulated him on his success.33 

Maryland-born Representative Worthington, was introduced to the floor of 
the House on December 21 by William Higby, who had been a California State 
Senator in 1862-63 when Worthington was a member of the California State 
Assembly in 1861-1862. Worthington became  Chief Clerk of that body in 
1863. With this background, Mr. Worthington quickly settled into the routine 
of the U.S. House of Representatives.34 On January sixth he introduced a bill 
(H640) to create a district court in Nevada, later defending the judicial salary 
for that court. Otherwise he kept quiet, voting with the majority on the very 
few roll call votes held during the latter days of December and all of January—
and then came the last day of that month. 

Since April 8 of the preceding year, S No. 16, amending the constitution to 
abolish slavery, had been on the House agenda. The wording was short and clear: 

Section 1. Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a pun-
ishment for crime whereof the party shall be duly convicted, shall exist 
within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction. 
Section 2. Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropri-
ate legislation. 

Following  Senate approval,  the  House voted it down  on June 
15, 1864, then set it aside for reconsideration at a later date. From time to time 
the House had discussed the resolution, but it remained on the House table. 

On January seventh, Mr. Higby gave a statement that portrays the issue in 
terms of the national spirit: 
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Many gentlemen have overlooked in their remarks, and probably have 
forgotten, what has transpired between the last session of Congress 
and the present; that the policy pursued by the Administration has 
been indorsed by the vote of the people; that four hundred thousand 
majority of the votes of the people was given to sustain that policy; that 
the [Emancipation] proclamation issued by the President of the United 
States on the first day of January, 1863, was indorsed as a part of that 
policy; that the action of Congress in reference to this question of slavery, 
since the beginning of the rebellion, was also indorsed; that the action of 
Congress at the last session in reference to this very subject was indorsed 
by the people in the re-election of, I believe, every member of the present 
House upon the Union side who was put in nomination....35 

His remarks reflected those of the President, who said in his December 6, 
1864, message to Congress: 

It is the voice of the people now for the first time heard upon the ques-
tion. In a great national crisis like ours unanimity of action among those 
seeking a common end is very desirable—almost indispensable. And 
yet no approach to such unanimity is attainable unless some deference 
shall be paid to the will of the majority simply because it is the will of the 
majority. In this case the common end is the maintenance of the Union, 
and among the means to secure that end such will, through the election, 
is most dearly declared in favor of such constitutional amendment. 

On January 13 the Sacramento Daily Union  reporter wrote that  James M. 
Ashley of Ohio, floor manager for the resolution, felt he was “about six votes” 
short of a two-thirds majority.36 Then, on Tuesday morning, January 31, 1865, 
discussion was renewed. The vote was scheduled for 3 p.m. 

In floor discussion  that day,  veteran  New York political boss  Fernando 
Wood, a Democrat who had been known at home as the Boss of the Tamma
ny Society, stated  the platform of the Democratic Party in New York called 
for “The Constitution as it is, and the Union as it was.” He worked to derail 
reconsideration of S No. 16. 

Then a fellow  New York  City  Democrat, journalist/publisher Anson 
Herrick, gave a long, impassioned speech on why he would now vote for an 
amendment he had opposed the previous year.  

The Democrats may  have felt confident of the lack of a two-thirds 
majority when  John L. Dawson, a Pennsylvania Democrat who would vote 
nay called for a “taking of the yeas and nays.” Each Representative voted as 
his name was called, in  alphabetical order.  Obviously,  George  “Gentleman 
George” Pendleton of Ohio, who had been the strongly Copperhead running 
mate of George McClellan against President Lincoln in the recent election, 
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was among those voting nay. Two Democrats had been excused; one was in 
Ohio burying a daughter, the other was caring for a sick wife. Although both 
were Democrats,  based on their past comments  they probably would have 
cancelled each other’s votes. Six other Democrats would fail to respond when 
their name was called. 

At his desk on the House floor, Republican Cornelius Cole of California 
was writing a letter home while the vote continued. Noting the time as 4 p.m., 
he wrote “We are voting at last on the great question and it will just pass. The 
one question of the age is settled. Glory enough for one session, yes, even for a 
life. I never felt so much excitement over any measure before.”  

In his memoir he added “It passed the House by the decisive vote of 119 to 
56, a much larger majority than was anticipated. Several members who were 
violently opposed to the measure, on seeing that it was sure to pass, wisely 
forbore to record their names against it.”37

As the roll call progressed, the Republicans cheered when James E. 
English, a Democrat from Connecticut voted yea, and again three names later 
when a Democrat from upstate New York, John Ganson, voted yea. Speaker 
of the House Schuyler Colfax called for order, and asked that the members 
should set a better example to spectators in the gallery. 

There was tension in the air when the  Clerk neared the end of 
the alphabet,  Daniel W.   Voorhees, an eloquent anti-war Indiana 
Democrat,  was the last Representative to  be “not  voting.” Then  ten 
Republicans  and  six  Democrats whose names began with “W”  all  voted 
along party lines. We pick up the voting with New York’s Fernando Wood, 
who voted nay. 

Frederick E. Woodbridge of Vermont voted the 116th year, providing the two-
thirds majority required to pass the resolution. 

Six Congressmen, all Democrats,  had failed to vote; two others were 
excused. If just one of the non-voting Democrats had been present and voted 
nay, the next aye vote would have been required for Congressional passage 
of the Amendment  to the Constitution  prohibiting  slavery and freeing  all 
existing slaves in America.  That  next vote  was  the yea vote  cast by  Henry 
G. Worthington, the freshman member from the fledgling State of Nevada. 

The final voter, Kentucky Congressman George H. Yeaman, of the Union 
party, was also a yea, providing frosting on the cake. Kentucky was a border 
state in which there were slaves.  On January 9, in a lengthy oration, Mr. 
Yeaman, himself the former owner of two slaves, made his  support  for 
passage clear.38 

As the Republican side of the house stood, applauding and cheering, Speaker 
Colfax, of Indiana, asked that his own name be called, a highly unusual request. 
It was called, he voted yea, and the applause was renewed. Speaker Colfax 
announced the joint resolution had passed, 119 yea (including the Speaker’s 
vote), 56 nay, 8 non-voting. The Globe then records: 
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The announcement was received by the House and by the spectators with 
an outburst of enthusiasm. The members on the Republican side of the 
House instantly sprung to their feet, and, regardless of parliamentary 
rules, applauded with cheers and clapping of hands. The example was 
followed by the male spectators in the galleries, which were crowded 
to excess, who waved their hats and cheered loud and long, while the 
ladies, hundreds of whom were present, rose in their seats and waved 
their handkerchiefs, participating in and adding to the general excite-
ment and intense interest of the scene. This lasted for several minutes.39 

The next day the Washington Star commented:

…the announcement of the vote led to a scene never before seen in either 
House. Members embraced and all the galleries rang with deafening 
cheers; all joined in a spontaneous outburst of enthusiasm, which re-
fused to be checked by the Speaker for several moments. As the crowd 
dispersed, the excitement gradually subsided, and the House resumed 
business with its usual decorum, but the great triumph of the day now 
left no spirit for tamer subjects, and adjournment speedily followed.40 
The celebration was followed that day with the firing of a 100-gun salute 
at Franklin Square, a mile and a half northwest of the capitol.41 

Senate Joint Resolution 16 was sent to the White House. Although joint 
resolutions do  not require  nor  normally  receive the President’s  signature, 
President Lincoln did sign this one. Now it was up to the legislatures of three-
fourths of the states to ratify the amendment. 

In far-away Nevada  the  meeting of the first  state legislature was in 
session. On February 13, Governor Henry Blasdel received a telegram from 
Mr. Worthington, confirming passage. The governor quickly sent a message to 
the Senate and Assembly, requesting the two houses formalize Nevada’s vote 
to  ratify. There was a single Democrat in each house:  Frank M. Proctor of 
Nye County in the Senate, and James A. St. Clair of Churchill County in the 
Assembly. Their votes were the only nays preventing unanimous votes of rati
fication by Nevada. The Sacramento Daily Union reported that: “Having thus 
hastened to indorse the action of Congress, the Legislature of the Silver State 
adjourned in a jubilant mood.”42  

On December 18, Secretary Seward announced the anti-slavery Resolution 
was ratified. The passage of the Thirteenth Amendment to the Constitution 
of the United States became an inextricable part of the foundations of the 
Territory and State of Nevada. 
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An After Note

 
Until 1913, U. S. Senators were elected by their state legislature. Nevada’s 

first Senators, William M. Stewart and James W. Nye,  were  elected  at  a 
joint session of the first  Nevada  State Legislature,  on December 15, 1864. 
The new Senators arrived in Washington D.C. on February first, and within 
hours both were seated in the Senate, nearly nine months after the Senate had 
approved the resolution initiating the Thirteenth Amendment.43 After taking 
the oath of office a lottery was held; Stewart drew the six-year term, ending 
March 3, 1869. Nye received the three-year term. 

The 68th Congress adjourned sine die on March fourth. Mr. Worthington 
remained in the city where he was one of the pallbearers representing the Ho
use of Representatives at the funeral for President Lincoln in April. Senator 
Nye was one of the Senators named to accompany the President’s casket to 
Springfield, Illinois.44  

Henry Worthington  did not stand for re-election that fall, and never 
returned to Nevada. 
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	 Lake Tahoe’s Rustic Architecture.  By Peter B. Mires (Charleston: Arcadia 
Publishing, 2016)
 

Lake Tahoe’s Rustic Architecture is one of the latest in Arcadia Publishing’s 
popular Images of America series, which highlights a town or area through pho-
tographs, captions, and short narratives.  In this case, the reader is in for a special 
treat.  The author Peter Mires has selected engaging photographs to illustrate the 
topic, but he has gone beyond creating a book of beautiful photographs.  He has 
also provided the reader with entertaining and authoritative text that will appeal 
to a broad audience.  

No one could be better qualified to take on the subject than Dr. Mires, who 
studied at the University of Louisiana under the influential anthropologist and 
geographer Fred Kniffen.  Dr. Mires interprets Tahoe’s rustic architecture from 
the point at which landscape and culture converge.  And what more beautiful 
spot could there be for this convergence than Lake Tahoe?  Straddling Nevada 
and California in the Sierra Nevada mountain range, it is North America’s larg-
est alpine lake. 

As the architect Peter R. Dubé points out in the book’s foreword, Dr. Mires 
establishes the context in which Lake Tahoe rustic architecture is understood.  To 
this end, Dr. Mires’s chapters present the ways the rustic style has permeated Lake 
Tahoe’s built environment in response to the demands of the human population. 

The sources of the remarkable historic photographs that Dr. Mires has as-
sembled deserve acknowledgement.  The list is too long to repeat here, but let it 
suffice to say that Dr. Mires did a thorough job of rooting out photographs from 
archives, libraries, and historical societies in California and Nevada, as well as 
the Library of Congress.  There are also excellent present-day photographs tak-
en by Dr. Mires himself. 

The book’s introduction sets the stage for the architectural pageant that fol-
lows.  Here Dr. Mires defines rustic as it relates to architecture and explains how 
rustic architecture relates to Lake Tahoe’s environment, as well as its history.  
From the 1850s to the present day, the rustic style has been the architectural 
signature of Lake Tahoe.  

Chapter One describes the origins of the rustic style in the simple log build-
ings constructed by the early emigrants crossing the Sierra Nevada and the 
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way-stations built along established wagon roads as travel picked up.  The great 
Comstock Lode and its premier mining town, Virginia City, influenced Tahoe’s ar-
chitecture as well.  The chapter includes photographs of General William Phipps’s 
second log cabin, built in 1872 on Lake Tahoe’s west shore, and a larger structure 
built in 1859 and known as the Lake House—the first hostelry on the shores of 
Lake Tahoe.  The latter date is especially significant as it marks the beginning of 
the “Rush to Washoe.”

The term “Resort Rustic” has come to represent Lake Tahoe’s built envi-
ronment and the importance of the region as a resort mecca.  Through text and 
photographs, Chapter Two underscores this importance.  By the 1880s, Lake 
Tahoe was a vacation destination, especially for wealthy Californians.  The 
early resorts such as the Tallac Hotel were characterized as rustic, although 
some were a more elegant form of rustic than others.  Glen Alpine Springs and 
Fallen Leaf Lodge were such examples, which appealed to the likes of John 
Muir and the architect Bernard Maybeck.  The resort rustic theme continued 
through the evolution of Lake Tahoe’s attraction as it was democratized by 
the advent of automobile travel and year-round roads to and around the lake.  
In this chapter, Dr. Mires has collected images to appeal to all tastes, from the 
lavish Tahoe Tavern near Tahoe City to the western-themed neon sign of the 
Washoe Motel in South Lake Tahoe.

Until paved highways were completed around the lake, few people lived 
there year-round.  As a result, the first residential properties ranged from sim-
ple one-room log cabins to large summer homes built for the Bay Area elite.  
In Chapter Three, “Residential Rustic,” Dr. Mires describes the progression of 
residential construction that stayed true to the rustic ethos regardless of the 
size and extravagance of the home.  Here we meet some well-known char-
acters and their homes, such as George Whittell and his Thunderbird Lodge, 
Lora J. Knight and her remarkable Vikingsholm on Emerald Bay, and San 
Francisco Banker Isaias W. Hellman’s Pine Lodge at Sugar Pine Point.  As a 
counterpoint, we see the modest Lena N. Gale Cabin at Zephyr Cove and the 
Withers Log Cabin in Crystal Bay.  However, the word modest does not do 
justice to the latter two examples. in terms of defining resort rustic, they pos-
sess every possible quality.

While Lake Tahoe architecture began with the architectural sensibilities 
of average people bringing to the region their own personal notions of how 
buildings should be built, a number of architects have left their marks on the 
Tahoe’s built landscape.  In Chapter Four, Dr. Mires introduces us to some 
of the most important and influential of the early twentieth century, includ-
ing Bernard Maybeck, Walter Bliss, Frederic DeLongchamps, G. Albert Lans-
burgh, and Lennart Palme.  Each one of these remarkable architects left his 
particular mark on Lake Tahoe’s resort rustic style.  

The photographs that Dr. Mires has chosen to represent the works of these 
architects demonstrate the wide variety of design elements that contribute to 



193Book Reviews

the local style.  Three of the five —Maybeck, Bliss, and Lansburgh represented 
the San Francisco Bay Area.  Lennart Palme, a Swede, designed Vikingsholm.   
Renoite Frederic DeLongchamps—the only one among this august group 
without an academic architecture degree—had early ties to a San Francisco 
firm and maintained an office there for many years.  

The rustic style at Lake Tahoe has not been limited to residential architec-
ture, as anyone who has driven the highways that encircle the lake will recog-
nize.  Dr. Mires points out that with this increased commercial visibility, rustic 
becomes Tahoe’s brand.

Chapters Five (“Retail”), Six (“Religious”), and Seven (“Resort”) discuss spe-
cific building types that further the style’s visual impact on the region.  With in-
creased tourism and then year-round habitation at the lake, grocery stores, shops 
of various kinds, gas stations, and eating establishments proliferated, many re-
flecting the rustic style.

Of course, Lake Tahoe’s transcendent natural beauty has always attracted the 
spiritually minded.   In terms of architecture, however, the area attracted summer 
church camps beginning in the nineteenth century.  These camps offered worship 
and spiritual fellowship among clusters of rustic cabins, chapels, and communal 
buildings.  As the long-term population grew in the twentieth century, the camps 
persisted, but larger houses of worship were also built.  The rustic style, imple-
mented in a variety of ways in church architecture, captures the essence of the 
glory of nature in Tahoe’s beauty.

From the spiritual to the temporal, in the penultimate chapter, Dr. Mires dis-
cusses the most widely known aspect of Lake Tahoe’s built environment, recreation.  
This includes all manner of outdoor sports and activities carried out on land and 
water (and horseback), but also gambling and nightlife on the Nevada side, where 
gaming is legal.  While today’s Lake Tahoe casinos are modern in appearance, ear-
lier gambling establishments were rustic in nature, drawing on Wild West images.  
Other recreational facilities from U.S. Forest Service cabins to fish hatcheries and 
golf courses reflect the rustic mode.  Nor does Dr. Mires forget the iconic Ponderosa 
Ranch featured on the long-running TV show Bonanza.  Although it was closed sev-
eral years ago, some of the set piece, featuring the Cartrightss log ranch hous, oper-
ated for many years as a theme park in Incline Village. 

Closing out the stunning visual tour of Lake Tahoe’s historic rustic architec-
ture, Dr. Mires’s final chapter discusses the style’s endurance into the modern day 
in the form of new buildings paying homage to the rustic style an, to the preserva-
tion of small architectural elements that are emblematic of rustic character.

Dr. Mires’s book will appeal to a broad audience.  It is lovely to look at, easy 
to read, and an important and authoritative contribution to the appreciation of 
architecture in one of the most beautiful spots on earth.

Mella Rothwell Harmon, M.S.
Spokane, WA
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	 Cities, Sagebrush, and Solitude: Urbanization and Cultural Conflict in the Great 
Basin. Edited by Dennis R. Judd and Stephanie L. Witt (Reno: University of 
Nevada Press, 2015)

	 Reno, Las Vegas, and the Strip: A Tale of Three Cities. By Eugene P. Moehring 
(Reno: University of Nevada Press, 2014)

	 For a spell in the 1990s, I had the hubris to try to cover the Great Basin for the 
western regional biweekly High Country News, which is published in Paonia, a 
small town in Colorado. Ed Marston, the publisher and one of the region’s great 
editors of all times, egged me on by noting that the Great Basin was a “black 
hole” in their coverage of the American West. I went on to found an erstwhile 
magazine called Great Basin that put up a valiant effort to put the region between 
two covers quarterly before passing away quietly before the turn of the century. 
	 The Great Basin is still a black hole in most people’s consciousness of the 
American West—if they can even locate or define the region. This is true even 
for people who live in the Great Basin, most of whom inhabit the cities that ring 
the Great Basin—Reno and Salt Lake City, by any definition, and Las Vegas and 
Boise, depending on your definition of the region. 
	 One reason it was hard to sustain a regional magazine is that very few people 
actually live fully, consciously, in the Great Basin. The people who live in the cities 
of the Great Basin mostly identify with their own cities. What happens in Vegas, 
as we all know, stays in Vegas. Reno mostly looks west to the Sierra Nevada, not 
east to the Great Basin. Salt Lake City looks east to the Wasatch Mountains. And 
while Boise is, technically, in the Great Basin Desert floristic region, the city seems 
much more closely identified with the Boise River, which runs through the city 
on its way to join the Snake River on its journey west to the Pacific, and with the 
great rivers and mountains to the north. 
	 So I sympathize with the editors of Cities, Sagebrush, and Solitude: Urbanization 
and Cultural Conflict in the Great Basin, who have valiantly tried to find a regional 
identity and coherent unifying themes to explain these four cities and the vast, 
sparsely inhabited region between them. 
By way of explaining their overarching themes, the editors write: “The alchemi-
cal mixture of three ingredients—cities (which are morphing into sprawling 
metropolitan regions), sagebrush (the ubiquitous signifier of aridity and resource 
scarcity), and solitude (which has nurtured a libertarian political outlook)—makes 
the Great Basin a compelling place to study.” The book will provide a provocative 
introduction to the region and its challenges for many readers, with essays delving 
into the Great Basin’s image, economies, politics, conflicts, environmental crises, 
public lands and resources, tourism, urbanism, planning, and future prospects. 
	 The central paradox of the book is framed by two prefatory statements by 
the editors, Dennis R. Judd and Stephanie L. Witt: “Despite its vast expanses of 
thinly populated desert, the Great Basin is the fastest-growing urban region in 
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the United States.” And: “rural does not work well to describe the lightly settled 
reaches of this desert region; terms such as frontier and outback come more easily 
to mind.” Witt goes further in her own essay, writing, “Most of the Basin is not 
rural; it is, instead, almost empty.” 
	 In another essay, Witt and Brian Laurent argue that this peculiar geography 
of solitude, along with the history of public lands, which make up 70.6 percent 
of the region’s landmass, have nurtured a “distinctive political culture” in the 
Great Basin. “Resistance to government is a habit of mind so deep that it has 
become a leading marker of a distinctive culture within the Basin even within 
the context of the popular celebration of attributes such as rugged individual-
ism and self-reliance throughout the American West.” In the requisite chapter 
on the Sagebrush Rebellion, Christopher A. Simon calls the region “a crucible for 
populist resistance.” 
	 But as this fall’s presidential election has shown, this is not just a culture of 
the American West, let alone the Great Basin. What makes it a distinctive po-
litical culture? Wallace Stegner famously wrote that California is like the rest of 
America, only more so. And it may be that the Great Basin is like a certain version 
of America, only more so. Sagebrush rebels perennially attract a lot of attention 
with their rhetoric and antics, though their movement has never gone anywhere. 
Simon is optimistic that a new “majoritarian politics” may emerge around energy 
and national security in the desert and assuage the anger that has sustained the 
Sagebrush Rebellion. After spending more than a decade writing about half a 
dozen different renaissances of this dead-end rebellion, and many years since 
reading about new versions of the same, I’m afraid it will always be with us. We 
might just have to learn to live with the “rebellion” rather than give it a central 
place in a “distinctive political culture.”
	 More intriguing is the notion that the spatial and demographic characteristics 
of the Great Basin might give it an interesting and perhaps extreme, if not unique, 
political culture because of the tension between “big and small governments.” The 
authors of various chapters in this book lay out fascinating evidence for this. The 
obvious example of the problem is small county governments that don’t have the 
resources to govern the region’s huge counties, some of which are more than 80 
percent owned by the “big” (bad) federal government. One, Esmeralda County 
in Nevada, is 97.9 percent federal land. On the other hand, the “big governments” 
of the region’s cities sometimes complain that they don’t get the attention they 
deserve because they are only a small part of this vast landscape. 
	 Alas, this argument is never nailed down satisfactorily—in part, because of 
simple mistakes. Witt writes that “because they over-represent nonurban interests, 
the state legislatures of Idaho and Nevada see little reason to help their larger cit-
ies address their quite unique problems.” The cities may not get what they think 
they deserve, but that’s not because the legislatures over-represent nonurban 
interests. In 1964, the Supreme Court ruled that state legislative districts, like 
districts in the U.S. House of Representatives, have to be reapportioned regularly 
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to roughly represent equal populations. In Nevada and Utah, state legislatures 
are now overwhelmingly dominated by urban representatives. Only in Idaho 
could an argument be made that urban representatives are a minority (depend-
ing on how you define “urban,” whether as “cities” of over 2,500 residents or 
some larger number). But even in Idaho, any claim that nonurban interests are 
“over-represented” would need to be based on some other argument than actual 
representation. And the claim that some former county seats no longer even ex-
ist as living communities—based on directories of “ghost towns”—will surprise 
at least some current residents of the very much alive Nevada communities of 
Genoa, Hawthorne, Austin, Dayton, and Washoe City.
	 The bigger problem is that the nuanced portraits of the region’s cities in the 
book don’t connect in a clear way to any of the book’s overarching arguments 
about the cities and their hinterlands. Erin Daina McClellan writes about Boise’s 
politics of “quality of life.” Elizabeth Raymond gives a historical account of the 
astonishing ability of Las Vegas to always—at least so far—make something of 
nothing even in the face of the “persistent possibility of failure.” Alicia Barber 
offers a critical appraisal of how Reno’s errant “acts against nature” evince its 
fundamental alienation from its own region. And Chris Blanchard argues that 
cowboys and Mormon clerics created two very different political cultures in 
Salt Lake City and Boise, essentially contradicting any notion of a distinctive 
regional political culture. 
	 Perhaps it’s too much to ask for a coherent argument from a collected vol-
ume. For that, one had better turn to a traditional historical monograph. In Reno, 
Las Vegas, and the Strip: A Tale of Three Cities, Eugene P. Moehring uses his deep 
knowledge of the history of Las Vegas to ask why Reno turned out so differently 
when the two cities resembled each other much more closely through the 1970s. 
Las Vegas got a Strip and Reno didn’t—even though it wanted one badly at times. 
Moehring’s book is a must-read for anyone interested in these two cities, and how 
the Strip came to be essentially a city of its own right next door to Las Vegas, but 
controlled by Clark County, which is 95 percent federally owned, troubling in 
no small way the arguments of Cities, Sagebrush, and Solitude. 
	 Although Moehring doesn’t use the phrase, his book is a provocative fram-
ing of a “natural experiment in history.” We can’t experiment on cities, of course, 
but we can look back at history, in some cases, as giving us quasi-experiments 
to analyze. Two similar subjects were given different experimental treatments, 
allowing us to analyze what caused them to turn out differently. 
	 In this case, however, there are too many variables. Stuff happened. A lot of 
different stuff. And it made all the difference. That’s history. 

Jon Christensen
University of California, Los Angeles
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Success Depends on the Animals. By Diana L. Ahmad (Reno & Las Vegas: 
University of Nevada Press, 2016)

Between 1840 and 1860, hundreds of thousands of Americans packed their 
most-precious belongings, gathered their loved ones, purchased or stole or 
tamed beasts of burden, and moved west. Those people, known to history as 
the overlanders or the pioneers, participated in one of the longest voluntary 
migrations of humanity in history. Some settled in Utah. Others traveled to 
Oregon or California. Today, most Americans have a good understanding of 
the trials these settlers went through thanks to countless movies, television 
programs, and books, as well as the classic educational computer game The 
Oregon Trail. However, according to the historian Diana Ahmad, we still have a 
narrow understanding of the overland trails experience. While historians and 
the American public may have a good understanding of the human experience 
on the trails, Ahmad points out that we have not examined the journey from 
the point of view of the animals that accompanied their masters. 

In Success Depends on the Animals, Ahmad argues that the experiences 
shared by humans and animals on the trails changed the way masters inter-
acted with their beasts. Men, women, children, and animals all traveled the 
same dangerous terrain, forded waterways together, weathered the weather 
together, feasted together, and famished together. According to Ahmad, these 
experiences softened the attitude humans had towards their animals. Addi-
tionally, Ahmad contends that travelers also began taking better care of their 
beasts because they realized that in order to complete their journey on the 
overland trails, they needed animals to haul weight and provide calories. To 
prove this claim, Ahmad divides her monograph into seven chapters that take 
readers on the trails with the pioneers. She begins by explaining the cultural 
baggage people packed with them before the journey. Next, she takes read-
ers through the gateway cities and onto the trails. There, readers encounter 
sublime mountains, treacherous waterways, imperial supply centers, and wild 
creatures. Throughout this journey, all parties learn that success depended 
on the animals.

It is clear that Ahmad’s argument is another example of an observation the 
historian Richard White made in two of his 1995 publications: the thought-piece 
“Are You an Environmentalist or Do You Work for a Living?” and the mono-
graph The Organic Machine. In those works, White notes that people often gain 
an understanding and appreciation of nature through work because their labor 
is embedded in nature. For example, because of their time working in forests, 
nineteenth-century lumbermen gained distinctive knowledge about woodlands 
and began developing a forestry ethic. Similarly, New Deal dam builders in 
Washington gained an education about the rivers they worked on and under-
stood their power and composition. Ahmad’s Success Depends on the Animals is 
yet another example of humans coming to know and appreciate nature through 
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labor. In this case, people working their way west gained an understanding of 
the value and limitations of their animals. This idea is important and valuable. 

Despite drawing on a variety of journals, diaries, and newspaper accounts, 
Success Depends on the Animals is a very short book. Ahmad perhaps misses an 
opportunity to frame her work alongside important monographs and articles 
that describe the mass-extinction of animals on the Great Plains. Many of the 
extinctions occurred at hands of overland travelers. Andrew Isenberg’s The 
Destruction of the Bison and Dan Flores’s many articles on the destruction of 
wildlife on the Great Plains are just a few of the key pieces of literature on 
wildlife destruction in the West that Ahmad could have grappled with. 

Success Depends on the Animals does provide a good overview of the routes, 
landforms, and gateway cities travelers used and visited on their journey west. 
Readers wanting a brief overview of the overland trails will appreciate this 
book. This reader would certainly assign it in undergraduate courses on the 
American West.

Curtis Foxley
University of Oklahoma
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